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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AND HIGHLIGHTS

MBHMEREER

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS A ELE

Year ended 31 December
BEZEt-A=t+—-HILEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZB-F T _Z_TF TNF ZTNE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT AREBTRT AREBTT
(Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)
(Fit) (&Fit) (Eit) (&)

Continuing operations

Revenue WA 79,151 80,356 81,492 100,406 142,285
Profit/(loss) before tax SIB IR ETS

from continuing operations B BIBTEF](E518) 10,085 64,532 69,545 (17,292) (21,747)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FTiSHHE %, (BsZ) 11,922 (3,874) (8,036) 7,277 (24,708)
Profit/(loss) for the year FECEETR

from continuing operations &% A, (&) 22,007 60,658 61,509 (10,015) (46,455)
Discontinued operation
Loss for the year from —IERIEEEBFE

a discontinued operation B34 (8,050) (5,208) (12,928) (48,568) (44,093)
Profit/(loss) for the year FE®RF/(EE) 13,957 55,450 48,581 (58,583) (90,548)
Attributable to: FEAL
Owners of the Company RARIEA A 13,219 58,025 50,703 (51,085) (85,159)
Non-controlling interests eI AR RS 738 (2,575) (2,122) (7,498) (5,389)

13,957 55,450 48,581 (58,583) (90,548)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY AND HIGHLIGHTS
MBEBREREE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND IMEEE - BBENMEDR
ECUAhhY
As of 31 December
R+=—A=+-—8
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
B —T-—F —B-TF —T—NF ZT-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETRT AREFTT AREFTT ARETT ARETT
Total assets BEEEE 1,664,126 1,669,395 1,758,773 1,806,032 1,855,752
Total liabilities BERTE (152,180)  (183,653)  (262,056)  (342,537)  (420,044)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR M A 1,648 2,386 (125) (2,247) (9,125)
1,513,594 1,488,128 1,496,592 1,461,248 1,426,583

The consolidated results of A8 New Media Group Limited (the ASHTEEEBABR AR (ARA]) RENE

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year AR (HBIAEE])  REZE

— = — —

L R,

ended 31 December 2022 and the consolidated assets, liabilities and T Z-—HA=+—HIEFENGEEENLAERR
equity of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are those set out inthe —E-_—F+-A=+—HHGEEEAER

audited financial statements. R H PR EEZITEREK -
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2022
ASHIEREEBAR AT B FER



| am pleased to submit to the shareholders the annual report of the
company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Business Review of 2022

During the reporting period, government departments continued to
strengthen management on the protection of minors, privacy
protection and data security, and the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19")
pandemic (“pandemic”) has repeatedly resurged. Facing the
development and changes of the market environment and
government regulatory policies and the impact of the pandemic, the
Group adjusted the operating strategies of each business segment,
divested the loss-making online game business, and continued to
develop the online literature business, take measures such as
strengthened cost management and control, and improved service
quality, etc., and to reduce the negative impact of the pandemic on
the business operation of the industrial park, so as to maintain a high
occupancy rate. At the same time, the Group has been strengthening
the research and analysis of products, markets and future
development trends in the fields of technology, Internet, big
consumption, new energy, etc., and it has been strengthening the
control of project approval and project risk control, and prepares for
investment in these areas.

The Group has been engaging in technology and Internet business for
20 years and our management team has rich experience in technology
and Internet industry. We have accumulated much knowledge and
executed deep research in technology and Internet industry and are
well-equipped to engage in technology and Internet-related
businesses and investments. In order to better conform to the
direction of national policies, adapt to changes in the industry
environment, the Group concentrates its efforts and resources on
researching, analyzing and exploring key areas such as new energy
and WEB3, and will carry out new energy and WEB3 related
investments or businesses under appropriate timing.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERRE

Cultural Business

The Group provides cultural business including online literature, online
games, music, film and television. During the reporting period, the
company adjusted and disposed its online game business and
maintained the stable development of other cultural businesses.
Below are the detailed descriptions of each part of cultural business.

Online Literatures

it = £ Xz B i fif B B A A (Beijing Zhangwen Information
Technology Co., Ltd) (“Beijing Zhangwen") focuses on the
incubation, production and global distribution of high-quality cultural
recreation content IP. Beijing Zhangwen currently mainly operates
four business segments: online literature content research and
development, audiobook and audio content research and
development, animation content research and development and video
content research and development.

For online literature business, as of 31 December 2022, the cumulative
number of registered users on Beijing Zhangwen own platform
increased by 11% compared to the same period last year. In addition
to providing users with high quality reading services on its own
platform, Beijing Zhangwen also has authorized cooperation with
influential third-party platforms in the industry. In 2022, a number of
original literatures and adaptations of derivative literatures of Beijing
Zhangwen have been on the top of the bestseller list for a long time
such as Ali Literature ([FifE 322 |), Palm Reader Literature ([ £
2 |), Himalaya ([ Z 5 R % 1), Tomato Novels ([ & A7)V 8 1), Qimao
Novels ([ 5/ &% 1), Baidu Wenxue ([ B &2 ), MiGu Culture ([ Bk
M 32AE 1), iIQIYI ([E & |), Tencent Video ([ NG E]), etc., and
many best-selling novels on Beijing Zhangwen's platform ranked top
in the new media platforms, laying a quality content producer of
online literature. In 2022, Beijing Zhangwen was listed as an
enterprise in Beijing’s “Fengming Plan” ([ /Bl %& &+ 2 |). “Fengming
Plan” is a significant service plan launched by Chaoyang District
Government of Beijing for high-grade, precision and advanced, high-
growth technology enterprises in the district, which will help the
development of Beijing Zhangwen.
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For audiobook and audio content business, Beijing Zhangwen's
anchor Multi-Channel Network (“MCN") agencies added over
100,000 hours of audiobooks and audio content compared to last
year, and many of its audiobooks have entered the top 10 best-seller
lists of Himalayan FM ([ Z B #H#FM ), Tomato Listen ([ FAT5EE |),
Irts.me ([ A¥=2 |) and Dragonfly FM (5% FM |), etc. The anchor
MCN agencies are in the top 3 of the anchor charts of Himalayan FM,
and its audio advertising and anchor merchandising business
continued to grow. Its anchor MCN organization built a high-quality
audio content production base this year, established a virtual uploader
system, and combined and expanded Al vocals based on smart sound.

For animation business, a number of long-form original worldview
comics from Beijing Zhangwen's agencies have made it to the top 10
of Tencent Comics’ New Releases List, Soaring List, Treasure List and
Best Selling List, and will launch several short-form comic and
animation works produced with Al-Generated Content (“AIGC") in
2023. The high quality original comic content research and
development capability have laid a good foundation for the expansion
of animation business. Beijing Zhangwen’s animation production
agency, which introduced Al-assisted animation production in the
animation production process, launched its first virtual human
animated short film in 2022 and will launch several Al-assisted
completed animated short film series in 2023.

The two sequels of the series of world-view fantasy films “The Great
llusionist” ([ X £J 17 B |) produced by Beijing Zhangwen's film and
television agency broadcast on iQiyi and Tencent Video in the summer
of 2022. After its launch, it has won the top online movie share
winner for 4 consecutive days, and in the first week of its launch, it
topped the rankings of iQiyi's online movie Popularity List, Tencent's
online movie Viewing List, and was listed on the Douyin
Entertainment List and Kuaishou Entertainment List. The second part
of “Giant Crocodile” ([ E&E |), the first worldview monster series IP
movie of Zhangwen’s film and television agency, was launched in
November 2022. It is innovating on the basis of the original monster
theme, it has been on the off site Hot Search List for 6 times, on the
Kuaishou List for 3 times, topped the Top 1 Entertainment List twice,
and Top 5 on Entertainment List, and it has achieved Top 1 on Douyin
Movie List, iQiyi Soaring List, Tencent Movie Search List.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERRE

Game Business

During the reporting period, the Group’s revenue from the online
game business was mainly derived from independent game research
and development companies, Shanghai Mu77 Network Technology
Co., Ltd. (EBAREEBBEFBR AR, "MU77SH") and Mu77
Network Technology Hongkong Limited (FB AR+ RERIEB AR A
Al, “MU77HK") (collectively “Mu77"). Subject to the influence of
the national policies on the protection of minors and factors such as
fierce competition in the game industry, and accelerated product
updates and iterations, the development of game business of the
group was severely hampered, and the cash is insufficient to maintain
its business operations. In order to avoid causing further losses to the
Group, the management took decisive measures to scale down the
business and control costs during the reporting period, and decided
to dispose 51% of the shares of Mu77 held by the Group at the end
of 2022. As of the date of this report, the disposal transaction has
been completed.

Film & Television Business

During the reporting period, the Group has not developed any new
film and television business and the previous film and television
business still generated a small amount of revenue, which was mainly
derived from the light funny idol costume drama “Matchmakers of
Great Zhou Dynasty” ([ X & /)N 7k A 1) developed by A8 Film and
Television.

Industrial Park Business

During the reporting period, the Group's revenue was derived from
the rent and property services income of the National Music Industry
Park — A8 Music Building. A8 Music Building is located in the core
area of Shenzhen Bay Area. It has a superior location with a total
gross floor area of 52,500 square meters. It integrates music
performance, office and business services.
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In 2022, the situation of COVID-19 pandemic is still severe and has
effect on the rental business of industry park business. The Group
adopted a number of measures in the face of challenges: (I) While
organizing the fight against the pandemic, various measures have
been taken to stabilize old customers, including but not limited to
waiving the late payment fee for customers affected by the pandemic.
(II) Adjusted investment promotion measures, developed new
customers, and provided customized services for new customers, such
as design, decoration, cleaning services, etc. During the reporting
period, the management team of A8 Music Building continued to
improve property management and service levels, and won the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) Annual Facility
Management Team Excellence Award. These measures have achieved
remarkable results, enabling the occupancy rate of the building to
remain at a relatively high level despite the impact of the pandemic.
The revenue of rental and property management service in 2022 was
approximately RMB77.5 million, which was only a slight decrease
compared with last year.

Relying on the A8 Music Building, the Group’s A8 Live is an offline
performance brand that integrates functions such as music
performance theater and professional recording studio. Due to the
continued impact of the pandemic, the development and benefit
realization of the music performance business and recording studio
business in 2022 are not satisfactory. The management intends to
adjust the business development model of A8 Live, and is currently
actively exploring a new development path for A8 Live.
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Business Outlook for 2023

In 2023, the Group will continue to strengthen the existing cultural
industry business which mainly based on online literature, and the
industrial park business, and meanwhile, the Group will also actively
seek business breakthroughs and development opportunities, further
strengthening its research and analysis of industry conditions,
companies, products, technologies, and markets in energy and other
fields, and we will focus our energy and resources on research,
analysis, and exploration of key areas such as new energy, industrial
internet, and metaverse, and carry out relevant business or investment
under suitable conditions and timing based on the research and
analysis. The Group will also strengthen project management,
continuously optimize processes, and control risks while seeking
business development.

The Group will continue to pay attention to changes in government
regulatory policies and the market environment, and take measures to
address them. We continue to adjust and move forward in the
changing economic environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Operating Business
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue from
continuing operations of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB79.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately
1.5% as compared with 2021 (2021: approximately RMB80.4
million).

Cultural Business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue from
continuing operations of cultural business amounted to
approximately RMB1.7 million, representing a significant
decrease of approximately 25.4% as compared with 2021
(2021: approximately RMB2.2 million). The decrease was mainly
due to Music-based entertainment.

Property investment business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue of property
investment business derived from the rentals and management
fee amounted to approximately RMB77.5 million, representing
a slight decrease of approximately 0.8% as compared with
2021 (2021: approximately RMB78.1 million).

Cost of services provided

For the year ended 31 December 2022, cost of services provided
from continuing operations by the Group amounted to
approximately RMB18.3 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 9.6% as compared with 2021 (2021:
approximately RMB20.2 million). The decrease was mainly due
to the decrease in the cost of the cultural business, as detailed
below.
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Cultural business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the cost of services
provided of Cultural business amounted to approximately
RMB1.7 million, representing a significant decrease of
approximately 52.3% as compared with 2021 (2021:
approximately RMB3.6 million). The decrease was mainly due to
the Group's effective cost control measures, which resulted in a
decrease of approximately RMB2.0 million in A8 Live related
costs as compared with 2021.

Property investment business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the cost of services
provided of property investment business amounted to
approximately RMB16.5 million, representing a slight decrease
of approximately 0.3% as compared with 2021 (2021:
approximately RMB16.6 million).

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the gross profit from
continuing operations of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB60.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
1.2% as compared with 2021 (2021: approximately RMB60.2
million). The overall gross margin from continuing operations of
the Group (which is calculated based on gross profit divided by
revenue) was 76.9% for 2022, as compared with 74.9% for
2021. The increase of gross margin from continuing operations
was resulted from the decreased costs for the year.

Other income and gains, net

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the other income and
gains, net from continuing operations of the Group were
approximately RMB16.9 million, representing a significant
decrease of approximately 63.4% as compared with 2021
(2021: approximately RMB46.2 million). The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease of dividend from the Group's equity
investments amounted to approximately RMB29.5 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and marketing expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the selling and
marketing expenses from continuing operations of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB1.9 million, representing a
significant decrease of approximately 39.2% as compared with
2021 (2021: approximately RMB3.1 million). The decrease was
mainly caused by the reduction in expenditure due to the needs
of the Group’s business stage and development strategy.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the administrative
expenses from continuing operations of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB23.6 million, representing a increase of
approximately 17.4% as compared with 2021 (2021:
approximately RMB20.1 million).

Other expenses, net

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the other expenses, net
from continuing operations of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB48.0 million, representing a slight decrease
of approximately 0.6% as compared with 2021 (2021:
approximately RMB48.3 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the other expenses, net
from continuing operations mainly consisted of the fair value
loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to approximately RMB32.0 million; and (ii)
impairment loss on investments in an associate amounted to
approximately RMB16.0 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the other expenses, net
from continuing operations mainly consisted of (i) the fair value
loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to approximately RMB34.1 million; (ii) fair value loss
on investment properties amounted to approximately RMB10.0
million; and (iii) impairment loss on investments in an associate
amounted to approximately RMB3.4 million.
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Share of profits and losses of associates, net

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's share of
profits of associates amounted to approximately RMB5.8 million
(2021: approximately RMB30.3 million). The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease of share of profit of Beijing
Zhangwen amounted to approximately RMB24.0 million.

Income tax charge/(expense)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, income tax charge from
continuing operations of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB11.9 million, while the income tax expense for 2021 was
approximately RMB3.9 million. This change was mainly due to
the increase of deferred tax credit of approximately RMB14.8
million arising from the recognition of deferred tax credit on
temporary differences arising from a subsidiary in connection
with the disposal of 51% of the equity interest in MU77SH,
which was disclosed in the announcement published by the
Group on 23 December 2022.

Loss for the year from a discontinued operation

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group obtained an
annual loss of approximately RMB8.1 million from a discounted
operation, including operating revenue of approximately
RMB9.3 million, operating cost of approximately RMB1.9
million, impairment of goodwill of RMB9.3 million, and
administrative expenses of approximately RMB6.0 million for the
year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company

As a result of above-mentioned, for the year ended 31
December 2022, profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB13.2 million,
compared to a profit of approximately RMB58.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2022, cash and cash equivalents and highly
liquid short-term assets of the Group including, restricted cash
and pledged deposits and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss amounted to approximately RMB628.8 million
(2021: approximately RMB555.8 million). Among which,
approximately RMB122.1 million, or approximately 19.4% was
denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has no interest-bearing
bank borrowings.

The Group's exposure to changes in interest rate is mainly
attributable to its deposits placed with banks. The Group mainly
operates in the Mainland China with most of the transactions
settled in RMB.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any
derivatives for hedging against both the interest and exchange
rate risks.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL")

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss amounted to approximately
RMB92.9 million (2021: approximately RMB102.1 million),
which was comprised of investments in funds included in non-
current assets and wealth management products included in
current assets. As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of
investments in funds are determined by the independent valuer
appointed by the Group using the market approach. Wealth
management products are provided by the large state-owned or
famous financial institutions in China, all of which allows any
divestment within the investment periods. These investments
are measured at fair value determined with reference to the
estimated yield rate of relevant investments. During the year,
the Group received dividends of approximately RMB1.3 million
from fund investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB mE DT

Set out below are details of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as at 31 December 2022:

BN _ZE_—_F+-_A=+—8 "%
NEEFEREEHTABZZEME

EFBOT :
Fair value Fair value
as at as at Percentage
31 December 31 December increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
R=-TB-Z R-TB-—
+=-A=+—-8 +=A=+—H Aotk
Investment category BREER WATE WATE GRS
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(AREBTT) (ARETIT)
Fund investments' EERE' 72,878 101,858 (28.5)
Wealth management products 87732 81 & & 20,000 300 >100%
Total 4Bt 92,878 102,158 9.1)
Notes: BeE

Including investments in Shenzhen Qianhai Qingsong Venture
Investment Fund Management Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
(“Qingsong Fund II”), Shenzhen Qingsong Phase Il Equity Investment
Fund Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (“Qingsong Fund
II”), Shenzhen Qianhai Tianhe Cultural Industry Investment Center
(Limited Partnership) CRYIFDER XL EZEIRER L (BRER)),
and Shenzhen Qingsong Small and Medium Enterprises Development
Investment Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (“Qingsong
Fund IV"). For the investments in Qingsong Fund Il, Qingsong Fund IIl
and Qingsong IV, please refer to the announcements of the Group
dated 24 January 2014, 15 May 2017 and 21 January 2020,
respectively.

None of investee companies above-mentioned has a carrying

amount that accounts for more than 5% of the Group’s total

assets as at 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income amounted to
approximately RMB103.6 million (2021: approximately
RMB150.6 million). These financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income was comprised of listed and
unlisted equity investments, the fair values of which were
determined by an independent professional valuer engaged by
the Group using market approach. During the year, the Group
received dividends of approximately RMB2.0 million from
Xiamen Mengjia.

BERE WD

BAVETTEEESBT A
meEWsEzEMEE (TFVOC)

R-ZZE-——&+-A=+—H ' &x&5E
RAFEGEAEEZH T AEMES K
W &R EELN AR 103,600,000 7T
(Z=E=Z—%F: 9 AR ¥ 150,600,000
TT) c RERATEFEEEET AR
irEEm s, ERMEERE LT RIEL
MRERE  ZERELNFERAEE
ZRE R B 7 AT RO R A T35 ATt R
HE - NFEA - AEEREEMZ M
DHH AEREE 2,000,000 7T °

Set out below are details of financial assets at fair value through ER—_E-_—_F+-_A=+—8" &%
other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2022: AFEFAELELZ A AL MRS W
JEBMBEFBOT
Fair value Fair value
as at as at Percentage
31 December 31 December increase/
2022 2021 (decrease)
R=-T=—= NR-E=——
+t=ZA=+—-B +=A=+—H Bot
Investment category rEFER WATE MAEE i CRD)
(RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(AR¥EFT) (AR®ETFT)
Game development companies' B fiff 2% A &) 90,096 138,457 (34.9)
Information technology services {2 81T IR 7R 5] 2
company? 13,493 12,114 11.4
Total 4Bzt 103,589 150,571 (31.2)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE R w0 AT

Notes:

M

Game development companies include 2 companies, namely Xiamen
Mengjia Network technology Co., Ltd. (“Xiamen Mengjia”) and
Shanghai Hanqu Network technology Co., Ltd (/& 8484 Rl A
[& 22 @l). Among them, Xiamen Mengjia was listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations (the “NEEQ") (stock code:
839039), and delisted from NEEQ on 2 January 2019. The Group
engages an independent professional valuer to determine its fair value
using market approach.

Information technology services company refers to Shenzhen Lemon
Network Technology Co., Ltd (“Lemon Network”), a company listed
on NEEQ (stock code: 835924). Given that the shares of Lemon
Network are transferred by agreement, the trading of the shares is
not active and the trading volume of the shares is thin, the Group
engages an independent professional valuer to determine its fair value
using market approach.

Except for Xiamen Mengjia, none of other investee companies
above-mentioned has a carrying amount that accounts for more
than 5% of the Group's total assets as at 31 December 2022.
Details of Xiamen Mengjia was set out in the "MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS”.

Contingent Liabilities

As at

31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material

contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS AND CHANGE IN USE OF
PROCEEDS

On 19 December 2016, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Ever Novel Holdings Limited
("Subscriber”) pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to
subscribe for in cash, and the Company agreed to allot and
issue 931,800,000 new shares of the Company at a subscription
price of HK$0.41 per Share (“Subscription”). Completion of the
Subscription took place on 20 February 2017. The gross
proceeds and net proceeds from the Subscription were
approximately HK$382.0 million and HK$380.5 million
respectively.

As of the date of this report, the accumulated amount of
RMB101.3 million of the proceeds from the Subscriptions have
been used. Among which, approximately RMB59.6 million of
the net proceeds from the Subscription were utilized for the
acquisition of 51% equity interest in MU77SH, approximately
RMB41.7 million were used for the acquisition of MU77HK and
controlling MU77SH through implementing a series of VIE
agreements and arrangements.

As disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 25 January
2017, it was intended that the net proceeds from the
Subscription would be utilized for further investment of the
Group as and when opportunities arise, with a focus on mobile
game industry chain.

Factors such as the strengthen of regulations in relation to the
protection of minor and the fierce competition among game
industry of recent years have brought negative effects to the
development of the game industry and it is not an appropriate
timing to invest in the game industry. Whereas favorable policies
have recently emerged in the technology, internet and big
consumption sectors in China and bring attractive investment
opportunities. In addition, management of the Company have
kept on eyes on the research and have obtained related
investment experience in the technology, internet and big
consumption sectors. After careful consideration, the Board has
resolved on 23 August 2022 to change the use of the proceeds
for investment in the technology, internet and big consumption
sectors to keep consistence with the direction of national
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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policies, which will be beneficial to the Group to seize
investment opportunities in the market. It is also conducive to
expand the Group's investment base and sources of profit. The
Board is of the view that the reallocation of the net proceeds is
in line with the business strategy of the Group and is more
favourable to the Group’s long term business development,
which is in the best interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. The aforementioned change in use of
proceeds will not have any material adverse effect to the
existing business and operations of the Group.

The use of the proceeds of the Subscription is the same as that
of the subscription agreement entered by the Group. On the
date of this report, the remaining amount of the proceeds from
the Subscription was RMB235.9 million.

Details of the original allocation of the net proceeds, revised
allocation of net proceeds, utilized and unutilized net proceeds
as at the date of this report are set out as below:

RN HBEESFRNEFRIR
NEARENELRE  FAMNAE
BoEAXEHER  TAARAMER
MEBRENDS LREKRESFER
ZENEETEHERERARBNEEE
HEERERTHZE -

HEAHRER  ZARABEIEZMERIE
B ARG EAS BT L REIHERN A
BB RBFHEAEFIEFSRNS
%A AR ¥ 235,900,000 7T °

ERESFENREIENEF IR - &
EAREAHCEAMKERNEESR
THFBOFBHN X :

Utilised Net  Unutilised Net

Original Proceeds Proceeds
allocation Reallocation  asatthedate as at the date
of the of the of this of this
Proceeds Proceeds report report
ERFER £
BRE¢S FEEE ERAER rERAEE
Proposed Usage FERE RHERIE EEF8 EdRE kAt
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR¥EET) (AR¥AEn) (AR%BER) (AR¥EERT)
Acquisition of upstream and WIBE TR F I
downstream mobile online game EEENT 3372 - 1013 -
Investment in technology, internet RERRH - BB
and big consumption industry, etc. NEBTES - 200.5 - 200.5
General Working capital —REEES - 35.4 - 35.4
Total At 33722 2359 1013 2359

Currently the company does not have a precise timetable for
the expected use of the unutilised net proceeds, but the
Directors of the Company will continuously review the plan of
the use of the unutilised net proceeds and may amend such
plan where necessary so as to cope with the changing market
conditions and strive for better business performance of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the details of significant investments

of the Group were set out as follows:

3 BAKE

R-F-_—_F+-_H=1+—H ' A&H
MBEAREFBEHNTEK :

Change in Total
fair value/ Size as amount of
Fair value/ share of Fairvalue/  compared to dividends
Percentage Carrying profit for Carrying  the Group's received
investment amount the year amount total assets for the year
of held as at as at ended as at as at ended
Investment Name of the Investment  31December  31December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December Principal
category investment cost 2022 2021 2022 2022 2022 2022 activities
1S
b St Bz
i R® +=A R® HHR b St 3
—B-CF ZB--F Sl It b3 rEE +=h
+=A +=A LLEEH t=A It i3 Siis=HIE
Sz =t+-H8 AVE =+-HH +=R FEN
BEH AYE/ B8,/ 2% A¥E/ =t+-A BHRE
REER REER RERA RAELLA REE by REE BEARR BE TEER
RMB'000 (%) RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 (%) RMB'000
(ARBTT) %) (AR%Fr) (AR¥EFR) (ARBTR) (%) (AREFT)
Fvocl Xiamen 20,024 10 137,111 -47,285 89,826 54 2,002 Games development
Mengjia
Fvocl EfEm R
Investment in Beijing 195,098 35 272,100 6,415 278,515 16.8 - Incubation and
associate Zhangwen operations of IP and
provision of online
book reading
REERAZRE LREX PHE{L RE B R
REE FEREE
Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2022, Bt EEE  AFHZEZE ST - —
the Company did not have any material investments. However, F+ZA=1+T—RALFEEEAEE -
the Group will continue to consolidate the current businesses, AMAEEBEEERASHEEER - IL[HE
while seeking new opportunities to complement and strengthen ek o DAELIR A E A AEK
our existing business operations. WUk 1L > A o
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 18 employees (2021:
56). The average headcounts of 2022 was 37 while it was 60 in
2021. The Group determines the remuneration of its employees
based on various factors such as responsibilities, qualifications
and years of experience. Total employee costs for the year
ended 31 December 2022, including directors’ emoluments,
amounted to approximately RMB18.2 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 3.7% as compared with 2021 (2021:
approximately RMB18.9 million).

Employees are rewarded on a performance related basis within
the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus system
which is reviewed regularly. A share option scheme have also
been put in place for the Company to encourage employees to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and
promote the long- term growth of the Company. Furthermore,
the Group offers training programs for employees to upgrade
their skills and knowledge on a regular basis.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operating performance, financial position and
development prospects may be affected by risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly related to the Group's
business. The risk factors listed below may lead to significant
differences in the Group's operating performance, financial
position and development prospects from expected or past
performance. These factors are not comprehensive. In addition
to the following, there may be other risks and uncertainties that
are not known by the Group or may not be significant at
present, but may become significant in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business Risk

The business of the Group’s property investment segment is
mainly leasing and property management, which may be
affected by fluctuations in market prices of rent and property
management fees, intensified competition and uncertainty of
tenant mobility.

Cultural business segment is engaged in film & television
production related business. Some projects have a long
development and production cycle, rigorous approval process,
fierce competition within the industry and changeable tastes of
audiences. If the Group fails to adapt and respond successfully,
it may adversely affect the business performance and
development prospects.

The Group’s investment performance in projects is mainly
determined by the operation of these invested companies. If the
invested companies fail to achieve the expected performance
target, it might adversely affect the Group’s business.

Policy Risk

In order to carry out kinds of business, the Group must abide by
various policies and regulations. Changes in policies and
regulations will affect the development of the Group’s business,
such as the related authorities adjustments to online literatures
industry and film and television, etc., which may lead to
significant changes in operating and investing positions of the
Group's business.

Economic and Political Environment

Adverse macroeconomic changes and geopolitical risks may
affect the business environment and hence the operating
results. The Group will maintain a prudent attitude in tracking
macroeconomic changes and political environment and adjust
its operating strategies and business plans promptly in response
to different market conditions.
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Banking Risk

In March 2023, the liquidity and solvency issues of Silicon Valley
Bank and other banks attracted widespread attention. So far,
the situation is still in the process of rapid change. This may
bring risks to the safety of the group’s funds. The management
will check the Group’s major banks on occasion to assess
liquidity risks.

Foreign Exchange Risk

On 31 December 2022, HK Dollars and US Dollars denominated
cash and cash equivalents held by the Group were
approximately HK$6.2 million and US$68.9 million. The Group’s
main business is located in Mainland China, and most of its
revenues and expenditures are settled in RMB. Therefore, the
Group may face the risk of foreign currency exchange.

UPDATE ON THE FULFILLMENT OF
PERFORMANCE OF LANLANLANLAN FILM &
TELEVISION

As at the date of this report, the Group held an aggregate of
29.52% share in Lanlanlanlan Film & Television, an associate of
the Company, which was acquired through capital increase,
share acquisition and equity compensation. As Lanlanlanlan Film
& Television and its subsidiaries did not meet the respective
target profit for the financial years ended 31 December 2017,
2018 and 2019, pursuant to the relevant transaction
documents, the Group shall be compensated by the founders of
Lanlanlanlan Film & Television by cash or equity. Also, the
disposal of an aggregate of 23.56% equity interests in
Lanlanlanlan Film & Television by the Group, has yet to be
completed. As at the date of this report, RMB5 million has been
paid by the founders to the Group for such disposal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television have undertaken
to the Group to perform its obligations in relation to the
compensation and the disposal by 24 March 2022. The founders
of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television have failed to fulfill such
undertaking and the Group has filed an arbitration application
with the Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration (“the
SCIA") on 15 March 2022, requesting for the payment of the
equity repurchase amount of RMB141,380,434.37 and penalty
interest of RMB59,043,116 by the founders of Lanlanlanlan Film
& Television to the Group, totalling RMB200,423,550.37. The
case was closed through mediation by the SCIA. According to
the arbitration mediation statement, the founders of
Lanlanlanlan Film & Television shall pay the Group a
share repurchases fee and interest penalty totaling
RMB200,423,550.37 before 20 November 2022. Since the
founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television failed to fulfill the
arbitration mediation agreement on time, the Group has applied
to the People’s Court for enforcement and is currently in the
enforcement procedure.

For further details of the capital increase, acquisition, disposal
and compensation, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 18 December 2017, 13 March 2018, 3
September 2018, 25 March 2019 and 25 March 2020 and the
circular of the Company dated 5 June 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEE

DIRECTORS

The following table sets out certain information of the members of
the Board as at the latest practicable date:

s

TRSIINBEEER TR PEFERENE
FaK :

Name Age Position Date of appointment
HE Fie B ZEAH

Mr. Liu Xiaosong 57 Executive Director and Chairman of the Board 2 October 2007
IR 57 5% WITEEREEFSIE 200710 A2 H
Mr. Ji Bo 43 Executive Director 15 July 2021
HELELE 43 5% MITES 2021 7R15H
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong 58 Independent Non-executive Director 9 November 2007
BRI S A 58 5% BIYERITES 200711 A9A
Ms. Wu Shihong 66 Independent Non-executive Director 27 March 2012
L/ G 66 % BIUERITES 201243 A27H
Mr. Gao Shenglin 62 Independent Non-executive Director 20 September 2022
SEMELE 62 5% BYFRITES 20229 H20H

Set out below are the particulars of each Director:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Xiaosong (“Mr. Liu”), aged 57, an executive Director, the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Liu
graduated from Hunan university in the PRC in 1984, with a
Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering. In 1987, Mr. Liu graduated
from China Electric Power Research Institute in the PRC with a
Master’s degree in Engineering. In 1991, he studied at Tsinghua
university as a PhD research student. He has years of diversified
experience in the technology, Internet and investment. He is one of
the co-founders of Tencent Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) with the Stock Code: 00700.HK. He is also the non-
executive director of Inkeverse Group Limited (formerly known as
“Inke Limited”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 03700. HK) and the independent non-
executive director of China Dongxiang (Group) Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 03818.
HK). He is a founder of the Group and was appointed as a Director on
2 October 2007. Mr. Liu is currently responsible for the overall
strategic planning and the whole business operation and
management of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu is the director of Beijing Duomi Online Technology Co., Ltd.
("Beijing Duomi”), which is associate of the Company. He also acts as
the director of A8 Music Group Limited, Total Plus Limited, Smart
Trick Global Limited, which are subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Liu is the director of Knight Bridge Holdings Limited (“Knight
Bridge”), Ever Novel Holdings Limited (“Ever Novel”) and Prime
Century technology Limited (“Prime Century”), all of which have
interest in the shares of the Company disclosable under the Securities
and Futures ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Mr. Ji Bo (“Mr. Ji"), aged 43, an executive Director, and the Vice
President of the Company, graduated from North China Electric
Power University (Beijing) in 2001 with a bachelor’s degree in
Automation. In 2003, Mr. Ji graduated from Renmin University of
China with a Master’s degree in Law. He was admitted as a Chinese
lawyer and a Board Secretary of Shanghai Stock Exchange in 2008
and 2016 respectively. Mr. Ji was legal adviser at ZTE Corporation (#
BRAID AR AR from July 2003 to July 2005 and legal supervisor
at MOBI Antenna Technologies (SHENZHEN) Co., Ltd. (bR AR =T
CFIN AR F]) from July 2005 to January 2007, and he engaged
in legal affairs in the legal department at Huawei Technologies Co.,
Ltd. (ZEARiTER A R]). From May 2009 to January 2018, he acted
as board secretary and legal director at Shenzhen Kailide Technology
Co., Ltd CRYIT LB AR A F]) and administered securities
and legal affairs. Mr. Ji has more than a decade abundant experience
of management in corporate internal control, securities, compliance,
and legal affairs. Mr. Ji was appointed as an executive Director on 15
July 2021, and is currently responsible for the risk control management
of the Group.

Mr. Ji also acts as the director of Phoenix Success Limited which is a
subsidiary of the Company, and he is also the director of Feiyang
HongKong Limited, which is a associate of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkSREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (“Mr. Chan”), aged 58, is an independent
non-executive Director. Mr. Chan graduated from the university of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s degree in Social Sciences in 1988. He
was admitted as a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1999 and 2005
respectively. From June 2004 to July 2006, Mr. Chan served as an
independent non- executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water
Group Limited (formerly known as “Shang Hua Holding Limited”), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 00371.HK). From March 2001 to December 2007, Mr. Chan
served as an executive director of Hi Sun Technology (China) Limited
("Hi Sun”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 00818.HK). Between 2005 and 2010, Mr.
Chan served as an independent non-executive director of Biosino Bio-
technology and Science Incorporation, a company listed on the
Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
08247.HK). Mr. Chan currently serves as a joint company secretary of
Hi Sun, a joint company secretary of PAX Global technology Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 00327. HK) and an independent non-executive director of
Doumob, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 01917. HK). He has years of diversified experience in
auditing, business advisory and corporate management. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 9 November
2007.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wu Shihong (“Ms. Wu"), aged 66, is an independent non-
executive Director. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in the
information technology industry. She joined IBM China in 1985 and
held the position of General Manager for channel management of
IBM China from May 1997 to February 1998. She then acted as the
General Manager of Microsoft China Co. Ltd. until August 1999.
From December 1999 to December 2002, she was a Vice President of
TCL Corporation as well as the General Manager of TCL Information
Technology Industrial (Group) Co. Limited. She is an independent
non-executive director of TCL Electronics Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “TCL Multimedia Technology Holdings Limited”) (Stock
Code: 01070.HK) from June 2007 to August 2015, and she was an
Executive Director of TCL Cooperation Company limited (Stock Code:
000100.57) from August 2015 to September 2017. Ms. Wu was
appointed as an independent non- executive Director on 27 March
2012.

Mr. Gao Shenglin (“Mr. Gao”) aged 62, has more than 35 years of
extensive professional and managerial experience in the energy
industry, particularly in the power industry. Mr. Gao has worked for
Beijing Power Supply Bureau Electrical Power Design Institute, the
Import Office of China International Water & Electric Corporation, the
Beijing Representative Office of American AES Corporation as the
general manager of power plant projects. In 2002, Mr. Gao founded
Beijing Zhongrui Haotian Information Technology Co., Ltd. and served
as the general manager. Mr. Gao graduated from North China Electric
Power University in 1983 with a bachelor’s degree in electrical
engineering, graduated from China Electric Power Research Institute
in 1988 with a master’s degree in engineering, and graduated from
The George Washington University, Washington D.C., USA in 1993
with a master’s degree in computer science. Mr. Gao was appointed
as an independent non- executive Director on 20 September 2022.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Company is comprised of all executive
Directors of the Company, namely, Mr. Liu Xiaosong and Mr. Ji Bo,
the particulars of which are set out in the section headed “Executive
Directors” in the preceding paragraphs.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESEHRE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) presents their
report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature
of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 7 to 12 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 89 to 227.

No interim dividend was declared for the six months ended 30 June
2022 and the Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY AND HIGHLIGHT

A summary of the published results, assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out
on page 5 to 6. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in notes
30 and 31 to the financial statements, respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to the existing shareholders of the Company.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There were no other purchases, sales or redemptions of Company’s
listed securities or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately RMB718,348,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenues from the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for approximately 28% of the
Group's total revenues while revenues from the largest customer for
the Group accounted for less than 9% of the Group’s total revenues.
In addition, for the year ended 31 December 2022, purchases from
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 15% of the
Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors nor any of their respective associates (as defined
in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing Rules”)) or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) of the Company had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors: Mr. Liu Xiaosong, Mr. Ji Bo

Independent non-executive Directors: Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Ms. Wu
Shihong, Mr. Li Feng (resigned on 20 September 2022) and Mr. Gao
Shenglin (appointed on 20 September 2022)

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Articles, one third of the
Directors will retire and, being eligible, for re-election as Directors at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong,
Ms. Wu Shihong and Mr. Gao Shenglin. As at the date of this report,
the Company still considers these independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 28 to 31 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or an
appointment letter (as the case may be) with the Company for an
initial fixed term of three years commencing from their appointment
or re-designation, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meetings of the Company pursuant to Articles, and
will continue thereafter until terminated by (i) in cases of executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors, not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other or
payment in lieu of such notice, or (ii) in case of non-executive
Directors, not less than one month’s notice in writing by the non-
executive Director or the written notice issued by the Company with
immediate effect.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings of the Company. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report, there was or is permitted indemnity provision (within
the meaning in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies ordinance)
in the articles of association of the Company being in force.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’
liability insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover certain legal actions brought against its directors and officers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements and in the
section headed “Related party disclosures” in this report, no Director
nor a connected entity of a director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at
the year ended 31 December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements and in the
section headed “Related party disclosures” in this report, no contract
of significance had been entered into between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements, no contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Group by the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company and their associates had the following interests in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules and the Company’s own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities
("Own Code"):

Long positions in shares of the Company

== N\ /

BARX (0 < P2

%%&E%ﬁﬁA%%%ﬁA

RZB-—F+-_A=+—H KRAFREE -
FETBRABRBESZHEAEE AR RE
FRESEE (B & R FHMBAEERN (HEEHE
571E) ([BHFREEGKRA) EXVE) BERL
RARBBIBEFEF RS KROIE 32 GMER
W&z R EABREAR (D < #E 2 - ARIR E
MARAM SR 10FE EMBITAEFEITES
R ZESFA(BESFR]) REAEENE
BEFEEANABHZRESTRI([BRITA
28 ]) 7B AR 7 KB A P2 AR 17 24 B AR
D=

RAEDTRRD2HR

Number of shares

R B E

Name of Directors Nature of interest

Ordinary shares

Approximate

Underlying percentage of
Shares (under interest in the
equity derivatives Company’s issued
of the Company) share capital’

(RAATRA RAERB BT
PTETIARZ) RARZMA
EEnE EEMtE BER HHEARR 1 BaL
Mr. Liu Xiaosong Founder of trust? 1,915,567,398 Nil £ 69.90%
Eilli=2 /e EFERISZA?
Beneficial owner 5,766,000 51,885,000 2.10%
EmEAA
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong Beneficial owner Nil £ 1,100,000 0.04%
BRIBH e 4 EmEAA
Ms. Wu Shihong Beneficial owner Nil 48 900,000 0.03%
RtRE+ EmEAA
Notes: gL
1. The percentage of interest in the Company is calculated by reference to the 1. W SERRRTR_E__F+_A=T—HE
number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022 (i.e. 2,740,388,628 EITIRID B 2,740,388,628 Rzt E B2 -
Shares).
2. Mr. Liu Xiaosong is the founder of a family trust which is deemed under SFO 2. BRI ERRIRETZEIA - IBIRES K H

to be interested in all the shares held by Ever Novel, Prime Century and
Grand Idea Holdings Limited (“Grand Idea”) in the Company. As at 31
December 2022, Prime Century directly held 424,796,303 shares and Ever
Novel directly held 1,402,891,095 shares in the Company, and Grand Idea
directly held 87,880,000 in the Company.
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Long positions in associated corporations of the
Company
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RAEDQTEEEE 2R

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Name of associated Name of Registered capital/ total issued

corporations Directors Nature of Interest no. of shares held share capital
EEfBRE REBPERTREHR

HEEE SR EEpnE REME BEROGEE HESHBYBEIL

Beijing Duomi’ Mr. Liu Beneficial owner 25,383,000? 28.71%

ERZK Bl sE BEREAA

Notes: BT -

1. Beijing Duomi is a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC. As at 31 1. ERZKRARTFRIMKLZERAR]  RZT

December 2022, the Company was interested in 22.51% of the registered
capital of Beijing Duomi through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Kuaitonglian,
and therefore Beijing Duomi is an associated corporation of the Company.
Mr. Liu was directly interested in 28.71% of the shares of Beijing Duomi.

2. This represents the number of shares of Beijing Duomi held by Mr. Liu.

Save as disclosed, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors,
chief executives and their respective associates had any interest or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which he is taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or are required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered into the register
referred to therein; or are required, pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” and the “2008 Share Option
Scheme"” adopted by the Company in 2008 (collectively referred to as
“Lapsed Share Option Schemes”) have been automatically lapsed, and
no option may be granted subject to and/or according to the Lapsed
Share Option Schemes, save that the provisions under the Lapsed
Share Option Schemes remain in full force and effect in other aspects,
and that options granted under such schemes prior to termination
remain effective and exercisable in accordance with the terms of
issuance.

On 29 May 2018, the shareholders of the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “2018 Share Option Scheme”) (with Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme and 2008 Share Option Scheme collectively
called “Share Option Schemes”).

The terms of the 2018 Share Option Scheme are summarized as
follows:

(i) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group
to grant Options to Eligible Participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group and any Invested
Entity.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEBAR LD A

AT S

ARAR=F J\i%%ﬁ’] [BRAFEER
BREE | R -2 \FEREE] (5
BRI RYERERE D BEadRY - 51
BRRE/SIRE [ R ERESE | KL
e o M [ RBAB A AERT 8] | RS AT Bt
HEDE+TRENRIER - BRKEATIREZ
AEIER BB A A AR HTT IR
KT LAFTLE

RZZB-—N\FAA-TIA  FRRBRRER

*Iﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂx%%%ﬂﬁ_;*/\EE\%H%@%%
) (RBERARBEESHBARESS BT
ZTN\ERERETE AT EEA [BRE
11) -

&I

w

— T \FBERERE 2 BT

() B

EERAKBERAGERSEERLER
B MERREHAKEMERRZ A
BhoHRE) - Rk EA R E R B IE k
BIESERZEE MBS HARERE
M EEEEEECANER -

Annual Report 2022
f— VT! _—— / / ¥"X



(i) Qualifying Participants

The Board may invite the following persons to take up the share

options:

(a)

(b)

any Eligible Employee;

any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

The eligibility of any of the Eligible Participants to the grant of

any Options shall be determined by the Directors from time to

time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to his/her

contribution to the development and growth of the Group and

any Invested Entity.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Total number of Shares available for issue

Available for issue a maximum of 270,791,262 Shares under the
2018 Share Option Scheme, being 9.85% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each eligible participant in the Schemes within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the issued Shares of the Company for
the time being. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

Option period

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee, which
period may commence on the Offer Date but shall end in any
event not later than ten years from the date of grant of the
Option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

Vesting period

There is no general requirement that an acquisition right must
be held for a minimum period before it can be exercised, and
the Board of Directors of Weiwei may impose restrictions on the
exercise of the acquisition right during the period of the
acquisition right

(vii) Acceptance of offer

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance
of the grant of an Option.
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(viii) Exercise price

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Board
or such committee, but shall be at least the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Shares on the date of grant
of the share options; (i) the average Stock Exchange closing
price of the Shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

(ix) Remaining life of the 2018 Share Option
Scheme

The 2018 Share Option Scheme shall be valid for ten years from
the effective date (which takes effect from 29 May 2018 to 28
May 2028). For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
remaining life of the 2018 Share Option Scheme is around 5
years and 5 months.

Movements during the year

Under Lapsed Share Option Schemes of the Company, no share
options were granted and exercised, 4,807,600 share options lapsed
and 1,050,000 share options were canceled following the resignation
of the Independent Non- Executive Director in 2022. On 31 December
2022, there are 17,625,000 outstanding share options to exercised.

Under 2018 Share Option Scheme, no share options were granted
and lapsed, 33,198,000 share options were exercised and 2,928 share
options were canceled due to the resignation of employees of an
associate of the Group in 2022. On 31 December 2022, there are
57,088,368 outstanding share options to be exercised.

Under all Share Option Schemes, no share options were granted,
33,198,000 share options were exercised , 4,807,600 share options
lapsed and 1,052,928 share options were canceled in 2022 . On 31
December 2022, there are 74,713,368 outstanding share options to
be exercised, representing approximately 2.73% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2022 and approximately
2.72% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this report. As of 31 December 2022, the number of options available
for grant under 2018 Share Option Scheme were 157,807,262, same
as the number as of 1 January 2022, representing approximately
5.74% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this report.
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The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share

TREBAREHABRETE TARBRE

options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme during the  1T{EEEHIE 2 EH)IF N
period:
Closing price
Date of Exercise of shares
At Exercised Granted lapsed  Canceled At grant of End of priceof  immediately
Name/category of 31 January during during during during 31 December share Vesting period of exercise share  before date
participants 2022  theperiod' theperiod  theperiod the period 2022 options share options period options of grant
b3
R=R==F REB-ZE BRE R BEH
SRERADER —A-F  RERAR WERRY  RMEAXY  REAEE TSAST-R RHAH BRESEH TERBLR BREGEE RONKHE
HKS per share ~ HKS per share
Argk  EndR
Directors of the Group
rEEES
Liu Xiaosong 68,752,600 12,060,000 = 4,807,600 - 51,885,000
£l
4,807,600 - - 4,807,600 - - 14 May 2015 One-fourth of the share options 14 May 2022 1.04 1.04
granted will be vested every
12-month period starting from
14 May 2016
—B-1f B-E-AEFLATHARAET- —B-oF
LA+TEA ERSBERLNmA 2 —RRE nR+MA
8,910,000 - - - - 8910,000 16May2016 One-third of the share options granted 16 May 2023 0.56 0.54
will be vested every 12-month
period starting from 16 May 2017
SN B-T—tFRATARENETZ  ZF-=F
LATRE ERsBERLN=12—BRE LAT/A
1,715,000 - - - - 1,715,000 9January2018 2018 One-half of the share options 9 January 2025 057 056
granted will be vested on 16 May
2018 and the other one-half on
16 May 2019
—E)\E RZZ-\FRA+~BRZF-h —3-8f
—-AhA FRATAEARIRBERILN —-AhB
AL ERE
18,543,000 - - - - 18,543,000 20June 2019 The share options granted was fully 20 June 2029 0.221 0.220
vested at one time on 20 June
2019
“IT-NE RZZ-NERAZTH-RUEE Z—T-hE
~AZTA ERiL#2 BERE ~AZTH
19,982,000 - - - - 19,982,000 9 September 2020 The share options granted was fully 9 September 2030 0.167 0.166
vested at one time on 9 September
2020
“E2ZF RIZ-ZEAANB-RUGEE -3=%%
AR Rz HEkE hANR
14,795,000 12,060,000 - - - 2,735,000 30 September  The share options granted was 30 September 0.255 0.255
2021 fully vested at one time on 2031
30 September 2021
—B-F RIZZ-SnA-+A-NHERE  —T=-F
hA=TH ERAH2PERE NA=TH
Chan Yiu Kwong 1,100,000 - - - - 1,100,000
1,100,000 - - - - 1,100,000 7May2018 One-fourth of the share options 7 May 2025 0439 044
granted will be vested every
12-month period starting from
7May 2018
“E-\F B-Z-\ERAtERHET_@ -ToRE
BAtH ABRBERLNMA 2 - R nAtH
Wu Shihong 900,000 - - - - 900,000
1%
900,000 - - - - 900,000 7 May 2018 One-fourth of the share options 7 May 2025 0439 044
granted will be vested every
12-month period starting from
7May 2018
“E\E B-E-\fLATARIET-® —T-1f
AtA ABBERLNDA 2 —EkiE fAtA
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Date of
At Exercised Granted Lapsed Canceled At grant of
Name/category of 31 January during during during during 31 December  share
participants 2022 theperiod' theperiod  theperiod the period 2022 options
R=%=zf REB=2EF BRE

SRENZIRG ~A-R WERGE REAEE RBAXN  RBARY 1-AZt-B BHES

DIRECTORS" REPORT

Vesting period of
share options

BRESES

EEEWE

Closing price

Exercise  of shares

End of price of  immediately
exercise share  before date
period options of grant
R AHA

TREBILE BREGERE RONKTE
HKS per share  HKS per share
BigR  Arsk

1,050,000 - - - 1,050,000 -
150,000 - - - 150,000 - 21 Apil2017  One-half of the share options granted 21 April 2024 0487 051
will be vested at 24 April 2017 and
24 April 2018, respectively
5t %W T-tEMACTMAR- —Z-[F
mA=t-8 2 \EmA-tRAEEZER A=A
f-pz e
900,000 - - - 900,000 - 7May2018 One-fourth of the share options 7 May 2025 0439 044
granted will be vested every
12-month period starting from
7May 2018
“FNE BT \fRAtEEHET_@ C—FCRF
TAtA ASBERLHNA 2 —EikiE TAtA
71,802,600 12,060,000 - 4,807,600 1,050,000 53,885,000
et
Employees of an associate of the Group?
FEERENTES?
41969,29 21,138,000 - - 2928 20,828,368 28June 2019 50%, 30% and 20% of the share 28 June 2029 0219 0219
options granted will be vested at
30June 2019, 30 June 2020 and
30 June 2021, respectively
“E0E :?*hﬁﬂiﬁ:@:@ﬁ —RINE
= “ET-FRRET ~AZTNA
%50% +30%#120%
Subtotal 41969,29 21,138,000
gt
TOTAL 113,771,89% 33,198,000
&

The weighted average closing price immediately before the date on which
the director’s options were exercised was HK$0.322 per share, and the
weighted average closing price immediately before the date on which the
options of the employees of an associate of the Group were exercised was
HK$0.375 per share.

The associate indicates Beijing Zhangwen Information Technology Limited,
for which the Company granted 59,664,000 share options to 32 employees
of Beijing Zhangwen on 28 May 2019. The Group holds 35% shares of
Beijing Zhangwen and shares profit or loss of Beijing Zhangwen every year.
The pragmatic efforts of the team of Beijing Zhangwen, the Grantees have
made significant contributions to the business operation and performance
growth of Beijing Zhangwen. In order to express thanks to the Grantees for
their efforts and contributions to the Group, and to motivate and retain
them to continue their efforts and contributions to the future development
of Beijing Zhangwen, which will lay a good foundation for the sustainable
development of the Group, the Board has resolved to grant options to the
Grantees. The Board considers that the granting of share options to
employees of the associate is in the long-term interests of the Group and is
also consistent with the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, providing
incentives and rewards to directors, employees and other eligible persons.
Reference are made to the announcements published on 28 May 2019 and
30 August 2022 by the Company.
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Please refer to note 31 to the financial statements for further
information of the Share Option Scheme and the value of share
options granted.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not enter into
any equity-linked agreement, nor did any such agreement subsist,
save as disclosed in the sections headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEMES”.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, the persons or corporations (other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company) who have interest or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFo or have otherwise notified to the Company are
as follows:

Name of substantial
shareholder Nature of interest

FERRHES EEMtE

BRABAERT Bl ME — P HBERER L ERE
FEERS M RRME3 -

A% WE BN A 17 o
BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—BItEE &
[EERAERTE | — ST BEEIN  AEEHRE

RIS B SR 15 - IR ARRE IR A

TERRER

R-ZE-_—_F+_A=+—H UTFTALTHA
RI(ARRIEEREEITHRABRIN RARQR]
& AR DT - A B RENIRIEES K
HEKROIE 36 (AR FAEFTE 2 ELMkE
HERANF) 2 ERIOKE

Approximate
percentage of
Number of interest in the
Ordinary shares Company'’s issued
(long positions) share capital’
RAELQT 8T

EBRREE (FR) BRARNE DL

HSBC International trustee (other than a bare trustee)?
RFEA LB ZFEA)?
Interest in controlled corporation?
RS EE R

Interest in controlled corporation?
REHEE R

Interest in controlled corporation?
R EE R

Beneficial owner?

EmEiE A3

Beneficial owner?

EnEAAN

River Road

Knight Bridge

Ever Novel

Prime Century
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1,915,567,398 69.90%

1,915,567,398 69.90%
1,827,687,398 66.69%
424,796,303 15.50%
1,402,891,095 51.19%

424,796,303 15.50%
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Notes:

1. The percentage of interest in the Company is calculated by reference to the
number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022 (i.e. 2,740,388,628
Shares).

2. HSBC International trustee Limited (“HSBC International”) is the trustee of

family trusts of Mr. Liu, which, through intermediate holding companies
(including but not exclusively River Road, Knight Bridge, Ever Novel, Prime
Century and Grand Idea), exercise or control the exercise of one third or
more voting power at the general meetings of such companies and is
deemed under the SFO to be interested in the shares of the Company held
by such companies (as at 31 December 2022, 1,915,567,398 Shares in total).

3. As at 31 December 2022, Prime Century directly held 424,796,303 shares
and Ever Novel directly held 1,402,891,095 shares in the Company. Ever
Novel was entitled to exercise or control the exercise of one third or more of
the voting power at the general meetings of Prime Century and was deemed
to be interested in the 424,796,303 shares in the Company held directly by
Prime Century.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company whose interests are set out in the
section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests in shares and
underlying shares” above having an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company which is required to be
recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

Due to restrictions in the PRC laws and regulations on foreign
investment in businesses providing telecommunications value-added
services and mobile online game services in the PRC, the Group has
entered into a number of contracts (“Structure Contracts”) with
certain PRC operating companies (“OPCQOs") solely for the purpose of
operating the Group'’s relevant businesses in the PRC (“Contractual
Arrangements”). Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements, the
Company acquired the de factor control over the business operations
of the OPCOs, and is entitled to economic benefits generated from
the business operations of the OPCOs. In this regard, the Board is of
opinion that the Company is able to consolidate the financial results
of these OPCOs into the financial results of the Group as if they are
the subsidiaries of the Company.

The Company entered into the agreements about Huadong Feitian,
Kuaitonglian, Yunhai Qingtian (the “2004 Structure Contracts”) in
2004. In 2015, in light of the new requirements of the Stock
Exchange and, to keep align with the recent practices commonly
adopted by other listed companies in relation to the terms and
conditions of the structure contracts to strengthen the control of the
Company over the OPCOs, the Group has entered into new contracts
(the "2015 Structure Arrangements”) to replace the 2004 Structure
Contracts in order to align with such new regulatory requirements
and the recent practices. The Group entered into the agreements
about Mu77SH in 2018 (“2018 Structure Contracts”), pursuant to
which Yunging Network, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, may exercise effective control over the finance and
operations of Mu77SH, and is fully entitled to economic benefits
generated from Mu77SH. Because of the change of registered
shareholders of Huadong Feitian, the Group entered into the new
agreements (“2021 Structure Agreement”) in relation to Mu77SH on
26 February 2021 to replace Mu77SH (“2018 Structure Contract”).
On 23 December 2022, A8 Music (A8 Music Group Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company), Huadong Feitian, Blueowl
(Blueow! limited), Tianjin Muba (Tianjin Muba Business Management
Consulting Center (Limited Partnership)), Blueowlgames
(Blueowlgames Limited), Mu77SH (Shanghai Mu77 Network
Technology Co., Ltd.) and WFOE (Yunging Network Technology
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.) entered into an Equity Transfer Agreement,
pursuant to which , (i) Blueowl agreed to acquire and A8 Music
agreed to dispose of 51% equity interest in Blueowlgames, for a
consideration of RMB286,000; and (ii) Tianjin Muba agreed to acquire
and Huadong Feitian agreed to dispose of Mu77SH 51% equity
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interest for a consideration of RMB346,000. As of the date of this
report, the necessary administration registration and filing for the
share Disposal have been completed. Since A8 Music is no longer a
shareholder of Blueowlgames, and Blueowlgames indirectly holds
100% of WFOE's equity. Therefore, WFOE, Mu77SH and the VIE
agreement signed between shareholders of Mu77SH will no longer be
binding on the Company. (The “2015 Structure Agreement” of
Kuaitonglian and Yunhai Qingtian, and the “2020 Structure
Agreement” of Huadong Feitian are collectively referred to as the
“Structure Agreements”).

The following figure sets out the valid Contractual Arrangements up
to the date of this report:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EETRE
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51% &I HE - REA AR 346,0007T © AN
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ERERFEEEHNTK  ARASEETE
7= Blueowlgames i I 3 - ifi Blueowlgames &
¥ 4% 5 WFOE 100% f% % + B It WFOE ~ £
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BERIZE—AFERBEAH]  EHRX[=
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THEEFHABREARE BBERNEHLHE

The Company
(Cayman Islands)
ART
(HEHS)

Offshore

B

Onshore 100%

w
lizes Cash River/Finger Fun
(wholly-foreign-owned

enterprises)

Registered shareholders

FEfEEL, a3 BRBR
(ONEBADRE)

_
Technicaland | |

consultation : : Service fee

serv‘iices : : e 100%

5958 I |
wARE
g

(OPCO)

(EERA])

Huadong Feitian/Kuaitonglian/Yunhai Qingtian

EFHRKRRiEE,EEER

———> refers to direct legal and actual
ownership of the equity interest;

RPN EREEME Rl

————— refers to the wholly-foreign-owned enterprise exercises control over the
registered shareholders and OPCOs by virtue of
HINEBEECERB

(i) exercising power of attorney/proxy agreements pertinent to the shareholder

- - --> refers to contractual relationship;

EERIRIR

rights of the OPCOs;
TELE AR FTA REER MRS RERE

(i) acquiring the exclusivity options of the equity interests of the OPCOs in
whole or in part; and
WS ERR 2 HA IS RIENBZEEZRE : R

(iii

OPCOs.

pledging the equity interests held by the registered shareholders in the

BRBRBANSEARBENER  RIEFIELRRMLEAT -
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Particulars of OPCOs and its registered shareholders:

M

Shenzhen Huadong Feitian Network Development Co., Ltd. (7%
YT ZEBRA B4 T EE AR 2 F)) (“Huadong Feitian”) is a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 22 May
2000, the registered shareholders of which are Mr. Liu Xiaofeng
(75%) and Mr. Li Wei (25%). Huadong Feitian and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of internet
information service property investment and music performance.

Shenzhen Kuaitonglian technology Co., Ltd. (& 3l T {5 i@ B
£+ F R 2 7)) (“Kuaitonglian”) is a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 10 May 2004, the registered
shareholders of which are Mr. Zhang Shougi (80%) and Ms. Ma
Hongxia (20%). Kuaitonglian and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the provision of mobile value-added services.

Shenzhen Yunhai Qingtian Cultural Broadcasting Co., Ltd. GZ&3I|
MEFIBEAEEBR A E]) (“Yunhai Qingtian”) is a limited
liability company established in the PRC on 9 December 2004,
the registered shareholder of which is Mr. Cao Aiguo (100%).
Yunhai Qingtian and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of game publishing services and value-added
telecommunication services.

Details of wholly-foreign-owned enterprises:

)

Cash River Information technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ({13
= BRI ORI AR 2 7] (“Cash River”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group;

Shenzhen Finger Fun Network technology Co., Ltd. (F Il T 38
WA TR B AR A ) (“Finger Fun”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF THE MAJOR TERMS OF
STRUCTURE CONTRACTS

Set out below are the Contractual Arrangements entered into
between each wholly-foreign-owned enterprise and OPCO, including

various specific agreements.

(1

(2)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement/
Exclusive Business Cooperation and Service
Agreement

OPCOs entered into the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements with wholly-foreign-owned enterprises, pursuant to
which wholly-foreign-owned enterprises provide technical
support, business support and related consultancy services
which include but not limited to technical service, business
consultation, equipment leasing, market consultation, system
integration, product research and development and system
maintenance, and intellectual property rights. Without prior
written consent by the wholly-foreign-owned enterprises within
the validity of the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
the OPCOs are not permitted to receive any other services
provided by any third party, in which case, the wholly-foreign-
owned enterprises are entitled to appoint a third

Power of Attorney/Proxy Agreements

The registered shareholders entered into the power of attorney/
proxy agreements with wholly-foreign-owned enterprises,
respectively, pursuant to which the registered shareholders
agree to authorize any person designated by the wholly-foreign-
owned enterprises to exercise all of their rights and powers as
shareholders, including convening and attending the
shareholders’ meeting, exercising the voting right and other
shareholder’s rights and powers, without seeking consent from
the registered shareholders, and agree and undertake that the
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises agree not to exercise all of
their powers and rights attached to the equity interests as held
by them. With effect from the date of signing, the proxy
agreements will remain in force until the registered shareholders
are no longer the shareholders of the OPCOs. The power of
attorney will remain effective to the extent that each of the
registered shareholders holds the equity interests in the OPCOs.
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(3)

(4)

Share Disposition and Exclusive Option to
Purchase Agreement/Exclusive Option to
Purchase Agreement

The registered shareholders irrevocably grant the wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises the exclusive options to make, or
designate one person or many persons to make, to the extent
as permitted under the PRC laws, one or more purchases of the
equity interests in whole or in part of the OPCOs as held by the
registered shareholders, at a purchase price of RMB1.00, or at
the minimum option price as permitted by the PRC laws (in case
that the minimum price as permitted by the then PRC laws in
effect is higher than RMB1.00). The OPCOs and registered
shareholders undertake that they will (including) neither directly
or indirectly distribute dividends to the shareholders of the
OPCOs without consent by the wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises, nor make acquisitions or any investments in any
person. The Share Disposition and Exclusive option to Purchase
Agreement/Exclusive option to Purchase Agreement will always
remain effective until all of the equity interests held by the
registered shareholders in the OPCOs are transferred to the
wholly-foreign-owned enterprises or the persons so designated
by them.

Equity Interest Pledge Agreement

The registered shareholders, OPCOs, and wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises OPCOs entered into the Equity Interest Pledge
Agreements, respectively, pursuant to which the registered
shareholders agree to pledge all of their respective equity
interest in the OPCOs to the wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
as secured interests for the performance of contractual liabilities.
The pledge relating to OPCOs takes effect upon being registered
with the relevant administration for commerce and industry,
and remain effective until the registered shareholders and
OPCOs fully fulfil all of the obligations under the relevant
Contractual Arrangements.
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Each Structure Contract contains the clause governing
settlement of dispute, pursuant to which, the Structure
Agreement is governed by the PRC laws and regulations and
construed under the PRC laws. In case of any dispute arising
from the performance of or in connection with the Structure
Agreement, any party thereto shall be entitled to submit such
dispute to the arbitration commissions in the PRC (which are
China International Economic and trade Arbitration Commission
South China Branch in case of Huadong Feitian, Kuaitonglian,
Yunhai Qingtian, Cash River, Finger Fun, and their respective
registered shareholders) for arbitration in accordance with the
then arbitration rules in effect. The arbitration shall be kept
confidential, during which, the language is Chinese. The
arbitration ruling shall be final and bear binding effects on each
party thereto.

RISKS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

The PRC government may determine that the
Structure Contracts do not comply with the
applicable laws and regulations

The Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (P #E A R HEFIBISMNE IR E %))
(the “FIL"), which was adopted at the Second Session of the
thirteenth National People’s Congress of the PRC on 15 March 2019
and came into force as of 1 January 2020, provides that “foreign
investment” refers to the investment activities in the PRC carried out
directly or indirectly by foreign individuals, enterprises or other
organizations (the “Foreign Investors”), including the following: (i)
Foreign Investors establishing foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC
alone or collectively with other investors; (ii) Foreign Investors
acquiring shares, equities, properties or other similar rights of Chinese
domestic enterprises; (iii) Foreign Investors investing in new projects in
the PRC alone or collectively with other investors; and (iv) Foreign
Investors investing through other ways prescribed by laws and

Annual Report 2022

R FFR

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEWRE

BORBANDESFZFEARIER - R
B RBANXTEAREEY
RIFPEDEERE - MREANTRES
MRERES D AR R EMFE
- ARG HERFRERGTE
MFEEZEE (BLEPHRX  REK -
BIEX ELE - BESTREAZEE
EERRME  REMBREEE ST
ZEE)ETHER  mREBERNME
MAPETT - PEERE - PEHRGER
MBEBTESTX  MHIERBEBE
R BETHREHRN -

HEeNLBIE B RER

TERFAESERERBENTHS
i8R B R EAER

REARAMBEINEREE([IMEREEDR
TE-NF=ZATHEEPEARANMESR
TZEE2BEARKERGRE ZREH LERM
YR-F-FTFE-A—B4EN EREIE
BE|RINEBERA - DRICEMAL I
BIREE ) BERREREERBEEAETHR
BEE - BETIBER  ()IEREEERNK
FEEEMEBEEERREREIRARIIIERE
X (NIAREEREFEEALEOK
D BHE - BPESCE H AR OUER (i) S
REEFERLAEREMREERXRETEER
BREMEER k(IR EEBREER
ERREBBRREEMT ETIRE -

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHEBEBMERAF

51



52

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEWRE

regulations or the State Council. The State Council adopts the
management system of pre-establishment national treatment and
negative list for foreign investment. The “pre-establishment national
treatment” refers to granting to Foreign Investors and their
investments, in the stage of investment access, the treatment no less
favorable than that granted to domestic investors and their
investments; and the “negative list” refers to special administrative
measures for access of foreign investment in specific fields as
stipulated by the State Council. The State Council will grant national
treatment to foreign investments outside of the negative list. The
Negative List 2021 will be applicable throughout 2022, the Negative
List 2021 was approved by the State Council and released by the
relevant authorities on 27 December 2021. After the FIL came into
effect, the FIL replaced the Foreign- owned Enterprise Law and the
Sino-foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law of the PRC.

Possible impact of the FIL

The FIL does not expressly stipulate the VIE structure as a form of
foreign investment, we cannot assure you that future laws,
administrative regulations or provisions to be issued by the State
Council will not deem the VIE structure as a way of foreign
investment, and then whether our VIE Structure will be deemed to be
in violation of the foreign investment access requirements remains
uncertain. If the VIE Structure is classified as a way of foreign
investment, the Group may be required to terminate the Structure
Contracts and dispose of the business conducted by OPCOs.

The Board will monitor the development of the FIL and discuss with
the PRC Legal Adviser on a regular basis in order to assess its possible
impacts on the Structure Contracts and the business of the Company.
In case there would be material impacts on the Group’s or OPCOs's
business, the Company will timely publish announcements in relation
to (i) any updates or material changes to the FIL and (ii) if any updates
or material changes to the FIL is implemented, a clear description and
analysis of the law, any material impact on the Company’s operations
and financial position and specific measures to be taken to comply
with the law (supported by advice from the PRC Legal Adviser).
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The Structure Contracts may not be as effective as
direct ownership in providing control over OPCOs

The Structure Contracts may not be as effective as direct ownership in
providing the Group with control over OPCOs. If the Group has direct
ownership of OPCOs, it will be able to exercise its rights as a
shareholder to effect changes in the board of directors of OPCOs.
However, under the Structure Contracts, the Group relies on the
performance by the Registered Shareholders of their obligations under
the Structure Contracts to exercise control over OPCOs.

In addition, if the Registered Shareholders or OPCOs fail to perform
their respective obligations under the Structure Contracts or otherwise
have disputes with the Group, the Group may have to initiate
arbitration or other legal proceedings, which involve significant
uncertainty. There can be no assurance that the outcome will be in
the Group’s favour and it may adversely affect the Group’s ability to
control OPCOs.

The Registered Shareholders may potentially have a
conflict of interests with the Group

The Group’s control over OPCOs is based on the contractual
arrangement under the Structure Contracts. Therefore, conflict of
interests of the Registered Shareholders will adversely affect the
interests of the Company. Pursuant to the Proxy Agreements, the
Registered Shareholders irrevocably appointed wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises or their designee as their exclusive agent and authorised
person to exercise their rights as the shareholders of OPCOs.
Therefore, it is unlikely that there will be potential conflict of interests
between the Group and the Registered Shareholders. However, in the
unlikely event that conflict of interests arises and cannot be resolved,
the Group will consider removing and replacing the Registered
Shareholders through procuring wholly-foreign-owned enterprises to
exercise their option under the Share Disposal and Exclusive option to
Purchase Agreements.
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The Structure Contracts may be subject to scrutiny
of the PRC tax authorities and transfer pricing
adjustments and additional tax may be imposed

The Group may face material adverse tax consequence if the PRC tax
authorities determine that the arrangement under the Structure
Contracts was not entered into on an arm'’s length basis. If the PRC
tax authorities determine that the Structure Contracts were not
entered into on an arm’s length basis, they may adjust income and
expenses of wholly- foreign-owned enterprises and/or OPCOs for PRC
tax purposes, which could result in higher tax liabilities on wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises and/or OPCOs.

The operating and financial results of the Group may be materially
and adversely affected if the tax liabilities of OPCOs or wholly-foreign-
owned enterprises increase significantly or if they are required to pay
interest on late payments and other penalties.

Certain terms of the Structure Contracts may not be
enforceable under PRC laws

The Structure Contracts are governed by the PRC laws and all disputes
which cannot be resolved by negotiations will be submitted for
arbitration, whose ruling will be final and binding. Accordingly, the
Structure Contracts would be interpreted in accordance with the PRC
laws and disputes would be resolved in accordance with PRC legal
procedures. The uncertainties in the PRC legal system could limit the
Group's ability to enforce the Structure Contracts. In the event that
the Group is unable to enforce the Structure Contracts, or if the
Group suffers significant time delays or other obstacles in the process
of enforcing them, it would be very difficult to exert control over
OPCOs.

In the event that OPCOs or any of the Registered Shareholders
breaches the terms of the Structure Contracts, the Group may not be
able to obtain sufficient remedies in a timely manner, and its ability to
exert effective control over OPCOs could be materially and adversely
affected.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEBAR LD A

RESHTREZIPEBBHEN
L ERERARNBWENIE

iR B SRR E R A MR T 2 ZHF A 3F
BRFRANFTSL - BIARKE R EEREATF
HIARR - MRF BB BEEARTERIZA TR
AR RBAA - AlREA e BN P EMS
BRMAEIIEBERER HEERFHRA
R GRS EBIIEBECER
BRAMBIAR BN -

MEINEBECEKEEBRARNHIBEABEAR
BN KBRS AR MEATIF B
SHASENCE B EEENEATFIF
o,

REFEEE  RBSVNELMRN
AR HAT

ABENXTEZREE  MBEELZBBA
HIBRR ) FRAGIRRMPE - RERBRRE
REEBHRS - Bt REAKNBREF
BUARMERE  FHARETEIAERFER -
REORR G EN T HEE MR EEERBIANKE
HITRBANMEN - HAKEEEIHITR
BEA AWMAREERTEORBIEKX
TR EMER  HRELZEQFE
ANFEH

B R R - AN R E A] RE A MRS TS B SR
B W B EERRETABUERIEEE AT

EEEXIEBRTMTE -

Annual Report 2022
—E_FFRH



A substantial amount of costs and time may be
involved in transferring the ownership of OPCOs to
the Group under the Share Disposal and Exclusive
Option to Purchase Agreements

The Share Disposal and Exclusive option to Purchase Agreements
granted wholly foreign-owned enterprises or their designee an
irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or part of the equity
interest in OPCOs through a single or a series of transaction(s) at
RMB1.00, or if the minimum price allowed by the PRC laws, then in
effect is higher than RMB1.00, then the equity interest purchase price
shall be the lowest price allowed by the PRC laws.

In case wholly foreign-owned enterprises exercises their option to
acquire all or part of the equity interests in OPCOs under the Share
Disposal and Exclusive option to Purchase Agreements, such
acquisition may only be conducted to the extent as permitted by the
applicable PRC laws and will be subject to necessary approvals and
relevant procedures under the PRC laws. In addition, such acquisition
may be subject to a minimum price limitation (such as an appraised
value for the equity interests in OPCOs or other price limitations as
imposed by the applicable PRC laws. Further, a substantial amount of
costs and time may be involved in transferring the ownership of
OPCOs to wholly foreign-owned enterprises or their designee, which
may have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business,
prospects and results of operation.

The Company does not have any insurance which
covers the risks relating to the Structure Contracts
and the transactions contemplated thereunder

The insurance of the Group does not cover the risks relating to the
Structure Contracts and the transactions thereunder and the
Company has no intention to purchase any insurance in this regard. If
any risk arises from the Structure Contracts in the future, such as
those affecting the enforceability of the Structure Contracts and the
operation of OPCOs, the results of the Group may be adversely
affected. However, the Group will monitor the relevant legal and
operational environment from time to time to comply with the
applicable laws and regulations. In addition, the Group will implement
relevant internal control measures to reduce the operational risk. the
Group will continue evaluating the feasibility, the cost and the benefit
of insuring the transactions under the Structure Contracts.
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Material Change

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, there has been
no material change in the contractual arrangements/or adoption of
such contracts.

Unwinding of Structure Contracts

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, there is no
unwinding of any of the Structured Contracts or failure to unwind
when the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Structured
Contracts are removed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or substantial shareholders of the Company or
any of their respective associates has engaged in any business that
competes or may compete with the business of the Group. on 26 May
2008, each of the then controlling shareholders (within the meaning
under the Listing Rules) of the Company, namely Mr. Liu Xiaosong,
Prime Century, Ever Novel and Grand Idea, entered into a deed of
non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) in favor of the
Company (for itself and the benefits of other members of the Group),
pursuant to which he/it has undertaken to the Company that he/it
would not, and would procure that his/its associates would not,
during the restricted period set out below, directly or indirectly, either
on his/its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any
person, firm or company, among other things, carry on, participate or
be interested or engaged in or acquire or hold (in each case whether
as a shareholder, partner, agent, employee or otherwise) any business
which is or may be in competition with the business of any member
of the Group from time to time. Details of the non-competition
undertaking have been set out in the subsection headed “Non-
competition undertaking” under the section headed “Relationship
with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus.
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The “restricted period” stated in the Deed of Non-competition refers
to the period during which:

(1) the shares of the Company remain listed on the Stock Exchange;

(2)  regarding any member of the then controlling shareholders, so
long as he or his associates directly or indirectly holds an equity
interest in the Group; and

(3)  the then controlling shareholders jointly are entitled to exercise
or control the exercise of not less than 30% in aggregate of the
voting power at general meetings of the Company.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 24 April
2009 and 9 July 2009, as a result of the reorganization of the
shareholdings in the Company by certain shareholders of the
Company, Prime Century and Grand Idea have ceased to become the
controlling shareholders of the Company respectively, but they remain
to be bound by the provision of the deed of non-competition.

The Company has received the annual confirmations from each of the
then controlling shareholders of the Company in respect of their
respective compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-
competition.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three members and all members are
independent non-executive directors, the Chairman Mr. Chan Yiu
Kwong has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
financial matters. The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee
are for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process and
internal control system of the Group.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022, and discussed with the auditors and management
the accounting policies and internal controls adopted by the Group.
There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the accounting treatment adopted by the
Company.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set our in note 39 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been audited by the Company’s auditors, Ernst
& Young, who will retire in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the Company will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

There has been no change of the auditors of the Company since the
listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on 12 June
2008.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Liu Xiaosong
Chairman

Hong Kong
30 March 2023
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The Board and the management of the Company are committed to
the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective management, a
healthy corporate culture, and successful business growth and
enhancing shareholders’ value.

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a
quality Board, sound internal controls, and transparency and
accountability to all shareholders. Throughout the year ended 31
December 2022, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all code provisions, and where applicable, the
recommended best practices as set out in the CG Code, except for
the deviation from code provision C.2.1 the Company will continue to
enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to the
conduct and growth of its business and to review its corporate
governance practices from time to time to ensure that they comply
with the statutory and professional standards and align with the latest
developments.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. the Board also
oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance
as well as performs the corporate governance duties.

The Board has delegated to the senior management the authority and
responsibilities for the day-to-day management and operations of the
Group. In addition, the Board has established the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, and
has delegated to these Board committees various responsibilities as
set out in their respective terms of reference.
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All Directors have full and timely access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. The senior
management of the Company provides all directors with monthly
updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties. Each Director knows that he is normally able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.

All directors take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company
and have carried out their duties in good faith and in compliance with
the standards of applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Delegation of Management Functions

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflicts of interest), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the CEO and the senior management.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the aforesaid officers. The Board has
given clear directions as to such officers’ powers and responsibilities,
and periodically reviews their delegated functions and work tasks to
ensure such arrangements remain appropriate to the Company’s
needs. The Board has the full support of the CEO and the senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises 5 members, consisting of 2 executive
Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors. None of the
members of the Board is related to one another.

Three Board Committees, namely, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, have been established with
specific terms of reference which were posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has at all time
met the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules relating to having
at least one-third of independent non-executive Directors, comprising
at least three independent non- executive Directors and having one
independent non-executive Director with the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management
expertise.

The list of all Directors is set out under “Corporate Information” on
page 2 of this annual report and all corporate communications issued
by the Company from time to time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The
independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant to
the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business and
financial expertise, experience and independent judgment to the
Board. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead
in managing issues involving potential conflicts of interest and serving
on Board committees, all non-executive Directors have made various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company’s articles of association.
The Nomination Committee as a whole is responsible for reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring
the appointment and succession planning of Directors and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

Each of the executive Directors is engaged on a service contract for a
term of three years. The appointment may be terminated by not less
than three months’ written notice or payment in lieu of such notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a specific term of three years
and is subject to retirement by rotation once every three years. And
they should be re-appointed at any annual general meeting of the
Company during their term of office. The appointment may be
terminated by not less than three month’s written notice or payment
in lieu of such notice.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association which were
amended by a written resolution dated 26 May 2008, all Directors of
the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and any new director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or
as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election
by shareholders at the first general meeting or the first annual general
meeting respectively after appointment.

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board regularly to ensure that the Board has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee will
carry out the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time
commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment and
selection process where necessary. The recommendations of the
Nomination Committee are then put to the full Board for decision.
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The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of the
Directors Mr. Liu Xiaosong, Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong and Mr. Gao
Shenglin standing for re- election at the next forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. The Company’s circular dated 25
April 2023 contains detailed information of the directors standing for
re-election.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, tailored and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
he/she will get a package setting out the duties and responsibilities of
director under the Listing Rules, the Companies ordinance and other
related ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong
Kong, including the Guidelines for Directors issued by the Hong Kong
Companies Registry and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors,
supported by lawyers explanation, so that he/she is fully aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. Meantime, he/she will have chance
to communicate with executive directors as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company.

Development and training of Directors is an ongoing process. During
the year, (1) the Company Secretary irregularly circulates details of
training courses which may be of interest to Directors. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses with appropriate
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the Directors, at the
Company'’s expense; (2) the Company Secretary also irregularly send
relative laws, regulations and latest cases to directors in order to assist
the directors to perform their duties appropriately; (3) the Company
encourages the Directors to participate in continuing professional
development training, the Company Secretary assists them to handle
the relevant formalities, and the Company would bear all the relevant
costs.

The Company has received written confirmations from all of the
Directors on their training records for the year ended 31 December
2022; the Board has reviewed and evaluated such training records in
the board meeting dated 30 March 2023.
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According to the aforementioned records, a summary of the training B3 EitER K —E - FE FIFEH L
received in 2022 by the Directors is set out as follows: BEIIFFENZEBE RN

Attending or

participating

briefings/

seminars/

conferences/

workshops

relevant to the

Reading Company'’s

regulatory  businesses and

Name of Directors updates directors’ duties
HE2EAR

AAREBR

ESRE 9

TEMN

FEREEEE IR =0

EEnE HE E &R TSN

Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. Liu Xiaosong Ell=2/y v v
Mr. Ji Bo EAEiE 4 4

Independent non-executive Directors BUIFNTEE

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong PR St 7 A v v

Ms. Wu Shihong RtRE+ v v

Mr. Li Feng FEEE v/ v/
(resigned on 20 September 2022) (RZBE=——F A =-+HEET)

Mr. Gao Shenglin SEMEE v/ v
(appointed on 20 September 2022) (R=—B-—FHAB-+HEZE)
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Board Meetings

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Code provision C.5.1 prescribes that at least 4 regular Board meetings
should be held in each year at approximately quarterly intervals with
active participation of majority of Directors, either in person or

through other electronic means of communication.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, seven Board meetings
were held. The attendance records of each director at the Board

meetings are set out below:
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EEEER

FRBXCS1 BT SEELBRMNAE
HEEREY  ANSTEAN K BAS
WEFAEESEGH(ER RSB
TTEAAR) -

REBZE-—E-—&F+-A=+—HItEE &
AELBHtAEFEEeE  c SESHFEES
SEFHA ST ¢

Number of Meetings and
Directors’ Attendance

Name of Directors EEENE HERE
Executive Directors HiTEE

Mr. Liu Xiaosong (Chairman of the Board) BIEBA L L (FE) 717
Mr. Ji Bo BELLE 717
Independent Non-executive Directors BIHNTEF

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong PR 12 St 5 A 777
Ms. Wu Shihong RER L 777
Mr. Li Feng FIESEAE 4/6

(resigned on 20 September 2022) (R=ZEZ=FhA=THET)
Mr. Gao Shenglin =EMREE 2/2

(appointed on 20 September 2022)

General Meetings

(RZE_—FNA-THEZT)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, one general meeting was
held by the Company. The Chairman of the Board and the executive
directors attended the annual general meeting in 27 May 2022, and
were available to answer questions. the attendance records of each

Director at the general meetings are set out below:

RRE=H

REZ-_E-_—F+-_A=+—RLEE K
NEIHEBAT —ABRERE - EFSTFFEH
TEEHEE TR _E-_—_F#RA-++HBH
WRERAFARE - W Ee EEERFRER - &
EFEHEERMNDENOT ¢

Attendance
Members of the Board EEgHE HEIRE
Executive Directors HiTEF
Mr. Liu Xiaosong (Chairman of the Board) R E (EE) ”n
Mr. Ji Bo HERE 71
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHITESE
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong PRIB 5 A on
Ms. Wu Shihong RtRZ+ on
Mr. Li Feng FEEAE 01

(resigned on 20 September 2022) (RZEZZFhAZ+HET)

Mr. Gao Shenglin =EMEE 0/0

(appointed on 20 September 2022)

Annual Report 2022

R FFR

(RM—ZE-_—_FAhA-+HEZT)

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHEBEBMERAF

65



66

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BREARE

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. Notices of regular
Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each
Director also have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary.

The senior management attends, where necessary, Board and
committee meetings to advise on business developments, financial
and accounting matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance
and other major aspects of the Company.

Directors are normally able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The Company Secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes of all
Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any transaction, which involves a
material conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting. Independent non-executive Director who, and whose
associates, have no material interest in the transaction should be
present at such board meeting. The Company’s articles of association
contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not
to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material
interest.
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Dividend Policy

The board has adopted the Dividend Policy. Dividends may be paid
out by way of cash or by other means that the Directors consider
appropriate. Declaration and payment of any dividends would require
the recommendation of the Board and will be at its discretion. In
addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to the
approval of the shareholders of the Company. A decision to declare
or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount and rates of
such dividends, will be subject to, among other things, the Group’s
results of operations, cash flow, financial conditions, operating and
capital requirements and other factors which the Directors consider
important.

Declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to
compliance with applicable laws and regulations including the laws of
the Cayman Islands and the articles of association of the Company.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.
there is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 in the Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG
Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (”Listing
Rules”) stipulates that the roles of Chairman and CEO should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

In the year ended 31 December 2022, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company are both held by Mr. Liu Xiaosong,
which did not comply with the corporate governance requirements as
set out in code provision C.2.1. Considering Mr. Liu has diversified
experience in the technology, Internet and investment area has been
being responsible for overall management and strategic planning of
the Group, the Board considered that Mr. Liu is able to lead the Board
in making business decision for the Group. therefore, Mr. Liu has had
the dual roles of the Chairman and CEO of the Company despite
deviation from code provision C.2.1 during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the website of the Stock Exchange
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website www.a8nhmg.com.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely Ms.
Wu Shihong (Chairman, independent non-executive Director), Mr. Liu
Xiaosong (executive Director) and Mr. Gao Shenglin (independent
non-executive Director). The majority of them are independent
non-executive Directors.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include:

o To make recommendations to the Board on and supervision of
the establishment of formal and transparent procedures for
developing remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and the senior managements;

o To make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; these shall include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

o Considering at any time and pay reasonable attention to the
performance of Directors and senior management, their time
commitment and responsibilities, interests of shareholders, the
Company’s financial state, market conditions, salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;
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o Reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

° Reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

o Ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for collection and
administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for consideration.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, two meeting was held by the
Remuneration Committee for reviewing the Group’s remuneration
structure and policy, assessing all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration with reference to the Group’s and individual
performance in 2022 and setting target for 2023. The attendance
records of the Remuneration Committee are set out below:

TEERHRE

s RIARBAEMATEERRREEAS
Eﬁﬁ%é&&ﬂtﬁﬁﬁ‘kiﬁﬁﬁb\fi1‘fﬁﬁ
B8 RRZEEEEESORR—
EARREEESARTR—B BEMEAT

512 TEB%

s RIARMERERTRREMAEENE
RBEEEMEMNBRERD - AR
ZELTHEAOGR B HREES
MR —B AERETEAEEE

s BRENEFHECABBANSSH
EEM B A -

ARAANERBFAABEREREEANER
RN ER - WEARHFMEE G ERAHELR
HZEFE SRR -

REBLE-Z-—F+_A=+—HULEFE &

MEZEERBITTMAEE  URHAKEH

MERBREEK - FHERTEERSE T -

FEZRAIBRE-_FT_=FZEEEEE
HEEZ B ECEHINNT

Attendance
Members of the Remuneration Committee FMEEERE HERE
Ms. Wu Shihong RtR&+ 2/2
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and (FNZESE/E  BUIHTEE)
Independent Non-executive Director)
Mr. Liu Xiaosong SRR A 2/2
Mr. Li Feng g 172
(resigned on 20 September 2022) (R=ZEBEZ=FhAZ=THET)
Mr. Gao Shenglin =M A 1”1
(appointed on 20 September 2022) (W—ZE-_—FNA-+RHEZT)
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Chairman, independent non-
executive Director), Ms. Wu Shihong (independent non-executive
Director), and Mr. Gao Shenglin (independent non-executive Director),
which comprises one independent non-executive Director with the
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and related
financial management expertise. None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditors.

In accordance with the requirements of the CG Code, the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee were revised from time to time in
terms substantially the same as the provisions set out in the CG Code.
The latest version of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures, review of the Group’s financial information and
review of the relationship with the external auditor of the Company.
Regular meetings have been held by the Audit Committee since its
establishment.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

o To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the staff responsible for
the accounting and financial reporting function, compliance
officer, internal auditor or external auditors before submission
to the Board.

o To review the fees and terms of engagement of the external
auditors by reference to the work performed by the auditors
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditors.

o To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, three meetings were held by
the Audit Committee for considering and reviewing the financial
results and reports, internal control procedures and the re-
appointment of the external auditors. The external auditors were
invited to attend the meetings to discuss with the Audit Committee
issues arising from the audit and financial reporting matters.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out below:

TRERMS

NBE-F-FT-A=t-HI BKE
BE BT T SREH - ABHHRERE
& NBELER R ERETNEREES

EH INEREEMEALFEERNERERR
BevmARBAMERREEELNMRE -

ERLZEEKE ZHBERFABOT ¢

Attendance
Members of the Audit Committee EREEERE HEIRE
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong PR IR 5 A& 3/3
(Chairman of the Audit Committee and (BRZESFE BUIHNTESE)
Independent Non-executive Director)
Ms. Wu Shihong RERuz+ 3/3
Mr. Li Feng TS E 2/3
(resigned on 20 September 2022) (R—ZE-_—_FhLA-T+HEMT)
Mr. Gao Shenglin mEMEE 7
(appointed on 20 September 2022) (RZEZZFNLAZ+HEZT)

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely Mr.
Liu Xiaosong (Chairman, executive Director), Ms. Wu Shihong
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Gao Shenglin
(independent non-executive Director). The majority of them are
independent non-executive Directors.

The primary objectives of the Nomination Committee include:

. To review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least once a
year and make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to implement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o To identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
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To assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief executive;

To review the policy concerning diversity of board members, as
appropriate; and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and
the progress on achieving the objectives; and

To review, supervise and make disclosure of the policy for the
nomination of Directors by the Committee in the corporate
governance report annually.

During the reporting period, two meeting was held by the Nomination

Committee, to review the structure, size and composition (including

the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, review the Board

Diversity Policy, assess the independence of independent non-

executive Directors, recommend the Directors stand for re-election at

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, etc.

The attendance record of such meeting is set out below:

o  AMRBUIFRITESMBILIE

s UERZEIENZEURES(LER
IEMERATE)ETHENESTER
g

s HBEEBATRIEFEXNEZIT/ILK
R ERNEFE/UTEFENES
TL BRI $ E B Al 5T & B IR AER

Bk
e EBEVWAFEAREARMETPHWEZE
SIRAEENER  THHEHATIBERE

TEERBS -

RBERA - REZESHEHAMAEHE &
NEFENRE  ABREXK(BRERKEE M
BNMERETE) BMAEFZ OB
ZBIUIFMTEETNE LI  AEEFSREE
EEREANEZRARBAHRITHRRBEF
ARELREREENEZEAREEEH -

ZEH L FERREEIIT

Attendance
Members of the Nomination Committee REZEEHE HERE
Mr. Liu Xiaosong Ell=2/y s 2/2
(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) (IBREZEEF/E)
Ms. Wu Shihong REtARuE 2/2
Mr. Li Feng PR E 172
(resigned on 20 September 2022) (RZZEZ_=FNLA=-F+HEMT)
Mr. Gao Shenglin BEMEE 11
(appointed on 20 September 2022) (R—ZE-_—FHhA-+HEZT)
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The main purpose of
this policy is to diversify board members. According to this policy,
selection of candidates to be appointed to the Board and the
continuation of those appointments will be based a range of objective
factors, including (but not limited to) gender, age, cultural and
educational background, race, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and service tenure. All appointments of the directors are
based on the principle of talent, and when considering candidates,
the benefits of diversity of board members will be fully taken into
account in accordance with objective conditions. The Nomination
Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to
ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss and propose any amendments to the Board
Diversity Policy as it thinks fit, and recommend any such amendments
to the Board for consideration and approval.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code for securities transactions by
Directors on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules. Upon specific enquiries of all Directors, each of them confirmed
that they have complied with complied with the own code and the
model code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
employees (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) who are likely to be
in possession of inside information of the Company. No incident of
noncompliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees
was noted by the Company.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2022.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The senior management has provided such explanation and
information to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to carry
out an informed assessment of the financial and other information
and position of the Company put to the Board for approval.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS'
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 81 to 88. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration paid to the Company’s
external auditors, Ernst & Young, is set out below:

ESETHBRRNEE

EEERBEEREARABE_T_—_F+=
A=t—BLFEFBHRRNEE -

EZAHFERETHBE  ABEERE
K32 iR R e B BE E B R AR TE A A R
i h P& - B0 AT IR AR Y AT A o

SREREEEFTERNESSRERSHE
RER - LBEFRH AR RMBER MR
ELAER S - YIR2EFSHE -

&

SINES A BRI % Az 20 A BA

RATIMNEZERN B BEA S B RERNRRE
TREPEHNFE 81 =88 H [ I % EAh R &
Ne RBZE2_ZT__F+_A=+—HILF
B AAREN TINEZBRI Lok G5 E1
TR & AT -

Fee paid/payable

Category of services BR %5 %8 Bl e EAEA
(RMB’000)

(ARBFIIT)

Audit services 2R 7 1,208
Non-audit services — other services IEZE R — EMARE 128
Total A&t 1,336
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group, including the efficiency of
business operation, financial management and risk management of
operating flow.

The Company has developed its systems of internal control and risk
management and will continue to review and assess the procedures
for their effectiveness. The Audit Committee provides supervision of
the internal control system of the Group, reports to the Board on any
material issues and makes recommendations.

The internal control system of the Group is designed to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations, to
identify and manage potential risks, and to safeguard assets of the
Group. The internal audit department reviews and evaluates the
control process, monitors any risk factors on a regular basis, and
reports to the Audit Committee on any findings and measures to
address variances and identified risks.

The key elements of the Group's internal control system include the
following:

o The organizational structure is clearly defined with distinct lines
of authority and control responsibilities.

o A comprehensive financial accounting system has been
established to provide indicators for performance measurement
and to ensure compliance with relevant rules.

o Plans for financial reporting, operations and compliance with
reference to potential significant risks are prepared annually by
the senior management.

o Unauthorized expenditures and release of confidential
information are strictly prohibited.
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o Proper policy is in place to ensure the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmers
and budget.

. The control process and risk factors are reviewed, evaluated,
and monitored on a regular basis so that any findings and
measures to address the variances and identified risks could be
reported to the Audit Committee.

During the year under review, the Company engaged personnel
related to internal audit to review and check internal control regularly
and systematically. Internal audit reports by the Company were
presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
Procedures for shareholders to convene EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholder
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth (1/10) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at the general meetings shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition (the “Requisition”, and for the Shareholder
concerned, the “Requisitionist”) to the Board or the Company, to
require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition.

The Requisition must state the objects of the meeting, contain the full
name(s) of the Requisitionist(s), his/her/their contact details and
identification, be signed by the Requisitionist and be deposited at
Suites 2703, 27/F., Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong,
for the attention of the Company Secretary.

An EGM shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
Requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the Requisitionist(s) himself/
herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
enquiries to the Board or put forward proposals at
general meetings

To put forward enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may either
contact the Company Secretary through email at ir@a8.com, or
submit a written notice of their enquiries with their detailed contact
information to the Company Secretary at Suites 2703, 27/F., Shui On
Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong, or directly raise questions at
general meetings.

Procedures for Nomination of Directors

The Board has adopted the Procedures for Nomination of Directors.
Shareholder(s) of the Company (each a “Shareholder”) may nominate
person(s), other than a retiring director of the Company (“Director”)
and the Shareholder himself/herself, to be appointed as a Director
("Proposed Director”). Details of the procedures for Shareholders to
propose a person for election as a Director at a general meeting
(either an annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting)
of the Company ("Meeting”) are set out below.

o Submit a written notice duly signed by the nominating
Shareholder(s), together with the Proposed Director’s resume
with contact details, a written notice of Proposed Director’s
willingness to be elected, copy of identification documents,
information and other details (including but not limited to
details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong or
other applicable rules) of the Proposed Director, to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong: Suites
2703, 27/F., Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

o Acknowledgement of receipt of the written notice will be
provided by the Company;
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o The Nomination Committee will review and consider if the
Proposed Director is appropriate to be appointed as a Director:

(@) If the Proposed Director is considered appropriate, the
resolution for the appointment of the Proposed Director
will be inserted to the agenda of the Meeting or the
adjourned Meeting and an announcement in relation to
such Meeting will be issued by the Company.

(b) If the Proposed Director is considered not appropriate,
written notice with reasons will be given to the
nominating Shareholder(s).

Details of the Procedures for Nomination of Directors are provided in
the section “Corporate Governance” on the Company’s website.

Voting by poll at general meetings

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolutions are
proposed at shareholder meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at a shareholder meeting will be taken by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after the
shareholder meeting.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Group pays much attention to maintaining good relationships
with Shareholders and investors. The Group has set up a specialized
department to deal with investor relationships affairs. We try to
achieve two-way communication with Shareholders, investors and
media through consistent, timely and transparent disclosure of
information.

The Group strictly adheres to non-selective disclosure guidelines to
ensure that communications with Shareholders, investors and the
media are open and fair. No material, non-public information is made
available to any individual on a selective basis. The Group experienced
difficulties and faced various challenges during the past two years but
we kept the consistent communication with the market through
publishing results announcement and reports, holding investors
conferences, arranging meetings with investors in person or via
conference calls, participating in various investor forums etc. to
provide necessary information to form their own judgments and
provided feedback to management in order to improve operations
and corporate governance of the Group.

Meanwhile, the Group continues to update the contents including
business information, financial information, announcements,
corporate governance etc. stated on the website of www.a8nmg.com
to improve transparency. The public can communicate with the Group
through phone call and our mailbox which are published on our
website, and handled and replied by professional IR employees.

The general meetings of the Company provide a good opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The
Company considers the AGM as an important event and all Directors
make efforts to attend. The Chairman of the Board as well as the
chairman of each Board Committee will try their best to be available
to communicate with the Shareholders face to face. A representative
(usually the partner) of the external auditor also attends the AGM and
will take questions from Shareholders relating to their audit of the
Company'’s financial statements.
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The Company understands that increasing transparency in capital
market participants will improve corporate governance and be
beneficial to the long-term development of the Company. The
Company welcomes investors and Shareholders to share opinions and
suggestions for the development of the Company to the Company’s
investor relation team via email or telephone.

Investors Relationship Contact Details:

Address: 25/F, A8 Music Building, No.1002 Keyuan Road,
Hi-tech Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, PRC.
Telephone: +86 755 3330 3333-2240

Email: ir@a8.com

website: www.a8nmg.com

Company Secretary

During the reporting period, Ms. Gao Keying (“Ms. Gao”) acts as the
Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Ho. Wing Yan (“Ms. Ho")
resigned as the Company Secretary for the Company on 26 January
2022, and Ms. Gao was appointed as Company Secretary for the
Company on 26 January 2022.

The Directors all have access to the Company Secretaries who are
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures, and all applicable law,
rules and regulations are properly followed. The Company Secretaries
also keep fully updating the Board with all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, Ms. Gao has
complied with Article 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken over 15
hours of relevant professional training to refresh their skills and
knowledge.

Constitutional Documents

During the year under review, there was no change to the Articles of
Association of the Company. A copy of the latest consolidated version
of it is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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To the shareholders of A8 New Media Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of A8 New
Media Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 89 to 227, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRENEE

VR R 2 TE

A E AT IH (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENETNNEERRENSH

Valuations of financial assets at fair value

A FEFTEZEMEERGE

At 31 December 2022, the Group's financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income of approximately
RMB72.9 million and RMB103.6 million, respectively, were
categorised as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy, which
represented 4.8% and 6.9%, respectively, of the Group’s
net assets. The Group engaged an external valuer to apply
valuation techniques to determine the fair values of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income that are not quoted in active markets. These
valuation techniques, in particular those included significant
unobservable inputs, involved significant accounting
judgements, estimates and assumptions. The sensitivity of
the estimates and assumptions used may have material
impact on the valuations of these financial assets.
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—H BEEERA/FEFER
HEFHt A BRZeMEEMEAFEAEREZEHTA
Hih 2 HE W2 @MEED BIK A AR 72,900,000 7T
M AR#103,600,000 TERATEERSERE=H
DAL EEBEEFEL48% N6.9% - EEEE LRI
EBAER - EAGER EZETREEERTSRENZA
FEFEEHEHTABRR EREERRATENER
HE8t A Ma2mkss eMEEL A TE - 25 HE
& FRIREFABARTAEBRL2E - BEEAGH
i -t RRER - PTAAET RBR 2 BRE AR ZE S
MEEZAEERKERATE -
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With the assistance from our internal valuation specialists,
we evaluated the valuation methodologies and
assumptions adopted by the external valuer in the
valuations of the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income that were categorised as
Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy by (i) examining the
terms of the financial instruments and the relevant
agreements; (i) assessing the reasonableness of valuation
methodologies; and (iii) assessing the key parameters
used against available market information.
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We evaluated the independence, objectivity and
competence of the external valuer engaged by the
Group.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRETEE

A E AT EIH (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENETNNEERRESSH

Valuations of financial assets at fair value (Continued)

B FEGEZ2MEEME (&)

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
balances involved and the significant judgements and
estimates required in the determination of the fair values of
these financial instruments.

RS KRR REREEELEM T AN AR EEM
FOERAEEE - RAIB IR LR -

The accounting policies and significant accounting
judgements and estimates related to the valuations of
financial assets at fair value and disclosures of the fair
values of such financial assets are included in notes 3.3, 4,
21, 22 and 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
BHERATEAEZ SMEEMENEABEAREH
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We also evaluated the adequacy of related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
S0.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BN

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BN

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kee Wendy Wing Shi.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

30 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AN b T

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE T —_—F+_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
=BE=T o e
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT ARET INIEREE ST T
(Restated)
(Euh)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HEREER
REVENUE WA 6 79,151 80,356
Cost of services provided TR AR SRR A (18,255) (20,204)
Gross profit EF 60,896 60,152
Other income and gains E g A K zs 6 16,901 46,230
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RS ER X (1,870) (3,075)
Administrative expenses TR (23,622) (20,129)
Other expenses, net HulsY 58 (48,017) (48,283)
Finance costs B 75 8 - (670)
Share of profits and losses of associates, 7> ¥EE# 4 N B F K 538 - R 48
net 5,797 30,307
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM FEREERRBANEF
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 7 10,085 64,532
Income tax credit/(expense) FTigBiEe, (M) 10 11,922 (3,874)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM BEREERFERA
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 22,007 60,658
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BB
Loss for the year from a discontinued —IBRIHEEEBTEEE
operation 11 (8,050) (5,208)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERA 13,957 55,450
Attributable to: FEAG -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZ V=N 13,219 58,025
Non-controlling interests FEPEIR i = 738 (2,575)
13,957 55,450
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

[ = 4

A Sz
,%T\l/:u\ Hm

Year ended 31 December 2022 & E — T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
=== —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt aE AR%T R AREFTT
(Restated)
(&)
EARNINGS PER SHARE RAREBEREEIFAAENL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BRIEF
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 13
Basic (RMB per share) EXR(FRARE)
— For profit for the year — FE A 0.49 cents 2.15 cents
0.491l 2.154l
— For profit from continuing — BEREERFEGA 0.80 cents 2.25 cents
operations 0.80 1l 2.2511l
Diluted (RMB per share) #HE(BRARE)
— For profit for the year — FEEEH 0.48 cents 2.14 cents
0.481ll 2144l
— For profit from continuing — RHEKEEBEE R 0.79 cents 2.24 cents
operations 0.79 1 22411l

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEBAR LD A

Annual Report 2022
—E_FFRH



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEEWER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE T —_—F+_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
=BE=T o e
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B E ARBTR ARETET

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEBRN 13,957 55,450

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  Ht2mEUkzs (EiE)
(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) FHHETEABRRZ
that may be reclassified to profit Hitt 2 ERRREE
or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of &£ B EHRERITEELWEH
group companies ZR 40,707 (6,243)

Other comprehensive loss that AEABTEBABRRZ
will not be reclassified to profitor  H{it2HEE :
loss in subsequent periods:

Financial assets at fair value through BATEF=BEZESTA

other comprehensive income: Hivzmimc emEE
Changes in fair value NEEE (46,982) (84,070)
Income tax effect Sz & 29 11,745 21,017

Net other comprehensive loss that will — {F 2 IS A @@ ABREE
not be reclassified to profit or loss Hih 2 mEE
in subsequent periods (35,237) (63,053)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ EEHEM2EKESHEISE
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX  IBRBi14 558 5,470 (69,296)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ S EZ2MEWE (FE)B%E

(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 19,427 (13,846)
Attributable to: FE1G -

Owners of the Company YNGIE PPN 18,689 (11,271)

Non-controlling interests eI 738 (2,575)

19,427 (13,846)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI &

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt aE AR%T R ARKETFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - RENMEE 14 114,301 119,548
Investment properties wE 15 414,000 412,000
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 16(a) 11,576 12,538
Goodwill kS 17 - 9,278
Intangible assets EEE 18 796 1,172
Investments in associates REFERA 2 IRE 19 289,487 299,690
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFE BEZEEHFA
profit or loss BamEMEE 21 72,878 101,858
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEANEEHEHTA
other comprehensive income HEhemkRzemEE 22 103,589 150,571
Deferred tax assets RIETHIBE = 29 16,316 235
Total non-current assets FERBEESS 1,022,943 1,106,890
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 503 603
Trade receivables FEMER K 23 7.410 1,061
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTRRR - E AU &
other assets Hith & & 24 3,887 5,086
Financial assets at fair value through BAVFEFEAEEZETA
profit or loss BRZemEE 21 20,000 300
Restricted bank balances ZRHIR e 25 65 65
Cash and cash equivalents WL RIBESEEY 26 608,766 555,390
640,631 562,505
Assets of a disposal group classified —EoBEAREFERN
as held for sale EEHEE 11 552 -
Total current assets MEEESET 641,183 562,505
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables FERTBR K 27 7,082 7,754
Other payables and accruals HA e R R e E A 28 36,383 51,008
Tax payable P T IR 15,963 18,351
Lease liabilities MEaE 16(b) - 402
59,428 77,515
Liabilities directly associated with the DEARBEFENEE
assets classified as held for sale E& HENaE 11 4,670 -
Total current liabilities mBaEsst 64,098 77,515
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R a BRI AR

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

2022 2021
=BE=T o e
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000

B E ARBTR ARETET

NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFEE 577,085 484,990
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 1,600,028 1,591,880
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIAEE 29 88,082 105,895
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) = 243
Total non-current liabilities EmEBBESET 88,082 106,138
Net assets BEEE 1,511,946 1,485,742
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners ERATERFE ABLER
of the Company
Issued capital B3 1TRR AN 30 23,162 22,870
Reserves ] 32 1,490,432 1,465,258
1,513,594 1,488,128
Non-controlling interests FEER R (1,648) (2,386)
Total equity W% 1,511,946 1,485,742
Liu Xiaosong Ji Bo
EE=TN HE
Director Director
EBEE o
Annual Report 2022 A8 New Media Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

TmEHESRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE T —_—F+_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
=TE=T =l —hE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B =E AR¥ T INES: = T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHABRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELRDR R (E518)
From continuing operations SRS e 10,085 64,532
From a discontinued operation B —IEAR SR 11 (8,050) (5,136)
Adjustments for: BTG
Dividend income N AR E 6 (3.263) (32,763)
Bank interest income HRITHBWA (8,541) (10,987)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - R NBRETE
equipment 5,263 7,874
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEETE 526 916
Amortisation of intangible assets BB 7 376 729
Gain on termination of a lease LIE—IEBS 2 WS (11) (5)
Gain on disposal of items of property, — HEWE - MERREZ
plant and equipment Weas 9) (44)
Fair value losses on financial assets at BAFEA=BEEHTA
fair value through profit or loss BazemEEZ A VE
BX 7 31,980 34,072
Fair value losses/(gains) on investment & &3 7 A F{E
properties B/ () 7 (2,000) 10,000
Share of profits and losses of DYERE A RNE ) R EE
associates, net FEE (5,797) (30,307)
Impairment of investments in — BB E AR 2 R ERE
associates 7 16,000 3,378
Impairment of goodwill EERE 9,278 -
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of ~ FEURBREZURIEBL.
trade receivables CRERE) 7 1,806 (35)
Impairment of financial assets included — F ATEIRER - E {th B UK
in prepayments, other receivables MEMEE BB ERE
and other assets 7 - 39
Equity-settled share option expense AR 45 2 BERR R 7 - 1,650
Finance costs Bi5E A 13 690
47,656 44,603
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
an\ EE:@/)“JE%%

Year ended 31 December 2022 & E — T - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
St —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B E ARBTR AR¥TE

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables  FEUER ZUR A~ (32 0) (8,161) 3,148
Increase/(decrease) in inventories FEEINCRA) 100 (603)
Increase/(decrease) in prepayments, TEfTERR « AU R

other receivables and other assets HibBERMm (k) (196) 9,509
Decrease in trade payables FEHBE R (672) (835)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HE I kR E A

and accruals #n,/ Crd) (8,499) 1,448
Decrease in deferred income EEA R D (600) (1,500)
Cash generated from operations KT ZIRE 29,628 55,770
Interest paid SAFIE (13) (20)
Tax paid EHIA (12,615) (14,099)
Net cash flows from operating activities &2 /EHTEIRESNE /75 17,000 41,651
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFBFERERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant BEYE BENMREEB

and equipment (59) (310)
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B BT B8 A A 33(d) - (202)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BERAFEtEHEE

through profit or loss ARG eREE (23,000) -
Interest received BUHE 9,147 6,320
Decrease in restricted bank balances ZRRFIRI TS R B ERFR

and pledged deposits 2R - 39,855

Decrease in time deposits with original [ SRR EIEIH BB =1 A
maturity of more than three months ZEBRFEROR D

when acquired - 10,596
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets & &R A FETE B E&F A

at fair value through profit or loss BHZemEEMSIE 300 38,906
Proceeds from disposal of items of BEWME - WEM&ESEHIE

property, plant and equipment 52 69
Dividend received B4R 3,263 32,763

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing  &&/EZEME(FTA)IRERE
activities FER (10,297) 127,997
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Iﬁ%/)lb%%

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE T —_—F+_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
=l i e s
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
liEs3 AR¥BTRE AREKETET

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHAERERE

ACTIVITIES
Shares repurchased 5] & A7) 30 - (1,123)
Proceeds from issue of shares BT FT1SFRIR 30 6,777 2,280
Repayment of bank loans BERITER = (46,000)
Principal portion of lease payments HEFBEREHS (198) (617)
Interest paid SAFE - (670)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing FEE/EBEE(FAA)IRESTRE

activities FEE 6,579 (46,130)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 14 R < Z @Y S8 i

EQUIVALENTS 13,282 123,518
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZIRE RBEZEY

beginning of year 555,390 437,838
Effect of foreign exchange rate VE R Eh v 28 R(E

changes, net 40,574 (5,966)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REXZH4REBESZEY

END OF YEAR 609,246 555,390
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH B4 RELZE/YER DN

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in 43 & BA RS AR SR K751 2 04

the consolidated statement of RIBSEEY

financial position 26 608,766 555,390
Cash attributable to a discontinued —IRAR | R L2 TR B3R S 4

operation 11 480 -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in = &8RS REXMIZHE &

the consolidated statement of BLEEY

cash flows 609,246 555,390
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NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

75 2= M 5

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

A8 New Media Group Limited (the “Company” or “A8 New
Media”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the following
principal activities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”

or “Mainland China”):

. cultural business

o property investment

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

NEIREEER

ASHTIEBEBBR AR ARHAERST
M2 BRAT - AAFEMPHER
# HE & Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands ©

AREMEKBAR (RHER [ ANEE])
RAFEAEPEARLME(THE] %
[FEAL]) REBEATEERS

s  XfEEX
s MEWE
ERHMELRZER

FRSEIZMBARMNFBNOT

follows:
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
Bl Baf7/ EAREGRE
DNEER B ES-$E aMER BHEEMMN TEEHK
Direct Indirect
E# 55
A8 Music Group Limited (A8 Music") British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares 100 - Investment holding
US$64,500
Preferred shares
US$9,300
RERLES LiBike4500% T RERR
{B5ERR9,300% T
Cash River Information Technology PRC/Mainland China HK$40,000,000 - 100 Development of computer
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Cash River") ** Registered capital software and provision of
technical and management
consultancy services
EEEEEHR (BRI ERAT R/ hEN 40,000,000/ FEEREM LM
([ )) HMER RATRH R E B AR

A8 New Media Group Limited
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

NalMEBER #)

BRI B AR 2ER @)

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
ERRL/ Baf7/ ERREERE
DRER EMRELHE BTN BHEENL TEEY
Direct Indirect
B# G5
Shenzhen Huadong Feitian Network PRC/Mainland China RMB28,680,000 - 100 Provision of internet information
Development Co., Ltd. Registered capital service, property investment
("Huadong Feitian”) (note (i))*® and music performance
RN PEBRABE I Z B/ HE R AE28,680,0007C RERBESRER
BRAR ((EHRR (@) * EMER MERERF LR
Shenzhen Yunhai Qingtian PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Provision of game publishing
Cultural Broadcasting Co., Ltd. Registered capital services
("Yunhai Qingtian") (note (i))*®
RNPEEERERER RE/RENH AR10,000,000 7 REBBETRG
RAEEEXR]) (M) e AR
Shenzhen Kuaitonglian Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Provision of mobile value-added
Co., Ltd. ("Kuaitonglian”) (note (i))*® Registered capital services and property
investment
R RERR AR B/ HE R AR 10,000,000 7 REBHEERBR
(TR ) (L) = EMER nERE
Beijing Chuangmeng Yinyue Culture PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 - 100 Provision of mobile value-added
Development Co., Ltd. (note (i))*® Registered capital services
IREBEEULERBRAT HRE/REN AR 5,000,0007 REBHLERE
(HzE) = HMER
Beijing Aiyue Cultural Broadcasting PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Provision of mobile value-added
Co., Ltd. (note (i))*® Registered capital services
ERELERLERERAR /PR AR#10,000,00070 RABEEERY
(HEE@) < HMER
Total Plus Limited Hong Kong HK$97,045 - 100 Investment holding
Issued capital
EHARAF B 97,0457 REER
BETER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION i

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

NeElREBEER #)

BERKE AR &R (4

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
ERRL/ Baf7/ EAAEGRE
NEER RS- HMEE BEEIL TEXHK
Direct Indirect
B GF:3
Phoenix Success Limited (“Phoenix Success”) Hong Kong HK$1 100 - Investment holding
Issued capital
EHERAR(XH)) 3 18T RERR
BETER
Shenzhen Finger Fun Network PRC/Mainland China HK$190,000,000 - 100 Investment holding of
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Finger Fun”) *# Registered capital game business
RINTIRN T RENE R/ HEN 190,000,000 47T REBEIEPRBN
BRAR (AT HMER RERR
Jisu Woniu Network Services Media PRC/Mainland China RMB14,000,000 - 100 Property investment, production
(Shenzhen) Co., Limited (note (i))*® Registered capital of network dramas, videos and
films
R ERE BT RE RS RE/HEN AR 14,000,0007C WERE - REPE BAR
BRAR (@) < HMER BY
Xiaolu Dongdong (Shenzhen) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,154,000 - 66 Development of social
Technology Co., Ltd. (note (i))*® Registered capital networking apps
PRRECRINREERER B/ RE R ARE1,154,0007 HEr @R AT
RE(FEE @) e HMER
Yunging Network Technology PRC/Mainland China US$150,000 - 51 Investment holding
(Shanghai) Limited ("Yunging")** Issued capital
EEBanm (LB ARAR (TR~ RE/REN 150,000 % 7T RERR
BETER
Mu77 Network Technology Hong Kong HK$1 - 51 Provision of game publishing
Hongkong Limited Issued capital services
EERHBERBERLA B 18T REBBETRE
BETER

A8 New Media Group Limited
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(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

NalMEBER #)

BRI B AR 2ER @)

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
EiAYe Baf7/ ERREERE
NEER RS- BTN BHEENL TEXHK
Direct Indirect
B# G5
Jiaruiyu (Shenzhen) Information PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100 Property investment
Technology Co., Ltd. (note (i))*® Registered capital
EREESMR(RINERAT e/ HEA ABEH 1,000,000 NERE
(MR ) = EMER
Shanghai Mu77 Network PRC/Mainland China RMB1,111,111 - 51 Game development and
Technology Company Limited Registered capital provision of game publishing
("Mu77SH") (note (i)*@ Services
DR HRERBERRR HE/REN ARELINM MM BRI E R E
(I DBAREE]) (ML () HMER TR
Beierbang Food Technology (Shenzhen) PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 80 Sale of tea products
Co., Ltd. ("Beierbang”)** Registered capital
ERERMEHE (RN RE/REN AR 5,000,000 7 HEREM
BREERA([ERE]) EMER
* The English names of these companies are the direct translations of ARZE R EE Mg S A IER K
their Chinese names as no English names have been registered or are XA FEEEETE P EER
available BiERE
# Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law BRERE EEAMAINEEEDZE
e Registered as domestic limited liability companies under PRC law BERBERTMABRRNEGR AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Note:

@

the current PRC law and regulations limit the provision of
telecommunications value-added services by companies with foreign
ownership, which include activities and services operated by these
companies. In order to enable the Company to make investments in
the telecommunications value-added services in the PRC, the equity
interests in these companies are held by individual nominees on
behalf of the Group and certain structured contracts have been
effectuated:

(1) between Cash River and
(a) Huadong Feitian and its registered shareholders, and
(b) Kuaitonglian and its registered shareholders;

(2) between Finger Fun, Yunhai Qingtian and its registered
shareholders; and

3) between Yunging, Mu77SH and its registered shareholders,

to the effect that the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with these companies and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over these companies. As a
result of the contractual agreements, these companies are accounted
for as subsidiaries of the Company for accounting purposes.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for

the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the

Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs"”) (which
include all IFRSs, International Accounting Standards (“ISA")
and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, which have been measured at fair
value. Disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less cost to sell as further
explained in note 3.3. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first

time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3
Amendments to IAS 16
Amendment to IAS 37

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9,
llustrative Examples accompanying
IFRS 16, and IAS 41

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs are described

below:

(a)

Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework"”) issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
IFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should
refer to IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to business combinations that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there were no
business combinations during the year, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items as
determined by IAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to
items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale of
items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under I1AS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
that contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used
in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative costs
do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled
all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 3.1 @ETBEREEH LIEE @)
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d)  Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 sets out (dy —ZE-—NFE_ZE_ZFEEREIBH

amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as
follows:

o IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group
has applied the amendment prospectively from 1
January 2022. As there was no modification or
exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities during
the year, the amendment did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements.

Amendments to [FRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets

IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' 4

Amendment to IFRS 17 Initial Application of IFRS 17 and
IFRS 9 — Comparative
Information®

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)?

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)?
Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June 2020,

IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits
insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

B An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of IFRS 17
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and
joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e.,
1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification
of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. In 2022, the IASB issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect
the classification of that liability as current or non-current. In
addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures
by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when it has a right to defer
settlement of those liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to IFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an
effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to
ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 3.2 EEMEREAREN Z BEFRE

12

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that
date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity, in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of
the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates or joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments
in the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments
in associates or joint ventures.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEBAR LD A

REBERNAREEARANRE @)

Il

HRBERRZREZERNBERAZ
BRESHRARBER 'E'JK@@%&&%
REED R ZIREEEREER
EARR - EMERMBERT © WAEH
BERBNBEATERSERANKF

2| - NEBIR A FERE REREMA
REBRE - RREERFELHKRIZH
% BEQRRXGLERARZREERR
BRENMKRBHEMSEREZ A FER
B ERENERR PR -

EBEHREE

EBAHTIERBREEAR - X156 6
hEENRENRKBR ZAFER
E RAVFEDNRASEMEENE
B~ NEE R YT BH AT A A K
ENRABNAREBTARBBKRET
ZIRHRE 2 A s N B R FE
ZH e MBREKAHTE - WHEHA
B FERIRE RS T 6 A BB EF
BV FEAG LL DI E 1 8 77 /O FE IR AL
& o WRNRAEZELERUERIIX -

EXREEWNEN—HEHREERRE —
BRAR—BEERE MMEEHE
HEEELNR N EEANER - BlIRT
s —TRER -

Annual Report 2022
f— VT! _—— / / ¥">Z



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEBAR LD A

EBaOtREEE)

BRTERBAENRESELEM (R
SEEEMAR) O @S 7R E TR
B - ReELEM(HIRSELBMAE
A BRI E S R E R AR EE - RIRERRIR
BEE - ERNHEREBBRNER
HAE I A -

WHEE THREReEASEMN (FHIRE
EA BRI R B — BP0 % B ALY ER D
EBELE R EEEBEMNE
BeNETERLERNKRENEIER
AFAZENRAAEN - WIBER THED
HEDRBAMEESERMRENES
EEBEMMBELEEETTE -

AT EN &

AEEREREGHAREATENER
"EME  ERFEFEEHEEFHRIE
HZECREEREAFEFEEEZE)
HAHMEENR SMEE - A TE
ERIEHHME2HRERNERFRS
PHEEEEMRIEEEEASZ W
Big e RFEFENENBREEEE
FEBREBENRINEEXEGENEE
% (EFETSZNBERT)REE
HEENSAENTSET TEREE
MG ERAEEEA LTS - BE
HEBEAFEMNGENREMISLHEE
E/\\ﬁgiﬁﬁzi{gﬁq,a%ﬁvﬁ{]ﬁﬂ%%%
BHEITE o

Annual Report 2022
f— VT! _—— / / ¥">Z



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment
properties and a disposal group classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,
to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which itis a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an
item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful
lives used for this purpose are as follows:

Building 50 years

Computer equipment 3 to 5 years

Furniture, fixtures 3 to 10 years
and office equipment

Motor vehicles 5 years

Building improvements 5to 15 years
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or
amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Trademarks, licences and software

Purchased trademarks, licences and software are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses and
are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of two to ten years.

Music copyrights

Music copyrights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are amortised on
the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of three
years.

Mobile game licences

Mobile game licences represent upfront licence fees paid for
exclusive mobile game development and publishing in a
specified territory. They are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are amortised on
the straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated average
user life of paying players of the respective game and the
licence period.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are amortised using
the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products not exceeding three years, commencing
from the date when the products are put into commercial
production.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful life of an asset as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Office premises 2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(®)

©

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of an office premise
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group'’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows
that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 TE@HEHE 4
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POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage2 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to
adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies
as described above.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial

recognition, as loans and borrowings or payables, as

33 FESTHEME@®

THMAE
NEBARTR

rEEeRABRREZNTVAEDAE
REEEHENK

appropriate.

MESRABNSRAFERR MM

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in

the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly BEERNEEREN BN EEERE
attributable transaction costs. IERGBR °

Subsequent measurement MR

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on TRABENEERSERNNTHSE

their classification as follows:

EREERKAEHE (BEARER)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings K HER% TR ERLREEEZIA
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the EEEF R EIRBERATE  BITESN
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting SERE K - QIR AT EE o 2 AR T
REER ME#FHEEDNBERNE
- W REEeEERRER

would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

ST E B AR R ThaT R R 2 (AT AT
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral G OHE - WRBREERA R UELS
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate ZEBRHIKAN o  IMERMNRATE 2
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of T AR R M B FE A AN AR o

profit or loss.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories comprise finished goods. Inventories are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 T EBeHElE )
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POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Report 2022

—EER

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

33 TEECHBREBE@®

Frig®t

ISR e mAEMELER R - AR
SMERIE B AT RN BEINER - T
WREMEERERAREERNEER
PFERR ©

BHEEEREE  HIREESRMAK
RERE AR ABBEMAOB R (KBBE
) AERBAKREEBIERKNESR
RERE - REHEHEEERE K
NFHEERNERETE

EXEFRBRBREIUNBEHPREE
RBBENREEMREBEMBREOR
E{EZFH A TR ZRA RS -

BEXERBABIA ARG R EZ8
RS 1 NI ILERID -

o  ERMBAEIEE AL IER
BHNXZRINRERBE  BE
IEEMEE  ERRIHALTH
Eest N B ERTAERES
54

o RERMEDEESERNERH
S EEME  EHEHENHEDE
MATES - BRSEBZENT
BRI EHE -

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHEBEBMERAF

137



138

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those services.

Music-related services

Certain music related services are predominantly delivered
through the platforms of various subsidiaries of China Mobile
Communications Corporation (“China Mobile”) and China
United Telecommunications Corporation (“China Unicom”).
These services are substantially billed on a monthly subscription
basis with certain portions billed on a per-message basis (the
“Mobile and Telecom Service Fees”) and the fees are
substantially collected by the subsidiaries of China Mobile and
China Unicom on behalf of the Group.

Gross revenue is recognised based on the Mobile and Telecom
Service Fees, net of the amount of the unreconciled items.

China Mobile and China Unicom are entitled to commissions,
which are calculated based on agreed percentages of the
Mobile and Telecom Service Fees received or receivable by these
mobile operators. In addition, in certain cases, the two mobile
operators charge a network usage fee based on a fixed per-
message fee multiplied by the excess of messages sent over
messages received between the platforms of the Group and
these two mobile operators. These commissions and network
usage fees (collectively referred to as the “Mobile and Telecom
Charges”) are retained by the mobile operators, and are
reflected as cost of services provided in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss of the Group. The Mobile and
Telecom Charges are withheld and deducted from the gross
Mobile and Telecom Service Fees collected by the two mobile
operators from the users, with the net amounts remitted to the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Music-related services (Continued)

The Mobile and Telecom Service Fees and the Mobile and
Telecom Charges, or the net amount of the two, are confirmed
and/or advised by the subsidiaries of China Mobile and China
Unicom to the Group on a regular basis. For revenue whose
amount is not confirmed/advised by the two mobile operators
at the time of reporting the financial results of the Group,
management of the Group estimates the amount receivable
based on historical data, which reflect developing trends in
customer payment delinquencies. Historical data used in
estimating revenues include the most recent history of the
Mobile and Telecom Service Fees actually derived from the
operators, the number of subscriptions and the volume of data
transmitted between the network gateways of the Group,
China Mobile and China Unicom. Adjustments are made in
subsequent periods in case the actual revenue amounts are
different from the original estimates.

Other music-related services revenue are recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the customers
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group.

Management fee income

Revenue from the provision of management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group.

Film and television production

Revenue from film and television production is recognised over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from other sources
Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related services to the
customer).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date. Employee entitlements to
sick and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 7% to 16% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Annual Report 2022

R FFR

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

33 TEECHBREBE@®

BEER
EE R BRER

BRENFHRENIREERZARRE
R-ASEHERBEREHLEECE
KRB MELNFROGEFAEER
Bim - BENRBREREEREELA
IRIRES 77 THERR ©

BRASFE

AEERBEEEBRHERES S ERA
RAEER2ERESHENEERIYTE
B TR B A TR 2 RKAE N E S (M58
Bestdl]) HFREEEAF SN —
EADLAEL - WRIRERE S E W
RERNSERGEMAEMEE KRS0
Bre RSt ElMEERARBNEE
DHFEANRBYUEENESS - AEH
METHFEABESHEIHAKTE
FENES -

REBEPREAELE ZHBRRNE
BNEZNBEMTRTEEZPRE
Lot c BETFTRAFEMPREE
SEEBMNETERN RN 7% E16% °
KR IR P R IK & 51 81 A 37 IR FE A
Rt ABEE o

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHEBEBMERAF

143



144

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Equity compensation benefits

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using the binomial option pricing model, further details
of which are given in note 31 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 TE@HEHE 4
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POLICIES (Continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is the Hong Kong
dollar. Because most of the subsidiaries’ functional currencies
are RMB, the presentation currency of the Company in the
financial statements is RMB. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the Company and
the subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss is translated into RMB
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of operations with functional currencies other
than RMB are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of these operations which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

4.

The preparation of the financial statements requires

management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions

that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets

and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the

disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could

require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the

assets or liabilities affected in the future.

()

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Accounting for companies governed under
contractual arrangements as subsidiaries

As mentioned in note 1 to the financial statements, A8
New Media Group Limited does not have equity
ownership in certain subsidiaries of the Group (collectively
the “Subsidiaries under Contractual Agreements”).
Nevertheless, under the contractual agreements entered
into between the Subsidiaries under Contractual
Agreements, their respective registered owners and
certain subsidiaries of the Company, management has
determined that the Company is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with these
Subsidiaries under Contractual Agreements and has the
ability to affect these returns through its power over these
Subsidiaries under Contractual Agreements. As such, the
Subsidiaries under Contractual Agreements and their
respective subsidiaries are accounted for as subsidiaries of
the Company for accounting purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

0]

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the
Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately or leased out separately under a
finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to
determine whether ancillary services are so significant that
a property does not qualify as an investment property.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

()

(i)

Judgements (Continued)
Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors have reviewed the Group's
investment property portfolio and concluded that the
Group's investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred tax on investment
properties, the directors have determined that the
presumption set out in IAS 12 /Income Taxes that
investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered through sale is rebutted. In addition, in
measuring the deferred tax liability on investment
properties, the directors have made judgement on the tax
rate that is expected to apply when the liability is settled
based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 7 Y R

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. &= Ae=tHE R GsEt @)
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
HE REAEE (2)

(ii) Estimation uncertainty (Continued) (ii)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are revalued at the end of the
reporting period on a market value, existing use basis by
independent professionally qualified valuers. These
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimation, information from
current prices in an active market for similar properties is
considered and assumptions are mainly based on the
capitalisation of net rental income derived from the
existing tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary
income potential of the properties. Further details are
given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Measurement of financial assets at fair value

When the fair values of financial assets recorded in the
statement of financial position cannot be derived from
active markets, their fair values are determined using
valuation techniques including the use of comparable
recent arm’s length transactions and other valuation
techniques commonly used by other market participants.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a
degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values.
The judgements include considerations of inputs such as
the implied equity value, volatility and risk-free rate.
Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect
the reported fair value of financial instruments. Further
details are included in note 37 to the financial statements.
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(ii) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. &= Ae=tHE R GsEt @)
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
(ii) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(O IREEREESESE )

Provision for expected credit losses (“ECL"”) on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. As appropriate, the
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The
Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is
disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. Further details are given
in note 17 to the financial statements.
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

5.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services and has two reportable operating
segments as follows:

(@  the cultural business (“Cultural Business”) segment
engages in the provision of (1) music-based
entertainment; and (2) film and television production in
the PRC; and

(b)  the property investment (“Property Investment”) segment
invests in properties for rental and management fee
income in the PRC.

During the year, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement to dispose of its game development and publishing
business which was included in the Cultural Business segment
in the year ended 31 December 2021. Since the game
development and publishing business represented a major line
of Cultural Business segment, the game development and
publishment business was regarded as a discontinued operation
in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations. Accordingly, the related financial
information of the game development and publishing business
was not included in the operating segment information from
the continuing operations and the comparative information was
also reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.
Further details of the discontinued operation are set out in note
11 to the financial statements.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax from
continuing operations. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax from
continuing operations except that bank interest income, non-
lease-related finance costs and corporate and other unallocated
income and expenses, net are excluded from such
measurement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &EHEELE #)
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December

BE+=-A=+—HL

Cultural Business Property Investment Total
XER NERE L
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

SECSENETS St E R S e s T Nt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT AR%TR ARBTT AR¥TR AR%T:R

(Restated) (Restated)
(EZit) (&Eit)
Segment revenue AEA 1,676 2,246 77,475 78,110 79,151 80,356
Cost of services provided TR IR A (1,736) (3,641) (16,519) (16,563) (18,255) (20,204)
Gross profit/(loss) ER/(£8) (60) (1,395) 60,956 61,547 60,896 60,152
Segment results S (14293) 16606 57962 48480 43,669 65086
Recondiliation: ik
Bank interest income RITMEBA 8,534 10,867
Finance costs (other than BBER(RHEE
interest on lease liabilities)  &f&2Fl8) - (670)
Corporate and other ARREMKAE
unallocated income WARFY F58
and expenses, net (42,118) (10,751)
Profit before tax from BEREEE
continuing operations BRAE A A 10,085 64,532
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. REDILER )
(Continued)
Cultural Business Property Investment Total
XILE% NERE L]
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

S el o el B = o BT e S = — I N R
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETT AR®TR ARETT ARETR ARETRT

(Restated) (Restated)
(Zit) (Eat)
Other segment information Eft1% &%
Depreciation and amortisation #7175 kK #ksH
— operating segments — ZENE 1,338 4,294 - - 1,338 4,294
— corporate — RAIAEY 4,612 4,589
5,950 8,883
Capital expenditure® BAS M+ 59 310 - N 59 310
Fair value loss/(gain) on REMEZATER
investment properties Bx/ (is) - - (2,000) 10,000 (2,000) 10,000
Equity-settled share option ~ LAER#E
expense BIRIER X
— operating segments — ZEAE - 203 - - - 203
— corporate —RRAIAY - 1,447
- 1,650

Share of profits and losses P ¥EHA AR FI

of associates, net RER 38 5797 30,307 - - 5,797 30,307
Impairment losses recognised Wi X A2

in the statement of profit ~ JFEE%

or loss 16,000 3,382 - - 16,000 3,382
Investments in associates RS AT ZRE 289,487 299,690 - - 289,487 299,690
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * EAXHEEME - BE R mrosgm -
equipment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &KREDEER ®)
(Continued)
Geographical information g (5 B
Over 90% of the Group's revenue from external customers is REBEB 0% WATIEE B AEEF
derived from the Group’s operations in the PRC, and no non- EBERINBREE » UARARER I ENR
current assets (excluding financial instruments and deferred tax BN IERPHEE (TRES/MT A
assets) of the Group are located outside the PRC. BRI EE) o
Information about major customers FEEFER
The Group had no single external customer from which the BAERFERMAEBRZFERLFE
revenue amounted to over 10% of the Group's total revenue B A10% KA EEHESE -

for the current and prior year.

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WA - HAbUr A R as
An analysis of revenue from continuing operations is as follows: B EREERGADITOT :
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARKETT
(Restated)
(&)
Revenue from contracts with customers Z2F & # WA
Music-based entertainment EE3UN 1,635 2,221
Film and television production TAARME 41 25
Management services M E IR RS 16,791 17,635
18,467 19,881
Revenue from other sources HnsRFEHA
Gross rental income from investment RAEREMELEHELLA -
property operating leases:
Variable lease payments that do JEBURA A —IBIEIE 5 b K
not depend on an index or a rate BEBAENK 1,394 1,427
Other lease payments, including HEMBENZ  BEETENER
fixed payments 59,290 59,048
60,684 60,475
79,151 80,356
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BEEEHWA

(i) ZHERAEHR

6. WA ~ A K as o)

BE-Z_—_f+=-HA=+—HL

Cultural Property
Segments Wi business investment Total
XALEZE WERE #zE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR®TRT AR%®TR
Types of services PRI EAE
Music-based entertainment = UGN 1,635 - 1,635
Film and television production FARBEIRA 41 = 41
Management services IEX-BER VT ON - 16,791 16,791
Total revenue from contracts EREAHBIKA
with customers 1,676 16,791 18,467
Timing of revenue recognition Y A #2528 i 8 26
Over time i = U AR 1,676 16,791 18,467
Total revenue from contracts BEEHEA
with customers 1,676 16,791 18,467
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Restated) Bz —4%+-_A=+—8H
(Euh)
Cultural Property
Segments B business  investment Total
XALEZE L E g} Rk
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARETRT AREFTT
Types of services PR 7% g A
Music-based entertainment = UGN 2,221 - 2,221
Film and television production TARBEW A 25 - 25
Management services Y3 E BRI - 17,635 17,635
Total revenue from contracts BEALBITA
with customers 2,246 17,635 19,881
Timing of revenue recognition UX A HE:Z R 2,
Over time N—ERBEfE A 2,246 17,635 19,881
Total revenue from contracts BEAXBITA
with customers 2,246 17,635 19,881
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(Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 7 Y R

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the

operating segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

WA~ B A R s ()

BEFEHWA#)

() DHFBWAER(E)

BEPAHRARDH

BEEROT ¢

MERRENS

BE"F__Ft+-A=t+—HL

Cultural Property
Segments 2 =B business investment Total
XALEZE WMERE #zE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR¥TR AR%®TrR
Revenue from contracts KARBEHNEFR
with customers
External customers GNERR P 1,676 16,791 18,467
Total revenue from contracts EPEOBIKA
with customers 1,676 16,791 18,467

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Restated)

B Z-—4F+-A=+—H1t

(&Euh)
Cultural Property
Segments paR= business  investment Total
XALEZE YR E B8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTFIT ARETTT ARETIT
Revenue from contracts WARBEHNEF
with customers
External customers HNERE 2,246 17,635 19,881
Total revenue from contracts BEAEHBIA
with customers 2,246 17,635 19,881
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

6.

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

0]

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised from continuing operations in the current
reporting period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and
recognised from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods:

6. WA ~ A K as o)

BEEEHWA @)

0}

DIHFBAER (F)

TREIINBERICTHFAEGHNE
BERAEHEBENEECETOR
AR ERRDBNKAFELLEERD
M R 78 -

2022 2021
=0 = —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%T R ARETFT
(Restated)
(&)
Revenue recognised that was included ~ R¥REHVIE T AA D BER
in contract liabilities at the beginning ERERUE -
of the reporting period:
Music-based entertainment EEJVON 35 60
Performance obligations (i) EHERE

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Music-based entertainment

The performance obligation is satisfied by rendering of
music-related entertainment services to the customers and
payment is generally due within 60 days from the date of
billing.

Management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
presentation of invoice.

Film and television production

The performance obligation is satisfied by rendering of
film and television production and distribution services
and payment is generally due within 20 days from the
date of billing.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains from

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

6. WA -~ EMITA K @)

AEEREFELEXEBHNEBEBTR

continuing operations is as follows: ARWERmAITET
2022 2021
ol s e e
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARETTT
(Restated)
(&)
Bank interest income HRITH BN 8,534 10,867
Dividend income from financial assets DEWERNE A EGFER
at fair value through profit or loss HEEFABRZZEMEE 1,261 29,763
Dividend income from a financial asset DEWERRIE A FESFZEAA
at fair value through other BEFTALMEREREZ
comprehensive income BRLEE 2,002 3,000
Fair value gain on investment properties HEMEMELNTFEYS 2,000 =
Government grant* RIS fe B * 1,737 2,600
Foreign exchange gain B 5, e 1,367 -
16,901 46,230
* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these * WL A AL FH B ARBITIRM3EL

grants.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING s

7.

OPERATIONS

The Group's profit before tax from continuing operation is

arrived at after charging/(crediting):

i

FAl

R E X Z RPN E T

AREBF B E X BL AR M T
Mk, (GtA) TFIEB R :

2022 2021
—-g—- SEd——¢3
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARBTT
Notes (Restated)
o 5E (FEit)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BB MR EITE
equipment* 5,251 7,831
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 323 323
Amortisation of intangible assets* A R 376 729
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEAEASEN
measurement of lease liabilities HERR 39 29
Auditor’s remuneration Z S e & 1,204 1,120
Employee benefit expense* (including EERAMRXY *
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): (BIEEZHI] (ME9))
Wages, salaries and bonuses I& - #Faehita 10,833 7,024
Staff education fee BIHEKE 28 3
Welfare, medical and other expenses w/A - BERHEMEE 620 542
Contributions to social security plans e REFEI R
(defined contribution scheme)® (EREHRETED" 1,311 997
Equity-settled share option expense DA 2 B ER - 1,650
12,792 10,216
Foreign exchange differences, net** P& S U - FEE (1,367) 1,296
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of FEW R FORE, R E R ] **
trade receivables** 23 1,806 (35)
Impairment of investments in —KEE A RIRERE >
associates** 19 16,000 3,378
Impairment of financial assets FTATERBRFR - Hh IR
included in prepayments, HWEEZSMEERE
other receivables and other assets** BB R ** 24 - 39
Mobile and Telecom Charges* BEREEE 258 329
Direct operating expenses (including EERSWANEE MY E
repairs and maintenance) arising from HWEEBEKEER
rental-earning investment properties* (BiE#ENRE)* 16,519 16,562
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME - WER&#E
plant and equipment** Yk * 9 (20)
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment LR EENFEEL
properties** (Uizk) *= 15 (2,000) 10,000
Fair value losses on financial assets at BEAFEGFEALE
fair value through profit or loss** AR EREE
NEEEE 31,980 34,072
Government grants* S Eh (2,337) (4,500)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING 7. HEKEEL 2B AR A
OPERATIONS (continued) (4&)

# During the year ended 31 December 2022, government grants of (i)
RMB1,737,000 are included in “Other income and gains”; and (ii)
RMB600,000 are included in “Cost of services provided”, on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, government grants of (i)
RMB100,000 are included in “Selling and marketing expenses”; (ii)
RMB2,600,000 are included in “Other income and gains”; and (iii)
RMB 1,800,000 are included in “Cost of services provided”, on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Various government grants have been received for developing the
cultural industry in Shenzhen in relation to Shenzhen’s government
policy. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to
these grants. Government grants received for which related
expenditure has not been recognised are included in deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

i The cost of services rendered for the year amounted to
RMB 18,255,000 (2021: RMB20,204,000) and included depreciation
of property, plant and equipment of RMB1,311,000 (2021:
RMB3,601,000), mobile and telecom charges of RMB258,000 (2021:
RMB329,000), employee benefit expense of RMB546,000 (2021:
RMB495,000), amortisation intangible assets of RMB376,000 (2021:
RMB729,000), and direct operating expenses arising from rental-
earning investment properties of RMB16,519,000 (2021:
RMB16,562,000), netted off with government grants of RMB600,000
(2021: RMB1,800,000).

** Included in “Other expenses, net” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group
as the employer to reduce its contributions in future years (2021: Nil).

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as
follows:

HE= ?::iﬂ-:ﬂiﬂ-—ﬁﬂ:ﬁfﬁ'
REREBERBEIAG AR 1,737,000
fn“ﬁ')\ [E A R aF8E ] R(i)A
¥ 600,000 7T A [TRAEARTEAC AR | ©

@é:?:—¢+:ﬂz+—5¢¢§

AEFEKRBEAG) AR 100,000 7T
ﬁ)\rfﬁ%&mi%%ﬁﬁsﬂij (PN
2,600,000 TTaT Al AU A K a5 H 58 ]
& (iii) A FR # 1,800,000 T 5T A [ R4 AR 75
A o

BRI Z I8 A BRI T IR IR R A IR
B ABRIRI TR UL ES - BIEE B
EHBRNRER ZEHRHEER - B
HR 1B i R HE R AR B B S M) BRI 48 B R AR
BTSN R REIE RS o

FRRMERBKA AAKRYE 18,255,0007T
(ZZF=——%: AR#¥20,204,0007T) ' &
FPEEVE BERESEINEARYE
1,311,000 —Z T = —F: AR ¥
3,601,0007T) BBAMEEFERARK
258,0007T ( =& — — 4 : 329,0007C )
8 T8 F #546,000T( — & = — 4 :
495,0007T) * #EF A E#$4376,0007T(=
T —4 :729,0007T) - MEUEEMIRE
MEMEMELANEELERERAARE
16,519,000( Z T = —F: AR ¥
16,562,000 7T ) + Ll & FE 4K 45 BUAT 48 B)
AR#600,000(—ZE-—F: ARK
1,800,0007T) °

REEaBRERFTA THEMHAX - F8E] -

ARABAREARARAR AR NEER
BORMZ MR (ZFE——F &) -

52

REFBREEBORBERANAT

2022 2021
—F-= T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETFT
(Restated)

(Eit)

Interest on bank loans RITEEZFE

- 670
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S o
REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), section 383(1) (a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

(a) Directors’ remuneration

R

s hERZSFHAL

RIEBRBEE X ZAARA R ([BRR
S EZ EMARR (T EMmRR]) RE
B R 25 383(1)(@) ~ (b) ~ () R () 15
ARAB(HBESMmER) RHIF2
BATHENFARAEZNMESOT

(a) EEM2
2022 2021
—E-CF& —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Fees o 380 366
Other emoluments: Hit® g -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ¥& - ZELNEWHIE 3,923 557
Performance related bonuses EBURRBEEA 413 62
Equity-settled share option expense LA A E v IR ER = - 1,446
Pension scheme contributions BIRGHEIH 160 141
4,496 2,206
4,876 2,572

In the prior year, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group under
the share option schemes of the Company. The fair value
of these options, which had been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the vesting
period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the financial statements for the prior
years was included in the above directors’ remuneration
disclosures. Further details are set out in note 31 to the
financial statements.

No share options were granted to the directors in the
current year.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEBAR LD A

RE—FE  RIEARABRAET
g ReBEgERAEEIRMR
R EEE - ZFBREN QT
BNREE BHEE YR TERA
EHRABEERER MR LEFEY
BHRRINENEREFALMES
MM E - EZFBARPBR
HFFE3T ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

(i) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive

Annual Report 2022

R FFR

directors during the year were as follows:

LR S E R

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

shABEEHAL

9. E=TN

(%)

(a) EEM= @)

0)

BYFITES

FARRABLIFNATEES

EmEmT

Equity-settled
share option

Total

Fees expense remuneration
DREREEZ
Hue BRERX 7L
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AR®T T AR®T R
2022 —E-=
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong BRI St 5 A 173 - 173
Ms. Wu Shihong REARuL 103 - 103
Mr. Li Feng* 3oy 78 - 78
Mr. Gao Shenglin** RS * 26 - 26
380 - 380
2021 —E-—F
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong BRIB S A& 166 172
Ms. Wu Shihong RERIZE 100 105
Mr. Li Feng* g St * 100 105
366 16 382
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRIWEENBIIFRTE
independent non-executive directors during the year EvEME (- —F
(2021 Nil). &) -
* Mr. Li Feng resigned as an independent non-executive * FUELEFARARIB I

director of the Company with effect from 20

September 2022.

*x Mr. Gao Shenglin was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect

from 20 September 2022.

* %

WITESHG - 58202249
HA20B 4% -

BEMEEEZTREART
BUIHITES - 52022
FOF20HEEM -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

9. E=TN

(%)

shABEEIHAL

(a) E=M<E (=)

(ii) Executive directors and the chief executive HTEEREFEITE
Salaries, Equity-
allowances  Performance settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme Total
in kind bonuses expense  contributions remuneration
ge 28 & NERLEE B
RENHE BEBEL BRELHX B Wehsn
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETR AR%TR ARETT AR%TR
2022 —E-CE
Executive directors: HITES !
Mr. Liu Xiaosong =2V e
("Mr. Liu")* (2154 ])* 3,258 354 - 21 3,633
Mr. Ji Bo*** BRfEE 665 59 - 139 863
3,923 413 - 160 4,496
2021 —E--F
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Liu Xiaosong =2V e
(“Mr. Liu")* (T81%5ED* 120 - 1,430 12 1,562
Mr. Lin Qian** IE S 190 - - 70 260
Mr. Ji Bo*** A 247 62 - 59 368
557 62 1,430 141 2,190
* Mr. Liu is also the chief executive of the Company. * BRI ERBEERARERE

*x Mr. Lin Qian resigned as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 15 July 2021.

***  Mr. Ji Bo was appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 15 July 2021.

The above directors and chief executive’s
remuneration only included during the tenure of
each director and chief executive of the Company.

During the year, the board of directors of the
Company had approved the remuneration structure
adjustment proposal of Mr. Liu according to which
his remuneration package had adjusted to be cash
remuneration rather than non-cash consideration,
such as grant of share options.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 7 Y R

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EEMeRAERTRFAL
REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST (4%)
PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EBBEHAL
The five highest paid individuals included two (2021: two) IFZBRaF ATEEME(ZE
directors, details of whose remuneration are set out T RRB)EET EFHMNFIS
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three HENEX - BT =F(ZFB=_—%F:
(2021: three) non-director, highest paid individuals for the =R)IFEERSHFA T ZHMFE
year are as follows: B -
2022 2021
=== —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR¥ETE

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind #& ~ ZBE N EDF 1,668 1,328

Performance related bonuses ERRRITEAL - 107

Pension scheme contributions RIREHEIHE R 347 295
2,015 1,730

The number of non-director, highest paid individuals MEeBUATHEZIEEEZIHFA

whose remuneration fell within the following band is as TAEMT

follows:

Number of employees

EEAH

2022 2021

- —F—F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ %% 1,000,000 7T 3 3
(c) During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no () R=ZTE——F+-A=+—HEK=
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors, or E-—F+-A=+—H xEEH
any of the non-director, highest paid individuals as an TEAEZNIMIEESEDHA
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as T AHERE S VE RS LA
compensation for loss of office nor has any director or SRS INARE B 2 £2E) =k B
non-director, highest paid individual waived or agreed to BHE TEAAMESEHEXR

waive any emoluments. BERETME -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

10. INCOME TAX

10.

The PRC enterprise income tax has been provided at the
statutory tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%), except for a subsidiary
which was entitled to a preferential rate on the estimated
assessable income arising in the PRC during the year.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. In the prior year, Hong Kong profits tax
had been provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during that year, except
for one subsidiary of the Group which was a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of this subsidiary arising in
Hong Kong were taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable
profits were taxed at 16.5%.

PTiE®i

B b E PTG TR HOE TE 7 % 25% (2021
F:25%) AHERME - R EIREARES
BELNGTERRBAZTERENR R
B — R B A BRI -

HREEARFERTEBSEE T MER
wmA - EREHREBFEREES -
EE—FEF AEEN—XKFRAREH
FENESHMAES THEERETEN -
REBEBAEENMEFEIREFE
Z165% MEMELHBEE - ZTRAE
2,000,000 3 TR & 78 1) FE T B i 7 1%
8.25% Bt % &t B K T 4 FE 5F B i F 4%
16.5% 5T °

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARKETT
Current — PRC BIH — b
Charge for the year FAZH 10,227 14,517
Deferred (note 29) PEIE (BI5E29) (22,149) (10,643)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year SIB S EBRTSH
from continuing operations M/ (E%)E: (11,922) 3,874
Total tax charge for the year from — IR B E TG PSR
a discontinued operation Fx &5t
Charge for the year — Hong Kong FAZE — BB - 72
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FARBAY(KE) B3 (11,922) 3,946

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEBAR LD A
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10.

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit

before tax at the statutory rate for the PRC, in which the

principal place of business of the Company and the majority of

its subsidiaries is located, to the tax charge/(credit) at the

effective tax rate is as follows:

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H
FTiS Tt (#)

AR E REATS I A 7 5B A
R 7 R B POt E AT B AR BLR
HENBESE, () RER B
HOBIES, () HHBEMT ;

2022 2021
=L3E =t —T-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Profit before tax from continuing operations — F4E4% % %78~ B B BT Al 10,085 64,532
Loss before tax from a discontinued operation —IB#X |FACE 75 2 BT RTEE (8,050) (5,136)
2,035 59,396
Tax at the PRC's statutory tax rate of 25% LHRBEAM25% (ZF=—F : 25%)
(2021: 25%) EEEM R E 2 HIEX H 509 14,849
Effect of different tax rates for or enacted FREEATRAMENTZE
by other jurisdictions/local authorities 66 (470)
Preferential tax rate BEHE (84) 601
Super-deduction of eligible research and 3 T 0k
development expenditure - (994)
Income not subject to tax BIARBUA (2,014) (7,417)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR HF R 7,210 3,283
Profits and losses attributable to associates 9 #EEE & N B8 (1,449) (7,577)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods LA BRfEI A TE g5 18 (2,515) (343)
Tax losses not recognised RERRBIRBE 1,158 2,008
Temporary differences recognised BREREER (14,803) -
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's BASEZBEBRMETE Y
effective rate BEZE/ (ER) (11,922) 3,946
Tax charge/(credit) from continuing BAREBEBERREFEREFE
operations at the Group’s effective rate REEB I RERS (ER) (11,922) 3,874
Tax charge from a discontinued BRAREBERNEFERELIL
operation at the Group's effective rate LR FHIEM Y - 72

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
RMB2,369,000 (2021: RMB5,550,000) is included in “Share of
profits and losses of associates, net” in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 1. BERLEES
On 23 December 2022, the Group entered into an equity A = = = B = S
transfer agreement with the other shareholders of A% B HEHBlueowlgames Limited
Blueowlgames Limited (“Blueowlgames”) and Shanghai Mu77 ([ Blueowlgames |) & /8K #845 %
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Mu77"), pursuant to FARAR ([ EBRE+E]) B9E 4K
which the Group agreed to sell its 51% equity interests in WA IS EEE R B AEEFE
Blueowlgames and Shanghai Mu77 at considerations of = [7) E Ath B R 1 & Blueowlgames & £
RMB286,000 and RMB346,000, respectively, to the other BREES1%HIE  RESIRA
shareholders. Blueowlgames and Shanghai Mu77 are principally R ¥ 286,000t & A K ¥ 346,000 7T °
engaged in game development and game publishing services Blueowlgames & L/ R FE EH FE
(collectively referred to as “Disposed Game Development and B B B R R B 1T ARG (5 [ B & ek
Publishing Services”) and represented a major line of the 2 REBETRIE])  BAEEZE D E0
Group's business in the Cultural Business segment for operating BRIV EEZ TGER  ME s
segment information and the Disposed Game Development and B R BETRIEERABE R IEER -
Publishing Services was regarded as a discontinued operation. 1 & Blueowlgames & F/8 R+ ERA
The disposal of Blueowlgames and Shanghai Mu77 was MEHRBETK - ZBEBHE BRNEBRE
completed subsequent to the end of the reporting period. The BstEl 280 NEFHEEER B
disposal is part of the Group’s strategic plan to reallocate its SHEERZ -
resources to fit its business plan.
The results of the Disposed Game Development and Publishing He2—_E-_—_FN_FT-_—F+=A1
Services for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are —T—HLEFE LEEEAZEERET
presented below: RIS EENT -
2022 2021
—E-—fF —E—F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 AR®TR ARETT
Revenue A 9,250 7,507
Cost of services provided AR (1,943) (1,944)
Gross profit E7 7,307 5,563
Other income and gains HA WA Rz 337 235
Impairment of goodwill EESEAE (9,278) -
Expenses Fx (6,403) (10,914)
Finance costs B RS RN (13) (20)
Loss before tax from the discontinued BRI B RBIATEE
operation (8,050) (5,136)
Income tax expense FTiS Bk 10 - (72)
Loss for the year from the discontinued B4 IF 2B ENEE
operation (8,050) (5,208)

A8 New Media Group Limited
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposed Game
Development and Publishing Services classified as held for sale

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

1. ERIEERE @)

RTZA=+—B2BRRFHELEND
EERFAERBETRENEERAGBZ

as at 31 December are as follows: FEHRT :
2022 2021
= 1==0 SEE S —&E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Assets BE
Trade receivables B S UK 6 -
Prepayments, other receivables and BRI  EtERGRREMEE
other assets 66 =
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 480 =
Assets classified as held for sale NRAREHENEE 552 -
Liabilities EfE
Other payables and accruals Hib R RE R ERTE A 4,670 -
Liabilities directly associated with BEEESBEARELENEERH
the assets classified as held for sale ME&E 4,670 -
Net liabilities directly associated with BEERENESEEENEETE
the disposed group (4,118) -

The net cash flows incurred by the Disposed Game Development

RERBRAZERBTREMEENRS

and Publishing Services are as follows: MEFFA DN
2022 2021
—EB-C—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFT
Operating activities B RE) (4,853) (2,517)
Investing activities REES) 329 3,892
Financing activities BEEE (198) 617
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BenrA/ (Ri)F58 (4,722) 1,992

Loss per share: BlREE

Basic, from the discontinued operation ~ EZAGR & KA LK LK RMB A B RMB A R#&

0.32 cents L 0.10 cents L
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

11.

12.

13.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

The calculations of basic loss per share from the discontinued

11.

B IEFE®)

IREEBZBRERERIIER A

operation are based on: Ta ®
2022 2021
—E-—fF —T-—F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Loss attributable to ordinary equity REKIEEEBTBR
holders of the parent from the AT RRERE ANBX
discontinued operation (8,652) (2,657)
2022 2021
—E-—fF —E-—F
‘000 ‘000
TR T
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ IR ER AR IFELEBER
shares in issue during the year used in HAEBEHNERND BITTERY
the basic loss per share from s (fEE13)
discontinued operation calculation
(note 13) 2,719,733 2,701,536

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share from
discontinued operation presented for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 in respect of a dilution as the impact
of the share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on
the basic loss per share from discontinued operation presented.

DIVIDENDS

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of shares in issue during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEBAR LD A

12.

13.

HRARRMAITEBBRESDE25 2
RERITEEEGSRERNBESEA
EREBEZE  QMUERBEEHMZT
MEBEE S -_—_FR-_FT-—F+=A
—t—HIEFEMNRABRIEEEERS

RERSBEIEHAR -

R B,

HE T+ _-_A=+—HI*F
B ARARXDKREENRBE (ZF
T F ).

0|

AT BRI B A

H&m \|J

R

II

BREAZFSBEIIREARD LB
ESEEARGRE_T-_—_F1+=-A
=+ HLEFERE#EE-ZE-_—F+=
A=+—RHLEFEFBERFNECHEITYE
BN EEE -

Annual Report 2022
f— VT! _—— / / ¥">Z



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

PARENT (Continued)

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is

based on the profit for the year attributable to the ordinary

equity holders of the Company and the total of (i) the weighted

average number of ordinary shares as used in the basic earnings

per share calculation, and (ii) the weighted average number of

ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no

consideration on the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential

ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

13. A el EBBERS A ARG

BREM 2)

BREERNSEDNREARR EARK
BEKBARGFENE  AROER
EHETEBBNEFOH(BRESHRER
BFFE) - RiBRRITERSAEES
PR B R B ER RN EERTNE
AR EY I BT E o

ARRABEREARENMNEREERN S

based on: BTENRATEE -
2022 2021
—E-—HF e —4%2
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Earnings BEF|
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable REsTESRERET]
to ordinary equity holders kST aep [ oFINN]
of the Company for the purpose LBRERFEA
of basic and diluted earnings FE(RERFE,(EE) :
per share calculation
From continuing operations BRELCEEL 21,871 60,682
From a discontinued operation B —IBA R AT (8,652) (2,657)
13,219 58,025

Number of shares

[iE
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E—F
‘000 000
FR Tz
Shares [ gviy
Weighted average number of ordinary BT EBRERBINFA
shares in issue during the year used in BT E B INE 8
the basic earnings per share calculation 2,719,733 2,701,536
Effect of dilution — weighted average BmEFE — TEKe
number of ordinary shares: INHEFIIEL -
Share options B 34,007 4,601
2,753,740 2,706,137
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 1% - W K&kt
Furniture,
fixtures
Computer and office Motor Building
Building equipment equipment vehicles  improvements Total
i RER
£ e B BAERE Ef NERE @it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR

31 December 2022 —E-CE+-A=t-H
At 1 January 2022: RZZ-—%-f-R:
Cost KA 131,848 11,382 12437 994 21,657 178,318
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (22,108) (11,091) (7,765) (994) (16,812) (58,770)
Net carrying amount KEFE 109,740 291 4672 - 4,845 119,548
At 1 January 2022, net of RZE-—f-f-H
accumulated depreciation NBEHNE 109,740 291 4,672 - 4,845 119,548
Additions HE - 19 40 - - 59
Disposals RE - (16) @) - - @3)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FRTE (3,014) (18) (1,337) - (894) (5,263)
At 31 December 2022, net of R-E--E+-f=+-A
accumulated depreciation NRENE 106,726 276 3,348 - 3,951 114,301
At 31 December 2022: R-E--E+-R=1-R:
Cost A 131,848 10,932 12,409 994 21,656 171,839
Accumulated depreciation 2:ME (25,122 (10,656) (9,061) (994) (17,705) (63,538)
Net carrying amount REFE 106,726 276 3388 - 3,951 114,301
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

14. Y% - BB M&E @)

(Continued)
Furniture,
fixtures
Computer and office Motor Building
Building equipment equipment vehicles  improvements Total
Fih RER
BF EHRE  BLERE £ WxEE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  AREBTR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR
31 December 2021 —E--f+-A=+-R
At 1 January 2021: RZZ=-4-A-B:
Cost i 131,848 11,886 12437 994 21,366 178,531
Accurnulated depreciation ZitHhE (19,093) (10,761) (6,195) (994) (14,351) (51,394)
Net carrying amount EEYE 112,755 1,125 6,42 n 7015 127,137
At 1 January 2021, net of RZEZ-5-f-H
accumulated depreciation hEqTE 112,755 1,125 6,242 - 7015 127,137
Additions RE - 19 - - 291 310
Disposals RE - (25 - - - (25
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ERHTE (3,015) (828) (1,570) - (2.461) (7.874)
At 31 December 2021, net of RZEZ-%+-f=1-H
accumulated depreciation NBEHNE 109,740 291 4672 - 4,845 119,548
At 31 December 2021: R-Z--5+-A=1-0:
Cost R 131,848 11382 12437 994 21,657 178,318
Accumulated depreciation ZiiTE (22,108) (11,091) (7,765) (994) (16,812) (58,770)
Net carmying amount BEFE 109,740 291 4672 - 4,845 119,548
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. I E MW

2022 2021

=== —F-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T AREFT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—H—BZKRAEE 412,000 422,000
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment WEMEYE 7 N EEMNES(18%)

properties 2,000 (10,000)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+t-ZA=+—HZEKEE 414,000 412,000

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2022 and 2021 based on valuations performed by
Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent professionally qualified
valuer.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included
in note 16 to the financial statements.

The valuations of investment properties were based on the
capitalisation of net rental income derived from the existing
tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the properties.

Each year, the Group’s management decides to appoint which
external valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of
the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group’'s management has
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results twice a year when the valuation is performed
for interim and annual financial reporting.

In the opinion of the directors, the current use of the investment
properties is their highest and best use. The investment
properties measured at fair value in the aggregate carrying
amounts of RMB414,000,000 and RMB412,000,000 as at 31
December 2022 and 2021, respectively, are subject to
restrictions on sale and transfer.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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AEEZREVER_FT__FR-_F
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R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES(Continued) 15. WEMWZ= @
Fair value hierarchy NEEEZER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement AEBKREUMEN A FEAF WK ¢

hierarchy of the Group's investment properties:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2022 using
AVEHE
R-B--&+-A=+-HfEA
Quoted

prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

ERMS BX BEX

ZHE ABZE2H FUEESH
(FR1) (%#2) (%43) Bzt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR  ARTRT  AR®TR  ARETR

Recurring fair value measurement for: IR AFETE ¢
Commercial buildings YN - - 414,000 414,000

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2021 using
ATEHE
R-ZE-—-F+-A=1+—HBER

Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

HBTS BX BR

258 IBR2H  FUHE2Y
(FH1) (£852) (%43) @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTL ARBT ARBTT  ARETT

Recurring fair value measurement for: BB A F(EEH &

Commercial buildings YN - - 412,000 412,000
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RAEE  F—RBEF_EBEIEN
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers TEAEER  F=ENEATETE
into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil). BAREL (22 -—F &) -
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. RE MW= @)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) P ESERE)
Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the REEYEFBGEEMGEEES
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: ABRBEn T -
Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs Weighted average
ER % EXFABRBAER I
2022 2021
o S o £ =Ee
Commercial buildings Income approach Estimated rental value RMB135 to RMB135 to
(per sg.m. per month) RMB285 RMB260
YN W& A REETAIREA) AR®135T  ARE135T
EAR¥285 T ZARK2607T
Rental growth rate (per annum) 2.3% 3.0%
HeERX(5F)
Discount rate 7.4% 8.2%
A%
A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value BEFKGEAHELESFIREXREF
per square metre and the rental growth rate per annum in AIEEANCRid) A BEHRIEEEMER
isolation would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the SEEE AN GRL D) o FTIR R B IF AR 1
fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/ MmO T EBIREMERFEKNR
(decrease) in the discount rate in isolation would result in a GRA) /e —fm=s - [HEHEER
significant decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment BEEHeENHSFERERBIBERN
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for the FRIEE) -
estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally similar
change in the rental growth rate per annum.
16. LEASES 16. HE

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain properties. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the owners with a lease period of 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of this land lease.
Leases of office premises generally have lease terms of 2 years.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Group. No lease contracts include
extension and termination options and variable lease payments.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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REBEREEA

AEERBETYMENHESH - BIR
AIEH —RMENRARE T REEE LS
o HEIR505F > MREBZSLMHEE
EVRTR - 1S & AR S R RIR » Bt
NYENHPEENF2F - —RM =
REBRNARAREBUIATEERD
HEEEE MEEAESESHBREL
HIR AR LR B DA R AT A S AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

16. LEASES (continued) 16. & (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) NEBEESEBEA &)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FRAREEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets ANEBFERNFRAEEENERER
and the movements during the year are as follows: BEIINT :
Leasehold Office
land premises Total
HELi WA st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
As at 1 January 2021 wZZE-—4%—F—H 12,223 485 12,708
Additions NE - 807 807
Termination of a lease BIE—TEIH = (61) (61)
Depreciation charge NEBH (323) (593) (916)
As at 31 December 2021 and at RZB-—F+=-A=+—H
1 January 2022 KZZE-_—_%—F—H 11,900 638 12,538
Termination of a lease BIE—TEMY - (436) (436)
Depreciation charge WEER (324) (202) (526)
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=ZRA=+—H 11,576 - 11,576
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HERE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements FRAHRERBNEEERZES N
during the year are as follows: L
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AREETIT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BMEAEE 645 521
New leases WHEE - 807
Termination of a lease 1 —IEME A (447) (66)
Accretion of interest recognised FRNBEHERFE
during the year b ] 13 20
Payments NE: (211) (637)
Carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+—HB&EKEE - 645
Analysed into: DT
Current portion TMENER S - 402
Non-current portion JEmENE D = 243
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note HEBEMNIHBER D TERENE
38 to the financial statements. TEIREMIFE3S ©
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

16. LEASES (continued) 16. f %(,{%}

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation
to leases are as follows:

REBEREBA #)

(0 REZXHPEINEEHEBEREN
T

2022 2021

—sE—-= I e

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFTT

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEABMNEMAX 13 20

Gain on termination of a lease B —1EHE (11) (5)
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {fFR#E&EENTEER

(included in administrative expense) (Gt AfTEHAX) 526 916
Expense relating to short-term leases EEMHERBANMAX

(included in administrative expenses) GtAfTEHRAX) 39 29

Total amount recognised in profit or loss A B s & P HER 4258 567 960

(d) The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in notes
33(c) to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) in Mainland
China under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the
leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB60,684,000 (2021: RMB60,475,000), details of which are
included in note 6 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted minimum lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

(d) BAERHEENSRESRHEEELE
M EAERBMRIIB SR
RSB #®E 33(0) °

REEER/HAA

AEERBLEEHERHLHENFE
Wb E) IR E W (FTsE15) - ZEHER
BRERBPLPINEREZE - AEBEEF
RNEBROHBE2RABARE
60,684,000 ( ZF = —F: AR
60,475,0007T) - FHIBEA B S WwK M
6 o

RZFZZF+ZA=+—H  BEA
SERERARFE 2 TAHEHCERE
HORE MR RE R SRR AR T -

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARET T

Within one year —F R 14,529 14,331

A8 New Media Group Limited
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31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

17. GOODWILL 17. &
RMB’000
ARETT
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 R-_E—_—F—HHB —Z=——%+_-A4
and 1 January 2022: =+—BAkR=ZFE==—F—H—H:
Cost B A% 88,406
Accumulated impairment ZEPRE (79,128)
Net carrying amount AREDFE 9,278
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated RZZE-—&F—F—HKAK
impairment kR RERE 9,278
Impairment during the year RERRE (9,278)
Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 R-BE_—_F+_A=+—HBEmFE =
At 31 December 2022: A—E-_—_F+-_A=+—8:
Cost R 88,406
Accumulated impairment ZETRE (88,406)
Net carrying amount FREEE -

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the game-related entertainment cash-generating unit

[k yz AN

BREXGAHENBEC KD EEER
MR IR & E 4 BT HORERI

("Game-related Entertainment CGU") for impairment testing.
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H
17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Game-related entertainment cash-generating
unit

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the external business
environment had drastically deteriorated as a result of the
prolonged COVID-19 pandemic. The continuous influence of
the national policies and fierce competition in the game industry
had negatively affected the projected cash flows of the Game-
related Entertainment CGU and management decided to cease
the game development and publishing business during the year.
Arising from these, prior year assumptions on projected cash
flows based on financial budgets were reassessed and reduced
to reflect the current assessment of future outlook in the
impairment assessment of the Game-related Entertainment
CGU. The resulting minimal recoverable amount was estimated
based on the value in use of the Game-related Entertainment
CGU, using cashflow projections based on most recent financial
budget and a discount rate of 17%. This resulted in the
recognition of an impairment loss of RMB9,278,000 on the
carrying amount of the goodwill on the Game-related
Entertainment CGU within the discontinued operation of
Disposed Game Development and Publishing Services.

As at 31 December 2021, the recoverable amount of the Game-
related Entertainment CGU had been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections was 17% and cash flows beyond the five-year
period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 3%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
Game-related Entertainment CGU. The following describes each
key assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted revenue was the average revenue
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the unit.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEBAR LD A

17. BE@®)

ESARRETELET
RIBZZF  RIBENHERER
BEE B ERRZERL - BR

BENFESE U REBTEIRES
HEFABNRSESETNEHRRS
MELETAAYE WERERELESF
WREEIEEERAEMETERS - AR
BERA ERUBEENEAFRSR
EBRRELEMNTEHIRE - ARETE
EEEENE S ELEBETEERETE
FEARBENER MG &R ER
HEEENBRSELEETNEREET
FREAKICHVEBEENRESRER
AEERNRETIRESEER 17% IR
Ko mBYADEEEEMAZEMETR
BHEEEEBRN  HESERNRS
EEfETHNEERACHEERT AR
9,278,000 Hy R EE K o

W-_ZE-—F+-A=+—H #&EMH
BIReELETHAKE S B IRIEFE
AEETEETE FRAENaSRERE
HERERFHENYHEEENRESR
EEAE - BRENRBSREEANYT
REEB17%  BAAFHNRESREMF
FA 3% HY3% = R HEHT -

AEBEEARENRSELETNERE
BEREAETRR EEEEETHE
EBEAARELRSRBMKEN S
TERRsR R AR IE A AN T3

BERA — AREEEERABENE
REREBBEFEN —FERNTFHK
A BERERES MRS RE

P E — AN IR R BRI KR E
BREMMNEERR -
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

18. BV EE

Trademarks, Mobile
licences and Music game
software copyrights licences Total
EEETE:
SEges FRRE BRI R E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT AR®TE ARETT AR®TR

31 December 2022

—2--%t+=-A=t-H

Cost at 1 January 2022, net of R-ZE-_—F—A—H
accumulated amortisation 2R - B RETE
and impairment MEE 818 - 354 1,172
Amortisation provided during FREH
the year (22) - (354) (376)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—F
+-A=+—8H 796 = = 796
At 31 December 2022: i —
+=ZA=+—8”:
Cost [BEN 39,282 7,030 65,543 111,855
Accumulated amortisation RETEHERRE
and impairment (38,486) (7,030) (65,543) (111,059)
Net carrying amount REFE 796 - - 796
31 December 2021 —E--f+ZB=t-H
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of WZE=-——%—H—H
accumulated amortisation 2R Ik RETE
and impairment SOR{E 840 - 1,061 1,901
Amortisation provided during FREH
the year (22) - (707) (729)
At 31 December 2021 RZFZ—F
+-A=+—8 818 - 354 1,172
At 31 December 2021: RZEZ—F
+=-A=+—8”:
Cost BEN 39,282 7,030 65,543 111,855
Accumulated amortisation 2FHEERRE
and impairment (38,464) (7,030) (65,189) (110,683)
Net carrying amount RESHE 818 - 354 1172
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2022 2021
= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT ARKBTET

Share of net assets EEEEFE 104,484 98,687
Goodwill on acquisition WEEEE R EE 280,530 280,530

385,014 379,217
Provision for impairment TRE R (95,527) (79,527)
Share of net assets EEEEFE 289,487 299,690

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the prolonged
COVID-19 pandemic, including the outbreaks in Mainland China
and influence of the national policies on protection of minors
on online games and content, management re-assessed the
outlook and future performance of certain associate affected.
As at 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of certain
investment in associate is determined based on the fair value
less cost of disposal of that associate using market approach.
The recoverable amount as at 31 December 2022 was
amounted to RMB6,412,000 which is less than the carrying
amount of RMB22,412,000. Accordingly, an impairment loss of
RMB 16,000,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year. The fair value measurement of the
recoverable amount of that associate falls within level 3 of the
fair value measurement hierarchy.

Particulars of a material associate are as follows:

Particulars Place of
of issued registration
Name shares held and business
e T
E4 AP Rl E-E S

HE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLHF
€ #EHNCOVID-19%1E - BRRTEH
Wi R R B A R B R PR ER R AR
RERKFACHENTE  EHEES
A EE TR ENREEARAENBED
AMAISERREKRE R =

+ZA=+—H G BTREBEAFHIE
BB S ENIREZEE AFHA
FERBREEXNAFEAMIGEETE - RN
T —F+-A=t+—HWA kO LEE
BARE6,412,0007T  EAKREEAR
#22,412,0007C - E It - FA4RE B
FKERBAEFBE AR 16,000,000 °
ZHE AR KB eEN AT ETEE
RAFEFEERNERS -

T2 -EBEARZERFENT

Percentage

of ownership

interest

attributable
to the Group  Principal activities

AEE R,

EEEES

Botk FE#EK

Beijing Zhangwen Information Registered capital ~ PRC/Mainland China
Technology Co., Ltd.*
("Beijing Zhangwen")

EREXERBMABRAT A A R/ E N
(MtmEX])

Beijing Zhangwen is accounted for using the equity method.

W English name for identification purposes only

A8 New Media Group Limited
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R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. Bt =R RIRE @)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial tREXRAEEME AEEHRZ A
information in respect of Beijing Zhangwen, adjusted for any Al REAERARE

differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements:

2022 2021
=== SR —4=
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETE

Current assets MENVE E 528,598 473,534
Non-current assets IERBEE 29,233 B2
Current liabilities mEAE (288,593) (252,032)
Non-current liabilities FERBBE (2,886) (4,409)
Net assets FEE 266,352 250,405
Reconciliation to the Group's interest AEBELEE AR
in the associate: BIFHED :
Proportion of the Group's ownership REBEFFAR LA 35% 35%
Group's share of net assets of the REBEEHERRFEE
associate, excluding goodwill D5 TREEEE 93,410 86,995
Goodwill on acquisition BEEECHE
(less cumulative impairment) (R 25TR1E) 185,105 185,105
Carrying amount of the investment KAREE 278,515 272,100
Revenue WA 810,186 887,804
Profit for the year and total comprehensive H& N RIS G ATE(E AR
income for the year attributable to FEmNREFE KR AR
equity holders of the associate 18,327 86,979
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRAEREF(BEBIIAEELN) 2HEN
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually AN IEERTE o
material.
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT AREBTT

Share of the associates’ losses and total FRDEBRE AR ZERBR
comprehensive loss for the year HEmEmiEk (617) (136)
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBBEARIREZ
Group's investments in the associates REEAE 10,972 27,590
Annual Report 2022 A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

> s
20. RE&ER

2 NBZIE
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET R ARETIT
Share of net assets EIEEEFE 119 119
Impairment RIE (119) (119)
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FARR VALUE THROUGH 21, AT EETE B HEFH T A
PROFIT OR LOSS BacerEE
2022 2021
—s== T —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
BEE ARET R ARETF T
Derivative financial instrument TESRMTIEA (a) - -
Structured financial products EEESRE®D (b) 20,000 300
Other unlisted investments HMIEETIRE (© 72,878 101,858
92,878 102,158
Current portion mEnE (20,000) (300)
Non-current portion ENER 72,878 101,858
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21, IR A F (A2 B HEFH =t A
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) EaZermEE @)

Notes: BI5E -

Pursuant to the capital injection agreement and sale and purchase
agreements of equity interests of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television,
Media (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“Lanlanlanlan File & Television”) the Group
may request the founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television to
purchase back all or part of the equity interests in Lanlanlanlan Film &
Television acquired by the Group if the audited net profit of
Lanlanlanlan Film & Television for any of the financial years ended 31
December 2017, 2018 and 2019 was less than RMB20 million,
RMB30 million and RMB45 miillion, respectively (the “Put Option”).

On 25 March 2019, the Group issued an exercise note to exercise the
Put Option to request the founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television
to purchase back the equity interests in Lanlanlanlan Film & Television
(the “Forward Contract”) as the audited net profit of Lanlanlanlan
Film & Television was less than RMB30 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. On the same date, in response to the exercise note,
the founders had executed an undertaking letter (the “Undertaking
Letter”) in favour of the Group pursuant to which the founders have
undertaken to the Group to perform their obligations to compensate
the Group by way of purchasing the equity interest in Lanlanlanlan
Film & Television transferred to the Group. However, in view of the
serious shortage of fund, the founders then agreed they would
perform their obligations to the Group as mentioned above within
three years from the date of the Undertaking Letter, and would pay
the default interest in accordance with the terms and conditions set
out in relevant capital injection agreement and sale and purchase
agreements. The founders then had also undertaken that all cash
dividends received from Lanlanlanlan Film & Television would be used
for purchasing the equity interest in Lanlanlanlan Film & Television as
mentioned above. The Group is of the view that it is of great
uncertainty to fully recover the consideration for the purchase of
equity interest from the founders as it would mainly depended on the
ability of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television to declare dividends and the
financial position of the founders.

As at 31 December 2022, the founders of Lanlanlanlan Film &
Television had only paid RMB5 million to the Group as the first
payment for the purchase of equity interest in Lanlanlanlan Film &
Television held by the Group. The founders of Lanlanlanlan Film &
Television made a written undertaking to the Group, pursuant to
which the founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television had undertaken
to perform their obligations to complete the purchase of equity
interests in Lanlanlanlan Film & Television held by the Group by 24
March 2022. The founders of Lanlanlanlan Film & Television have
failed to fulfil such undertaking and the Group has filed an arbitration
application with the Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration (the
“SCIA") on 15 March 2022, requested for payment of the equity
repurchase amount of RMB141.4 million and penalty interest of
RMB59.0 million.

On 27 December 2022, the SCIA issued a mediation statement in
favour of the Group, in which the Group and the founders of
Lanlanlanlan Film & Television had signed an mediation agreement to
settle the outstanding payments before 10 November 2022. As at the
end of the reporting period and up to the date of this report, no
payment was received by the Group. The Group had filed for an
executory application to the People’s Court in Beijing.

As at the end of the reporting period, management assessed the fair
value of the Forward Contract was nil (2021: nil).
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FRNRAANEBBET EMET - WHEREE
B & thak o B & e P IR AR M 16 1R 32
RHEHFE o B8 8 8 548 M0 Al A TR
5 CEEYGAMSESRER
FEBE PN EEEEF R I RE - K
EERARE A A A 2 ER DR E

b

BERSHEAREATHEN  BAREAE
TERURNE B EERIR DAL KA
WANEARBEBR -

HE_Z_—_F+_A=+—H EE&
EYANERARAEEEIFARE
5,000,000 CEABEREERFEZE
EYEREEER EEEEYENE
WARAEBELEEAR  FHER=-Z
T F=ZA-+WMBRETESTKEE
AEBPBAEEEEZRARE EEEE
FARM BN A REEBIT LillEGE - AKE
RN -ZE-—F=A+7 8 MR
EBT ([P EBT ) IR R E RS - BkE
SRECELELEL AR MV A A (AN B S AR
@A R 141,380,434.37 TR ST B
AR#59,043,116 7T °

RZZEZZF+ZA=+tH " hHRE
H—OBFRAEENMEARE - RIE
AME EEEEYEMNARABR-Z
ZZHF+—ATAREBERNTKIE - BHE
HERRRARER - NEERBE TR
N AEBEBERIERTARARIR L&
FIRITHRE ©

BEREWK  ERETEZEDAON
ATEHABT(ZT_—4F : &) -
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

At the end of the reporting period, the investments mainly comprised
unlisted financial products purchased from banks in the PRC with an
expected interest rate at 2.85% (2021: 2.69%) per annum.

The structured financial products were mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest. The fair
value was determined by references to quoted prices performed by
financial institutions.

The unlisted investments as at 31 December 2022 were investments
in funds, including investments in Shenzhen Qianhai Qingsong
Venture Investment Fund Management Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (“Qingsong Fund II"”), Shenzhen Qingsong Phase Il Equity
Investment Fund Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
("Qingsong Fund IlI”), Shenzhen Qianhai Tianhe Cultural Industry
Investment Center (Limited Partnership), and Shenzhen Qingsong
Small and Medium Enterprises Development Investment Partnership
Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (“Qingsong Fund IV"). They were
mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest. The controlling shareholder of the Company is
also a key management personnel and a shareholder of Qingsong
Fund II, Qingsong Fund Il and Qingsong Fund IV.

The fair value was determined using market approach.

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

z

(@

2 EATEHEARS
H (b2 E e

:,I: ﬂi{gnﬂ_iﬁ,\é
Ba .2

/

ST A
TRIEE ()

R-BE-_—E+—-HA=+—H" ¥tHs
RERREFZESHERPREBERIRTT -
TEHAE R B 2SR 52.85% (- B ——4F ¢
2.69%) °

BRNEEEERERNANRSRENIE
2BAERAEMNK - Bitwsad| D85
sz’&zﬁﬁ FAEREZIF ARG ERE
E - ATEEZ2ZLRBBIRENRER
BE -

RZZEZ_F+-RA=+—H " ¥kEmK
ﬁﬁﬁi—?%i\Z&Q BIERRIITANEG

EREEREESPE(BRER) ([HR
ZH] - RYTERZHREREESSE
BOE(BREE) ([FR=8])  FIIa
BRAEEERER L (BRER) MK
BRRNTERPNEEEERIREESR
X (ERER) ([BFHRWE]) - ZZRE
HAEEGHNBEeRTAZERE R EXM
P45 5 1 |§E’\*Eﬁr?§@jrﬁu+gﬁﬁ“
FTABRZRE o AARIKIEREEINZ
SNH - SRR ERMHE2ER
ANBE R -

R EERTIZEAERE °

AT
s B RE E

2022 2021

g —E-—F

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

FitEE ARBTR AREFT

Listed equity investment, at fair value ~_FH#EZEIRE @ WA FE (@) 13,493 12,114
Unlisted equity investments, JEFTRERSIRE IR ATFE

at fair value (b) 90,096 138,457

103,589 150,571
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The balance included an investment in Shenzhen Lemon Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Lemon Network”), a company listed on
National Equities Exchange and Quotations (the “NEEQ") (stock code:
835924). Given that the shares of Lemon Network are transferred by
agreement and the trading of the shares are not active, the Group
engaged an independent professional valuer to determine the fair
value of the investment using market approach as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

(b) The balance included investments in two game development
companies, namely Xiamen Mengjia Network Technology Co., Ltd.
and Shanghai Hanqu Network Technology Co., Ltd. ( /@88 45 F
AR AR]). The Group engaged an independent professional valuer
to determine the fair values of the investments using market
approach.

The equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value

through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
these investments to be strategic in nature.

. TRADE RECEIVABLES

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

22. A FHEETE R A B E A

HErHl s & /mEE®)
B 5 -

(@) ZHE—EERERNRYIMES AR
BER AR ([BEREE])  ZARRER
FNDEROCERES (=R L (&
Z A5 : 835924) - E R R A AR (D
HAEBEERE  ROXZEUNERBKR
S/ WAREE D BN 2022 F & 2021 F
12 A3 AEEB Y EETEHMAATS
FHEEEAFE-

(b) ZHBBEERE2MBEMAZARNRE  ER
EFZ @R ERAR(TEFIE
)k EEREBEREHRERAR ([ e
BiR]) - AREEE L EEXFEMAA
MISEEERFRENATE -

AR EE LR SRR A M
BB - SR AT T
ST ARATFENEBRBRHAK
g 2 AR -

. FRURAK

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT ARKBTE

Trade receivables FEUER TR 9,216 1,309
Impairment VENIEL (1,806) (248)
7,410 1,061

The Group granted credit period from 20 to 60 days. For certain
customers, payments were due upon the presentation of
invoice. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivables. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 23.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

JE W BR 3K (42)

RBEHR - REBEHR A MR EE
BH BRSO BRE DTN T

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR¥TE

Billed DA
Within 1 month —EAARN 1,954 207
1 to 2 months —Z=_{@A 1,739 218
2 to 3 months —Z={@A 1,484 13
Over 3 months BA=1EA 2,233 11
7,410 449
Unbilled REEH - 612
7,410 1,061

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

FEUERFURERHEZMT -

2022 2021
g —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT AREBTET

At beginning of year RFA) 248 285
Impairment/(reversal of impairment losses), SE{E1B% R{EIELEMD -

net (note 7) R (MEE7) 1,806 (35)
Amount written off as uncollectible AT El ) FRIB T 8 (248) )
At end of year RER 1,806 248

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more
than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. EIARK ()
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure EEAANEEEBARGEL TSN EIER
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: THEERMRERFHIAT :
As at 31 December 2022 RN-Z=——&HE+=-HA=+—AH
Past due
780 Hf
Less than Over Default
Current 1 month 1 month  customers Total
Ny SR—@ER BBE—EA BHEF #st
Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 0.00% 0.00% 32.69% - 19.60%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREAE(ARET L) 1,954 1,739 5,523 - 9,216
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  TEHAZ &1
(AR%FT) - - 1,806 - 1,806
As at 31 December 2021 R-Z=——&E+=-HA=+—8
Past due
penki
Less than Over Default
Current 1 month 1 month  customers Total
B PR—EAR BB—EA BHEFR ey
Expected credit loss rate EHEEBER 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 100% 18.95%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BRMEZAE (ARETF L) 436 363 262 248 1,309
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  FEHIEEEE
(AEETT) - - - 248 248

24. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24, FE{T 3R ~ E b M 50 I B At
OTHER ASSETS BE

=

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%ET R AREETIT
Prepayments FE R 18,233 19,701
Deposits and other receivables d N E b R IR 2,739 2,470
20,972 22,171

Provision for impairment R (17,085) (17,085)
3,887 5,086

Annual Report 2022 A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

24. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

The financial assets as at the end of the reporting period relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

Included in other receivables are amounts due from the Group’s
associates of RMB533,000 (2021: RMB533,000), which are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The movements in the provision for impairment of prepayments,
other receivables and other assets are as follows:

24.

TR IR~ H R e Ho A
B EE ()

R & R 2 & B E A& BT AP 46 R
FCERZ FEMWGRIAA R -

P EL A FE WO R B AT R U R B Y
RIEH ANREES33,000t (T = —4F:
AR#®533,0007T) * ZHEEER &
BRIZEREE -

TR0 ELA MR A A L
EERBOT :

2022 2021
2= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT ARBTET

At 1 January n—A—H 17,085 17,046
Impairment during the year (note 7) WERFA (FHFE7) - 39
At 31 December R+_A=+—H 17,085 17,085

Included in the above provision for impairment of prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is a provision of impairment
of prepayments RMB16,743,000 (2021: RMB16,743,000) with
a gross carrying amount of RMB16,743,000 (2021:
RMB16,743,000).

The gross carrying amount of RMB2,739,000 (2021:
RMB2,470,000) and the corresponding expected credit loss
allowance of RMB342,000 (2021: RMB342,000) for the financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets were classified as Stage 1 for the measurement of
expected credit loss as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
Expected credit losses on financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets are estimated
by applying a loss rate approach with reference to historical loss
record of the Group and probability of default of counterparties.
The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The
loss rate applied for as at 31 December 2022 ranged from
0.06% to 20% (2021: ranged from 0.06% to 20%).

192 A8 New Media Group Limited
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LB - HAab UK R E & E R
BEEEARE16,743,000 (2T = —
F: AR 16,743,00070) HERAE(E4258
RN FORER B AR 16,743,000 7T
(ZE=—%F : AR¥16,743,0007T) °

i

—E-_F+_A=+—HBRERZZE
Z—F+ZA=1+—8H FABEMR-
HEMERAREMEE 2 eREEMNE
T #A%E A RH£2,739,000L(—Z T = —4F :
AR #2,470,0007T) R EHTEER{E A
BREREARE 342,000 T - — 4
AR 342,0007T) DB ATEHERE
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HMERAREMEE 2 cREEMNTE
HEEBARRABAXRSTENLZEAR
SERLIEBRTHEMENBRETHS
Ere BAREHITHAZRURME AR
MR RAECEAR R TEER (AEA) - B
BT _HF+_A=+—HAKRAXN
BARERE006%E20% (T - —4fF:
0.06% £ 20%) °
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25. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

26.

Annual
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

25. X IR HISRITAE R

2022 2021

=LA s —

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B aE AR¥ T ARETIT

Restricted bank balances SRR BIRIT 45 5R (a 65 65

Notes:

(a) Restricted bank balances of the Group represented government

grants received that are restricted as to use.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

BT -

(@) AREERRGIRT B WD BT
B HERZEIRE -

26. RE NBEFHFED

2022 2021
= ol —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET T
Cash and bank balances RS MIRIT4EH 608,766 555,390
Restricted bank balances ZPRFIRITAE B 65 65
608,831 555,455
Less: Restricted bank balances (note 25) B EBRBIIRITAE R (FIRE25) (65) (65)
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose IR& NIEEHEY
of the consolidated statement RErE BB R T
of financial position 608,766 555,390
Denominated in: sHE -
RMB AR 121,990 476,244
usD xET 479,759 71,911
Other currencies HiEE 7,017 7,235
Cash and cash equivalents Be MBS EEY 608,766 555,390

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash

equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB are not freely

convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland

China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and

Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign

Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB

for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits have maturity of
not more than three months and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

27. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

26. RE MIREEEBY #)

2%

ROTREBEFERITEARMNEZZR
REAE - EHMERERFHRTEB=
| A R 4= & 58 8 5E H3 75 50H) R R ER A
B o RITAERRER T 7 A T HI &
RRABHEEERARFORIT - R KB
SEEVRAERFEFORFERS

P AR K

RBEHR - AEEREZBHEFEN
PR Z BREC AMTAA T -

2022 2021
2= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT ARBTET

Within 1 month —@AARN - 35
1 to 3 months —Z=1@A - 86
4 to 6 months P FS - 35
Over 6 months 7NEA M E 7,082 7,598

7,082 7,754

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on 30-day to 180-day terms.

As at 31 December 2022, included in the trade payables was an
amount due to a joint venture of RMB46,000 (2021:
RMB46,000), which was unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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JEMBRIR TR - B—MRZBNR30BE
180 HAAEH -

R-ZZE-——F+-—A=+—8H  REF
ERPEETEN—RELEQAFHNIE
PAR®E46,000(ZFE=Z—F: AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

8. Eftb N KL EFTE B

2022 2021

=X dow =g o — —E

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Liks3 ARBT T ARETT

Other payables HAth FEATR 29,190 29,817
Accruals JEEtE M 6,904 6,901
Contract liabilities BREE (@) 38 13,132
Deferred income IEIEW 5 - 600
Receipts in advance FE U KT8 251 558
Current portion mEE D 36,383 51,008

As at 31 December 2022, included in other payables was an
amount due to an associate of RMB85,000 (202 1: RMB85,000),
which was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Included in other payables is consideration received in advance
of RMB316,000 from the non-controlling shareholder of
Blueowlgames and Shanghai Mu77 in respect of the sale of
equity shares of Blueowlgames and Shanghai Mu77 as further
detailed in note 11 to the financial statements.

Note:

(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

NRZEBE-_—_FE+-_A=+—8"  HfhE
NEFBRETREN —REEQRFIEA
R#85000(—ZTE=-—F: AR
85,0007T) ' ZHEAEER 2B RIE
BREE -

A E fib FE T FRIE B HE 1R AT R
Blueowlgames K /8 R4+ /) 3E 12 B A%
5L H & Blueowlgames & I/ ARE+H)
KB ARK316,0007T " BREE—F+F
BRI BRI 11 o

GEX

(@ AKAEFBNT:

31 December 31 December 1 January
2022 2021 2021
—g=-= T4 T —F
+=A=+—-8 +ZA=+—H —HA—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT AREFTT

Short-term advances received W F % P52 BT 1 30E

from customers

Game-related operations HERRE RS - 13,059 13,696
Music-based entertainment FRBERS 38 73 118
Total contract liabilities BHBEES 38 13,132 13,814

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to render
game-related and music-based entertainment services. The decrease
in contract liabilities in 2022 was mainly due to the decrease in short-
term advances received from customers and reclassification of
contract liabilities in respect of game-related operations to liabilities
directly associated with the assets classified as held for sale as detailed
in note 11 to the financial statements at the end of the year. The
decrease in contract liabilities in 2021 was mainly due to the decrease
in short-term advances received from customers at the end of that
year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

29. DEFERRED TAX 29. IRIEFIA
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the AER  REHBEERELEHRIBEAE
year are as follows: BB

Financial assets

Financial assets  at fair value

Revaluation atfair value through other

Provision for  of investment through comprehensive
impairment properties  profit or loss income Others Total

BRAVEIE RBOAVEHE

BEZ®HA  BHZHIA

REkmE Biv Ht2EKE
AERE ZEfh SHEE  ZEREE At 2R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARBFT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  AREFR  ARETR

At 1 January 2021 W=Z--F-f-H 84 (72.370) (15,086) (49,661) (288) (137,321)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) ERMBRRTA/ (HIR)

to the statement of profit or loss BB (M 10)

during the year (note 10) 1 2,500 8,518 - (379) 10,644
Deferred tax credited to the statement FRRZARERTA

of comprehensive income during LERERE

the year - - - 21,017 - 21,017
At 31 December 2021 and RZE--F+-A=tBR
1 January 2022 “E--F-f-H 85 (69,870) (6,568) (28,644) (663) (105,660)

Deferred tax credited/(charged) ERRESRA/(NR)

to the statement of profit or loss BRI (M 10)

during the year (note 10) 14,804 (500) 7,995 - (150) 22,149
Deferred tax credited to the statement FRR2EKRzRA

of comprehensive income during ZERERIE

the year - - - 11,745 - 11,745

At 31 December 2022 W-Z-—F+-A=1+-H 14,889 (70,370) 1427 (16,899) (813) (71,766)
2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT ARBTET

Deferred tax assets FEERIAE B 16,316 235
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFTEAE (88,082) (105,895)
(71,766) (105,660)
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB91,524,000 (2021: RMB107,009,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately RMB279,440,000 at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB283,243,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

9. IRIEFHIE (%)

AEEHBSREFRAZHEEER
ARM91,524,0007t(ZF=—F : AR
#107,009,0007T) * ZEBIEE—EH
FRA R EAMEFHES AR 2R
FEERT 55 A o B 52 5 B 18 M B RE KT
MIEEE BREEBEEDACHREER
—BEHEZHNBRARES  UHERAR
HESAERMIEBERHE 2 ERT R
A e

REFBEGEMEHRE  RPBEMKIZZ
SNE R RIMNEIRE E B IR Z IR EAE
Y 10% B - ZRER _TTNF—
A—BRER YEBAR_TZTLF
TZA=+T—HRELZAEF - K E
REERINEIREE FrB R AR 2 FR]
BERBESEHE AR RAREKZEN
ME AEEBZBERRER10% > A
b AEBEARZFRP B 2 B
ARIE-ETE/N\F-A-—HEELZA
Mok 2 LS B AN TAFNEL -

WZZT-_—F+-_A=+—H A&£H
WARERPBR AT Z KB A F
FE A 2 AR EE S B AT EE A 2 TEFN TR AE AR
EERTE - EERAE ZSHBAAR
ARERISERBEBF ZEETK - B
T —FE+-A=+—H " RRER
M E AR 2R E B A MR ERIET
RENEE=ZFRBALNOARE
279,440,000t (=2 = —F: ARK
283,243,0007T) °

AR B () R BRI 25 AR 3 R PR AS AR
BREATE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

30. ISSUED CAPITAL 30. A&7X
Shares dni)
2022 2021
=== —E-—fF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARETFT
Authorised: JERE ¢
3,000,000,000 (2021: 3,000,000,000) 3,000,000,000 & (=& = —4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 3,000,000,000 %) F X E A
0.01/87TZ EiBk 26,513 26,513
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
2,740,338,628 (2021: 2,707,190,628) 2,740,338,628 % (=& ——4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 2,707,190,628 %) TR E A
0.01 BT Z BB 23,162 22,870
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital KRA|ZRASEHELNT -
is as follows:
Number of Equivalent
issued and Nominal nominal  Equivalent
fully paid value of  investment value of  Equivalent
ordinary ordinary share ordinary share
shares shares premium shares premium
BRTR EEEER Rk G
MEEER EBEREE RIEE HEHE e
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
PirsE BT BETT ARETT AR®TR
At 1 January 2021 R-Z-—F—-H—H 2,700,886,628 27,009 1,148,150 22,818 966,775
Issue of new shares Biidn (@) 12,722,000 127 3,641 104 2,979
Shares repurchased iHERER D (b) (6,418,000) (64) (1,310) (52) (1,071)
At 31 December 2021 And RZZE-—F+-A=+—H
1 January 2022 k-FT-_—f—-F—H 2,707,190,628 27,072 1,150,481 22,870 968,683
Issue of new shares TR (0 33,198,000 332 11,076 292 9,667
As at 31 December 2022 RZZE-_—_F+-A=+—-H 2,740,388,628 27,404 1,161,557 23,162 978,350

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

Shares (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The subscription rights attaching to 12,722,000 share options were
exercised at the subscription price of HK$0.219 per share, resulting in
the issue of 12,722,000 shares for a total cash consideration, before
expenses, of approximately HK$2,786,000, equivalent to
approximately RMB2,280,000 (note 31). An amount of approximately
RMB803,000 was transferred from the employee share-based
compensation reserve to share premium upon the exercise of the
share options.

The Company repurchased 6,418,000 of its shares on the Stock
Exchange at a total consideration of HK$1,374,000, equivalent to
RMB1,123,000. The purchased shares were cancelled during the year.
Upon the cancellation of shares repurchased, the issued share capital
and the share premium of the Company were reduced by HK$64,000,
equivalent to RMB52,000, and HK$1,310,000, equivalent to
RMB1,071,000, respectively.

The subscription rights attaching to 21,138,000 and 12,060,000
share options were exercised at the subscription price of HK$0.219
and HK$0.255 per share, respectively, resulting in the issue of
33,198,000 shares for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
approximately HK$7,705,000, equivalent to approximately
RMB6,777,000 (note 31). An amount of approximately
RMB3,182,000 was transferred from the employee share-based
compensation reserve to share premium upon the exercise of the
share options.
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31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H
30. IR (=
15 (&)

B aE -

(a)

()

12,722,00017 BE Ak e Y R BB #E LA AR 0.2 19
PETTHREEE TR - BE12,722,000 iR AR
ZMEIT HRERENESHEREY
£2,786,0007 o HE RH AR
2,280,000 7T (FiE31) - TERBRRAELE -
# A R 803,000 7T B TR D 5B 28
SEARMDEE -

A B BB 22 P B 121 6,418,000 AR A% 15
®RER1,374000%8 7T HERARE
1,123,0007T - BEMREEAFEH T
8 o BRI EIHE - AR RIDBEITRA
Ko B An 5 (8 2 B3R 4> 64,0008 7T (HE S 7
AR#52,0007T) & 1,310,000 7T (485
RARY1,071,0007T) °

21,138,000 fi% & 12,060,000 A% i A% 1 79 2R
D B AEI0.21978 7t % 0.25578 7T
HIREEETTHE - 33,198,000 f% %15 &Y
BT ONMBREAGOHESCHERENA
7,705,000 T HE R H ARE
6,777,000 7T (B #E31) o FTERBRRAELE -
# AR 53,182,000 7Tt B T A% 17 % B 2
HeE ARG HE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

31.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
Share option scheme

The Company operated a share option scheme to motivate
eligible persons to optimise their future contribution to the
Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions, to
attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing relationships
with those eligible persons who are significant to and/or whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance,
growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the case of
executives, to enable the Group to attract and retain individuals
with experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past
contributions. The share option scheme became effective on 26
May 2008 and expired on 26 May 2018. A new share option
scheme of the Company was approved and adopted by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 25 May
2018.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options that can be granted under the share
option scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue,
i.e., 270,791,262 shares, as at 25 May 2018 on which an
ordinary resolution was passed at the annual general meeting of
the Company.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the share option scheme and any other schemes
of the Group shall not exceed 10% of the Company’s issued
share capital from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under the share
options to each eligible participant in the share option scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders” approval
in a general meeting.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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ARBRUBERETE S ERBAER
AL RFNE RSB L BB, 3%
BRRFBECER - AR RBEEE
HAKBZRE BRIXNDBER
R/ZEBEBREABEHAER X
B BEIARNBESZEEBALR
BFEFREZFERE  RMHBITHRA
8§ RIfEREEERRS RBEEBL
BRENZEAR,/ REBHEREBEZ
BERl- BREFSINR T N\FHHA
“HARAER - YER-_ZE-NFHA
“tXRBRE®R R-ZE-NFHA
“thABRTERRAFKSBBLERSR
AR 8 o

2 HTERIEBRETS RAEET
] Efth B AR A 51 8% W 2 BT B BB AR M 1
AREBITZREEROEE - & _HTFEE
BR T N\FRA-THASETZR
RAFAGLERBANBRETS 2
10% 5T 2| R EN 270,791,262 REAK(D

Ee2HTEREERETSRAEET
I E A8 B 5 R M R TTE 2 AR
MAl g T 2R BE &S T ERBBAR
NATREETRDZ10% °

AER+ @A B RIZERER [
BREGBSRAERZRERT LIRS
B EAB - AARBREAEREE#ET
BD 2 1% BIR - 3 — B R B BALR
BB AR RN RS L1 -
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31.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
Share option scheme (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of
offer of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.
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T EEISIRERE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 31. MRkt 2l )
Share option scheme (Continued) B ERTE(2)
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends BEREETEE THAEAZEREINIX
or to vote at shareholders’” meetings. The following share RAE FREZERN - RFR - B
options were outstanding under the share option scheme HEBENHARITEZEREDT -
during the year:
2022 2021
—=E—— B —F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options
In#EEg InHEF 15
THEE BREHE T1R(E BREHE
HK$ HK$
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
BRERT T4 BRAET Tt
At 1 January R—H—B%F 0.29 113,772 0.32 130,605
Granted during the year FEARF - - 0.26 14,795
Lapsed during the year FRBE KR 1.04 (4,808) 0.65 (10,962)
Forfeited during the year F R 0.45 (1,053) 0.40 (7,944)
Exercised during the year FERNITE 0.23 (33,198) 0.22 (12,722)
At 31 December W+—A=+—8 0.26 74,713 0.29 113,772

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
share options exercised during the year was HK$0.23 (2021:

HK$0.296) per share.

A8 New Media Group Limited
ASHIZEEBAR LD A

PR RTTEH) B AR AT BIRNT6E B v AN
BFHRERER023EL(ZFT=—
F : §R0.29687T) °

Annual Report 2022
—E_FFRH



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 7 Y R

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 31. BREE Sl )
Share option scheme (Continued) B ERTEl(2)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options WMEHR  MARTTEBRENITEER
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: {TEERE S AT -
2022 =S
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHKE TEE* TR
‘000 HKS$ per share
T4 sRET
8,910 0.560 16-5-2016 to £ 16-5-2023
1,715 0.570 9-1-2018 to £ 8-1-2025
2,000 0.439 7-5-2018 to £ 7-5-2025
18,543 0.221 20-6-2019 to £ 20-6-2029
20,828 0.219 28-6-2019 to & 28-6-2029
19,982 0.167 9-9-2020 to £ 9-9-2030
2,735 0.255 30-9-2021 to £ 30-9-2031
74,713
2021 —E-—F
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BAES B FTEE * FT{EEA
‘000 HK$ per share
T BRET
4,808 1.040 14-5-2015 to £ 14-5-2022
8,910 0.560 16-5-2016 to & 16-5-2023
150 0.487 21-4-2017 to &2 21-4-2024
1,715 0.570 9-1-2018 to & 8-1-2025
2,900 0.439 7-5-2018 to & 7-5-2025
18,543 0.221 20-6-2019 to & 20-6-2029
41,969 0.219 28-6-2019 to &£ 28-6-2029
19,982 0.167 9-9-2020 to & 9-9-2030
14,795 0.255 30-9-2021 to & 30-9-2031
113,772
E the exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the * ARRERITT (B Al B AR SRAL AR B AT A Y
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the RIRARMEMIB LI E B EL AR -

Company’s share capital.

Annual Report 2022 A8 New Media Group Limited 203
T _FFR ASHEBEBMERAF



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

In the prior year, the fair value of the share options granted
during that year was HK$ 1,724,000 (HK$0.12 per share option).
The Group recognised a share option expense of RMB 1,650,000
during the year ended 31 December 2021 in respect of the

share options granted in prior years.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year ended 31 December 2021 was estimated as at the date of
grant using the binomial option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were

granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Sl

MERRHEETE ()
RSB ()

FEE BFARARBEREZATES
1,724,000 7T (R BA#E0.12 78 7T) - &
E_E_—F+_A=+—HLEFE"
AEERBEFFEEREOBRERER
B P ) S 49 AR5 1,650,000 7T ©

HE_ZT-_—F+_A=1+—HILEE
EREAARES N ERENATE -
REEESER - EEEEERN . I
KE R RO ) R R AR R A
H o TRFI|ZEXMEANBAA

2021

B —F

Dividend yield (%) BR 5. B4R (%) -
Expected volatility (%) TE AR 18 (%) 62.43%
Risk-free interest rate (%) A BB R 2 (%) 1.53%
Exercise share price (HK$ per share) ITREBH (FET) 0.26

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not

necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into

the measurement of fair value.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 33,198,000 share
options were exercised resulting in the issue of 33,198,000
ordinary shares of the Company, as further detailed in note 30

to the financial statements.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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BRENEAFHDREEEENES
SENFELBIBETE - RBFATARE

BT - REKIE IR B AT L
NERKRIEAE - AL R BB K
BRI R ARRBEZHEER - EEFRL

AFEAFER LS REROBERED
HARFIE

RER > 33,198,000 i% & I iEETT(E &
£033,198,000 & A~ &) E i@ A E B 1T -
R IRERMEE30 -
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31.

32.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
Share option scheme (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
74,713,368 share options outstanding under the Company’s
share option scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 74,713,368 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of
approximately HK$747,000, equivalent to RMB662,000 and
share premium of approximately HK$18,678,000, equivalent to
RMB 16,557,000 (before issue expenses).

Up to the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 74,713,368 share options outstanding under the
Company’s share option scheme, which represented
approximately 2.73% of the Company’s shares in issue as at
that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 94 of the
financial statements.

(i) Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents (i) the excess
of the nominal value of the paid-up capital of Huadong
Feitian over the nominal value of A8 Music's shares which
were issued as consideration for obtaining the control of
Huadong Feitian at the time of the group reorganisation
in 2004; and (ii) the excess of the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued over the nominal value of
A8 Music’s shares acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 2008.
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RIEE IR - NAFRAR B8 AR
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RITEERERE ST ES S BEEINE
7174,713,368 IR A A &) & 38 Az K 5 15 Ak
AN #747,000 BL(HER AR
662,000 7T ) LA K2 i 1 )5 {8 #9 18,678,000
Bt (HE R AR 16,557,000 7T) A&t
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R BEREAER  BREAZTEKR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

32. RESERVES (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Surplus contributions

According to an agreement dated 27 December 2004 on
the capital contribution into A8 Music signed by A8
Music, the then three shareholders of A8 Music and the
registered owners, the three shareholders of A8 Music
agreed to make cash contributions of HK$1,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,063,000) and RMB10,000,000 into
A8 Music without any equity interests issued and issuable
to them in return. In addition, A8 Music has no obligations
to repay these contributions. As a result, the contributions
were reported as surplus contributions of A8 Music.

PRC statutory reserves
Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of the subsidiaries of the Company
which are domestic enterprises established in the PRC,
appropriations of their net profits after offsetting
accumulated losses from prior years should be made to
the statutory reserve fund maintained by these companies
before any distributions are made to the investors. The
percentage of appropriation to the statutory reserve fund
is 10%. When the balance of the statutory reserve fund
reaches 50% of the paid-up/registered capital, no further
appropriations are required to be made. The statutory
reserve fund shall not be less than 25% of the original
registered capital.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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32. FEE @)

(i)

(iii)

BB

BIEAS TS NS TRERZ =4
BERELZHEEARZZSZTNF
T A+ tEHRAASE LT E
MET 2B ASELER =
ZBRREERASTLIUE S HE
1,000,000 ;T (8 E X A R
1,063,000 7T.) & A K% 10,000,000
JL WEBBITRARFEERITE
I AREVERT MR o JEON - ABEHE
BEREEZELHE - Al 250
BWEHRAASTLZBAER -

FEEE MBS
EERES

BEFBERRNEREARRIZHMBA
Al RRER  BERERATFER
BEEE  ZEAT A ELR
JEEEREMDIKAIREZS
NAFEZEERER - REZE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 7 Y R

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

32. HE @)
(i) PEEEHES (B

32. RESERVES (Continued)

(iii) PRC statutory reserves (Continued)

Reserve fund

In accordance with the Law of the PRC for Enterprises
with Foreign Investments and the articles of association of
a subsidiary of the Company established in the PRC,
namely Cash River, appropriations from net profits, after
offsetting accumulated losses brought forward from prior
years, should be made to the reserve fund before
distributions are made to the owners. The percentage of
net profits to be appropriated to the reserve fund should
not be less than 10% of the net profits. When the balance
of the reserve fund reaches 50% of the paid-up capital,
no further appropriations are required to be made. Upon
approval obtained from the board of directors, the reserve
fund can be used to offset accumulated deficits or to
increase the registered capital.

REE

RIRH B IN IR E A RN E
P2 N A R A B (BME 1)
ZARER KRBT FEAE
2 RIEEER B AR 2 58
FETE RSB AEL 2R AIIRE R
o EBERESZANZAES L
TEERAFIZ 10% - BEES L
HEEEHRAS0%E  BER
EHE—FIRE - RERSESZH
KiE - FETARKEREERE
FIEMFAMER o

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  33. &3R8 &
OF CASH FLOWS

T
op

RMTEE

il

(a) EENFRERS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had
non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of RMB807,000 and RMB807,000, respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for office premises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33. A8 B 4 re XMW
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METEBEENEEEH
activities

Lease
liabilities
HESE
RMB’000
AR® TR

2022 —E-CF
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZBE-_—_F—H—H 645
Changes from financing cash flows BMEEBRESRE (198)
New leases FHEE 5
Termination of a lease RIE—IEMEA (447)
Interest expense FEER 13
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows SEAKE TR R EZM (13)
At 31 December 2022 N-TE-—F+-_A=+—8 _
Interest-
Lease  bearing bank
liabilities borrowings
HEBE WEHRTEE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETE

2021 —E-—F
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-—F—HF—H 521 46,000
Changes from financing cash flows B & EENIR & m 617) (46,000)
New leases e 807 -
Termination of a lease FRIE—IEMEA (66) -
Interest expense BB 20 -
Interest paid classified as DRERKEEEHR SN

operating cash flows B (20) -
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H 645 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

33. FEReR=RMF®

(o HERSRHAERE

AARERERNEERSRHLA

of cash flows is as follows: FIAE ¢
2022 2021
= SeeSie —&E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFT
Within operating activities KRR 52 49
Within financing activities REEHNR 198 617
250 666

Business combination
On 12 August 2021, the Group acquired a 80% interest
in Beierbang for a cash consideration of approximately

RMB258,000.

The fair values of the identifiable assets of Beierbang as at

(d) tEE6
R-ZZE-_—FNA+=-H K&EE
YIRS 4 AR 258,000 T U BE
[ 52 1 80% HIAXHE -

REBR [ERE] IHREEN

the date of acquisition were as follows: RABERAT :
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
e B B R AR
WAREE
RMB'000
ARKETFT
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEY 56
Prepayments TEf IR 42
Other receivables H At FEUIK 224
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AHREEFEEN AN BEAR 322
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R = (64)
Satisfied by cash IR MHEE 258
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33. A8 B 4 re XMW
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(d) Business combination (Continued) (d) tE&6tE)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition WE [ERE | MBS REN N
of a subsidiary is as follows: T
RMB'000
ARKETFT
Cash consideration REHE (258)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired WIS ER A IR & RIS S B 56
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents u+7\$x§/ﬁib/§§bfﬁi/ IEMIRE K
included in cash flows from investing activities EBWERL (202)
A
34. COMMITMENTS 34. EFEEIR
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a capital commitment RZEZZF+_A=+—8 K&H
of RMB2,000,000 (2021: RMB5,000,000), which is contracted B —IHENFEHE AR 2,000,0007T (=
but not provided for purchase of a financial asset at fair value T - —4:5,000000) ' EEFE%X =
through profit or loss. REtIEARBE —BZATEFEEH
BEFABR EMEE -
35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 35. [t X 5
(a) Outstanding balances with related parties (a) EEEBEE TS 2 AEERFRIA
Details of the Group's balances with its joint venture and REBNARERRES E QAR
associates as at the end of the reporting period are /NI e Pl
disclosed in notes 24, 27 and 28 to the financial SRERMIEE24 - 27 K228 °
statements.
A8 New Media Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 35. B AR 5 (#)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) " XBEAIXZ
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these B 1 B 76 3R 2= H it 5 5E 1S 2 91
financial statements, the Group had the following RENRN » REFE—KBEB SN
transactions with a related party during the year: S0 :

2022 2021

SLE= SeeSie —&E

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

i & AR®TRT ARKBTET

A related company*: B2 NS
Rental income HE WA (i) 713 713
Management fee income MEEBEBERA (ii) 75 75

Notes: M5E

(i) The rental was paid by a related company for a lease of office (i) ZHEEWA RN EE R —FHEBRD
premises at a rate mutually agreed between the parties. ARREFHENES - THE

FAEB DS -

(i)  The management fee was paid by a related company for (i) ZWEEBBRARNEEHE—H
property management services provided by the Group at a rate BB ARIRBE R EEERLNH
mutually agreed between the parties. REBRENYEEERY

* Mr. Liu Xiaosong, a director and the controlling shareholder of * TET%ZIXQET%%&?*HQHQ%E@%UE?%
the Company, is a key management personnel and shareholder MEERZBHATNEEZEEREA
of this related company. BRARE -

(c) Compensation of key management () XEBEXEEEBAENER
personnel of the Group HE
2022 2021
- —EF-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R ARETT

Short term employee benefits EHEEBREA 3,923 557

Performance related bonuses BERAERATEAT 413 62

Pension scheme contributions BRIRETEIHE R 160 141

Equity-settled share option expense N mEE 2 BRERE - 1,430

Total compensation paid to key NYEEERABH BHHE

management personnel 4azm 4,496 2,190

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in FZHANEEHNNF BRI

note 9 to the financial statements. HwEMIFE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

2022

Financial assets

36. %48

AElDE&r T A

il O

TREE

Financial assets

BREMRSF SR ITENKREEE

Financial assets at fair value
at fair value through other
through profit comprehensive
or loss income
LATERE NUAFEFERH
BEEZHIARE SBFIAHLMGZE
MeEMEE hEHNERER
Mandatorily Financial assets at
designated as such Equity investments amortised cost Total
BUBBAR ARG E
BEEEA ERRE NEMEE fam
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®TR ARETR AR®TR
Financial assets at fair value ~ LAATFE:TEEHES
through other SAEMEERER
comprehensive income PREE - 103,589 - 103,589
Financial assets at fair value WATEFEAEEE
through profit or loss FABRNEREE 92,878 - - 92,878
Financial assets included in SABAR Eit
prepayments, other FEUH R H A B H)
receivables and other assets & REE - - 2,397 2,397
Trade receivables FEUER TR - - 7,410 7410
Restricted bank balances REHIFITHES - - 65 65
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY - - 608,766 608,766
92,878 103,589 618,638 815,105
Financial liabilities SRas
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
PR 3= 35 % N s
HeEmes
RMB’000
AR®T T
Trade payables FEBRX 7,082

Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals

FPAR MM KRBT E AR

TEAE

22,845

29,927
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BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. BEREI DRI A @)
(Continued)
2021 —E-—F
Financial assets TRIEE
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
at fair value through other
through profit comprehensive
or loss income
UATEEAE  HUATERERE
BEEIABE  EFRAAEMZA
NERMEE hEmeREE
Mandatorily Financial assets at
designated as such  Equity investments amortised cost Total
DA AR ARG E
BHIIEE R EnfE HEmEE k]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®EFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Financial assets at fair value ~ LAAT(E:TE R HEH
through other FAHM 2 E KR
comprehensive income PREE - 150,571 - 150,571
Financial assets at fair value ~ LAATFE:E R HEH
through profit or loss SABENSREE 102,158 - - 102,158
Financial assets included in AN Ef
prepayments, other FEUH R E A B EH
receivables and other assets £ REE - - 2,128 2,128
Trade receivables JEUBR X - - 1,061 1,061
Restricted bank balances SRR T - - 65 65
Cash and cash equivalents HERBEEZEEN - - 555,390 555,390
102,158 150,571 558,644 811,373
Financial liabilities cEasE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
LAESRAK AT =
MNerAaE
RMB'000
ARETIT
Trade payables FEATERIR 7,754
Financial liabilities included in other STAE MR R FERTE A
payables and accruals =L 24,928
Lease liabilities HEBE 645
33,327
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of
the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities reasonably
approximated to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash balances, trade receivables, trade
payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets and financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group's finance department is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the senior
management. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets are included at the amount
at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liguidation sale. The methods and assumptions used to estimate
the fair values of financial assets at fair value are disclosed in
notes 21 and 22 to the financial statements.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the

valuation of financial instruments classified as level 3 of the fair

value hierarchy together with a sensitivity analysis:

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

37. /T A

> AT ERATE

ZRHIE @

TXBERBEESRFEFIFANE
BTAETEHERBZEA TSR
ABIRERBREDI -

Relationship of unobservable

Valuation technique  Unobservable input Range input to fair value
TUBEEGARERY
BRI TURRRAEE €8 DYENER
Financial assets at fair Market approach Enterprise-value-to- 2022:3.98t0 6.49  Increase/decrease in EV/Revenue
value through other revenue multiple (2021:6.13t06.39)  would result in increase/decrease
comprehensive income ("EV/Revenue”) in fair value
BRATEAEEEEY  THZE EEE/ WAEEE “EoCF: hEER/MABEEA RS
AR ZERE L 39815264918  BERATELA/ AL
TREE (ZB= %
6.1315%6.39f%)
Market approach Price-to-earnings 2022:24.04  Increase/decrease in P/E would
multiple (“P/E") (2021:18.28)  result in increase/decrease
in fair value
miEA MREREE ZEIZF 240405 WREGHLEA/ROBEH

Financial assets at fair value  Market approach

through profit or loss

BRVEERAR
AAREZEREE

Annual Report 2022
R FFR

ik

Discounts for lack of
marketability (“DLOM")

BRZ TSR e

EV/Revenue

PEBE/MAREE

DLOM

RZ TSR T

(Z2=—%:18.28%)
2022: 18.9% 10 19.7%
(2021:14.3% 10 19.2%)

—_ — —
=

[ S

18.9% % 19.7%
(ZF=—%:
143%%19.2%)

2022: 2.48 10 4.59
(2021:0.80t0 13.98)

TE-CF:
2482 E 4591
(ZF=—F:
0.80f5% 13.98f%)

2022:18.2% 10 29.5%
(2021:13.8% t0 27.2%)

—E-CoF:
18.2% & 29.5%
(ZB=—%:
13.8% & 27.2%)

AVELH/ B

Increase/decrease in DLOM would
result in decrease/increase
in fair value

B®Z MRS
BERAFERD/ EH

Increase/decrease in EV/Revenue
would result in increase/decrease
in fair value

CEEE/MABELEA D
BERATELR /B

Increase/decrease in DLOM would
result in decrease/increase
in fair value

RZ TSR H?ﬁ?ﬂiﬂ‘/ﬂ/
BEBRRAFERD/ LH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

3. emMITAZA

AEERAFE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ENEE @)
Fair value hierarchy ANEEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement rEBzeBMTEZ ATFEFEZERT
hierarchy of the Group'’s financial instruments: RNTx
Assets measured at fair value LAFEFEZEE
Fair value measurement using
AREETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERTERE EATHESE EAKTHESH
(Z41) (%42) (£43) ok
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETTT ARETT
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-Zf
+=ZA=t-H
Financial assets at fair value AT {EFFE BEE
through profit or loss HABRZEREE - 20,000 72,878 92,878
Financial assets at fair value ~ ZAT(EFTELEEH)
through other FAEMEZERE
comprehensive income TREE - - 103,589 103,589
- 20,000 176,467 196,467
As at 31 December 2021 RZZEZ—F
+-A=+-8
Financial assets at fair value R AT{E:FE ALEE
through profit or loss HABRZEREE - - 102,158 102,158
Financial assets at fair value ~ ZAF(EFTELEEE)
through other TAREZEREZ
comprehensive income TREE - - 150,571 150,571
- - 252,729 252,729
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY S

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

LR S E R

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

i%ﬂl L2 AN FEERAFYE
ERHE @)
AFEERE)

UATPEFBRZEE (&)

FARFEEBRAF=ZEZIHUT :

Financial Financial assets

assets at at fair value
fair value through other
through comprehensive
profit or loss income
BATE RATVESE
FTEEHSE HBHZBHIA
sFABE  Htt2mEkE
ZEREE ZEREE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARKETT
As at 1 January 2021 RZE-_—F—H—H 175,136 234,641
Total losses recognised in the RIGEBERRERZSEERE
consolidated statement of profit or loss st AH ML @ F58
included in other expenses, net (34,072) -
Total losses recognised in the RiFE2ERERERZ
consolidated statement of Esiaaase
comprehensive income - (84,070)
Disposals RE (38,906) -
As at 31 December 2021 and RZE-—F+-A=+—H8xK
1 January 2022 - —F—H—H 102,158 150,571
Total losses recognised in the consolidated R4R& 1B RER Z E 184258
statement of profit or loss included in SFAEMEY  FE
other expenses, net (31,980) -
Total losses recognised in the consolidated 44 2 EKEEER Y
statement of comprehensive income BB 4azsE - (46,982)
Additions Hig 3,000 -
Disposals BE (300) -
As at 31 December 2022 N-_E-_—_F+-HA=+—H 72,878 103,589
There were no transfers of fair value measurements between REAFERBEFE F—EBHE_[E
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 2HUTEANTFENEEE  FZENE
during the current and prior years. N EFEHALEY -
Liabilities measured at fair value UATLEFEZERE

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group'’s financial instruments
are credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

A8 New Media Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

38. BifsE e EIE B EZE REER @)

(a) EERME#®)

RARREOMEREDSH (&)

R=B=="f+=-A=+—H

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1288 H
B EREX REBHAEREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-KR ERR FZRR b 5% wE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARET T AR®T R ARET T ARET T
Trade receivables* R R R * - - - 9,216 9,216
Financial assets included in s ATEFEBRZ - Hft
prepayments, other FEU AN E (B A4
receivables and other assets S RIEE
— Normal** — [ 2,739 - - - 2,739
Restricted bank balances RRFITEL
— Not yet past due — HARBH 65 - - - 65
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RELZEN
— Not yet past due — AR 608,766 - - - 608,766
611,570 - - 9,216 620,786
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  38.
AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

R EIEBIZE MR (#)

(a) EEmBR#)

RARREOMERED (&)

R—ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A8
BiHEREX HREBBERER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£—IRE EIRER =R BeR % ek
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT
Trade receivables* e ER X - - - 1,309 1,309
Financial assets included in st ATEMERZL -
prepayments, other Hi UK E
receivables and other assets  ZEHISRIAE
— Normal** —FE* 2,470 - - - 2,470
Restricted bank balances RRFITELR
— Not yet past due —HRBH 65 - - - 65
Cash and cash equivalents ~ H&RIBEEED
— Not yet past due — HAREH 555,390 - - - 555,390
557,925 - - 1,309 559,234
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * HRAEBHABCREENE S

approach for impairment,information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in notes 23 to the financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered

to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant

increase in risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group managed liquidity risk by maintaining a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through maintaining a sufficient amount of bank deposits.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
Group'’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting
period, based on contractual undiscounted payments.

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

38. BifsE e EIE B EZE REER @)

(b) RBEZRR

AEBRBEREREEZRITH
R ERSRHEERERE 2R
SrHaRERRDESRAR -

TRBEAKBEREAQORFTRN
FHNEBBENEIHA -

2022
=223
Within one
year or on One to

demand two years Total

—FHR
o BN —EWMF B
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR¥TRT AR®TR

Trade payables FERTAR K 7,082 - 7,082
Financial liabilities included in &t A B 4th E < 34 %
other payables and accruals EitERZamAEE 22,845 - 22,845
29,927 - 29,927
2021
—E-—F
Within one
year or on One to
demand two years Total
—FLA
B —EMF R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTT ARETT ARETT

Lease liabilities HEAE 421 247 668
Trade payables FETAR R 7,754 - 7,754

Financial liabilities included in &1 A EL4th JiE 1~ 7R %
other payables and accruals EstERemEE 24,928 - 24,928
33403 247 33,350
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2 T ot

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The
Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
individual equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (note 21) and equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (note 22) at the end of the
reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5%
change in the fair values of the equity investments that
are carried at fair value, with all other variables held
constant and before any impact on tax, based on their
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. For
the purpose of this analysis, for equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the impact is deemed to be on the fair value
reserve.
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(c)

R E A E B

RmERRREEERESFNRF
BEREZEIUKFNERNZESEER
BT NEAMER o NEBRER
EHREADBERUAFEAERR
HEAAEHMBEN SR EE (I
H21)MIBEERUAFEAERR
FEAHMGE WANERRE
(P 3£ 22) &Y 1 Bl B4 £ & W 1H B
BAERERER o

TRETTEMBEERFIEA
AMRERBIAEZET - ERHRE
RERENRESE U FEFE
HRERENAFESE(L5%H
BURMEEE) - AT E - HR
BESUARFEFEBEZSHTA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 7 Y R

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. B EMGEIE B2 KBS ()

AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Equity price risk (Continued) () EREERRE)
Carrying
amount Change
of equity in profit Change in
investments before tax equity
REREN  BADRFE RN
IREEE - X[ =24
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFTT ARBTT ARETRT
2022 —EgE-=
Listed equity investment LETRERE
designated at fair value EERNUAFER=
through other BE#Z&E AHAM
comprehensive income 2EE 13,493 - 675
Unlisted equity investment: JE LTI E
Equity investments EER/ARTFEFE
designated at fair BEZH AHM
value through other e
comprehensive income =R E 90,096 - 4,505
Financial assets at fair value NAFEAEEES
through profit or loss FFABRNEMEE 72,878 3,644 -
2021 —T—F
Listed equity investment LETRERE
designated at fair value BERUNTETE
through other BE#sE AHAM
comprehensive income 2ER 12,114 - 606
Unlisted equity investment: JE LTI E
Equity investments EEBUAATFEE
designated at fair BH#EAHM
value through other 2 U am #Y
comprehensive income =R E 138,457 - 6,923
Financial assets at fair value KA EFEEES
through profit or loss FFABENEREE 101,858 5,093 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. BI%EMEIE B2 RS (&)

AND POLICIES (continued)

(d) Capital management (d BEXRER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to
provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing its
services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any external imposed capital requirements. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2021.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net cash
over the debt position, which is cash and cash equivalents
less lease liabilities, trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals. The amounts of
the net cash over debt position at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

AEEERNEEZTEARAMGE
EREBEERFELEERB R
N NEEGEEERKRREMHRD
W EEEMABRER A AR - A
R RBR $R 4 B E AR 7 2 LK
EREZRHE R -

REBEBREHEERGEHE  WIREL
RS R B E RN AR R B 2 Y [ B
B HETAE - AERFIARE
REER - REBEREEITHR - &
SEAZEMINELAENE) E AR EK
MR -BE-_ZET-_—_F+_A
=t+t—-BM=ZZ2=—F+=A
=t+—BIEFE - BEEEARANE
B BURSORERBEEE L -

AEBAR S RAEBAAELFE
ERERERZER RS RA
EEVRBEEAE  WERITE
E - ENERFMGFATBRAERNE
ENERALEER - REREH
RZBREREBAREFELAT

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
t=A=+—-8 +t=A=1+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents ReMKREEEY 608,766 555,390
Lease liabilities HEAE - (645)
Trade payables FERTAR R (7,082) (7,754)
Financial liabilities included in HAHMENTRESER Y

other payables and accruals TRIEE (22,845) (24,928)
Net cash over debt position REREBARR TR 578,839 522,063
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 R 2k B

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

39. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 39. E AR SIE
As further detailed in note 11 to the financial statements, WNEA SR ARMTFE 11 pat - S{REH 212 -
subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the disposal of Blueowlgames 1 _E /8 /R /) H & B 48
Blueowlgames and Shanghai Mu77 was completed and STk BE B RRE S RFEHARE
expected to recognise a gain on disposal of approximately 2,171,000 7T °

RMB2,171,000.

40. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 40. LEE & %8
The comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss and LB AR B B R MER A B S T X A 48 B
related notes to the consolidated financial statements have been M ERARRANFEZIBR S EERE
re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the current LEBR AR F B 4% 1B T LA 25 3 51) R (B A
year had been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative 11) o

period (note 11).
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31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

41. RAIBEARR R

BIEABERRAREAR B BMRRE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: ERUWT ¢
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIKE 40,175 43,795
Total non-current assets ERBEEST 40,175 43,795
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables E b jE W GRIE 520 422
Amounts due from subsidiaries iR NGIE s 697,790 712,196
Cash and cash equivalents REKBEEY 20,040 4,814
Total current assets MEEEBT 718,350 717,432
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals Eofth fE T I8 R FERT B A 1,823 1,511
Total current liabilities MBI B EERE 1,823 1,511
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 716,527 715,921
Net assets BEEE 756,702 759,716
EQUITY ER
Issued capital BT 23,167 22,870
Reserves (note) & () 733,535 736,846
Total equity RS 1A%R 756,702 759,716
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows:

41.

BrE5 Rk M RE

31 December 2022 —E ——F+—_HA=+—H

NA|BT ISR R ()

PfaE
ARRBEREWT

Employee

Share Exchange  share-based
premium Capital fluctuation compensation Accumulated
account reserve reserve reserve losses  Total equity
BERS
R 175 B iR BxfEE NERDRE BMRE 45 F3 o)
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETR
At 1 January 2021 R-—E-—F—F—H 975,704 8,969 (371) 31,898 (273,658) 742,542
Loss and total comprehensive loss FAZABRER
for the year - - (4,929) - (3,522) (8,451)
Repurchase of shares EEG (1,071) = = = = (1,071)
Issue of shares BTk AR 2,979 = = (803) = 2,176
Equity-settled share-based payment  LAUEREE 7 Ik
arrangements SRR - - - 1,650 = 1,650
Transfer of reserve upon the forfeiture  HEERRIEZE1% 2
or lapse of share options HiEEE - - - (4,769) 4,769 -
At 31 December 2021 and NZB-—F
1 January 2022 +ZA=+-Bk
“E--"%—HR-H 977,612 8,969 (5,300) 27,976 (272,411) 736,846
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREEBAEE
for the year - - (1,694) - (8,102) (9,796)
Issue of shares B 9,667 - - (3,182) - 6,485
Transfer of reserve upon the forfeiture  FBE RS #8142
or lapse of share options S - - - (2,613) 2,613 -
At 31 December 2022 i -
+-A=+—-H 987,279 8,969 (6,994) 22,181 (277,900) 733,535

The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the
fair value of share options granted which are yet to be
exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for
equity compensation benefits in note 3.3 to the financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 30 March 2023.
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42.

REROHMFEREEEESRLB® KT
ERBERENATE HE—PHEH
R TSR 3.3 IRA BB R 0 & &t
BER - 22BN EREBREEIT RS
AR 4 B B+ S5 fed A 7 B A JE o 3
BORUL - RIBARFHRK -

i B SRR

N_E_=F=A=+H " #HHkExH
EEgHEY BT -
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PARTICULARS OF
PROPERTIES

E 3

31 December 2022 —E - —F+—-_A=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES WE R E

Attributable

interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
vE Az HAR AEENFEER
Various Units in A8 Commercial Long term lease 100%
Music Building,
No. 1002 Keyuan Road, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the PRC.
AYITHE LR BEEE [EE;3b: REMEE 100%

= EHE B RHE B 1002 55
A8 Z 4K E

A8 New Media Group Limited
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